
01.  INTRODUCTION

1



01.  INTRODUCTION

3



01.  INTRODUCTION

5

01.

01.

02.

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRWOMAN 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

HIGHLIGHTS OF VNDIRECT IN 2020  

INTRODUCTION



01.  INTRODUCTION

7

To the Valued Shareholders

2020 marks the 14th anniversary of VNDIRECT’s estab-
lishment. From a securities company positioned as the 
first company offering online trading platform in Vietnam 
under the slogan “Go Online - Go Direct”, VNDIRECT has 
been gradually building the foundation of an intermedi-
ary financial institution with a full range of services start-
ing from securities trading, to investment services, asset 
management, corporate finance and investment banking. 
Based on three core competencies of Technology, Human 
and customer-centric Value Chain, VNDIRECT has grad-
ually formed a new business model, transforming from 
traditional brokerage service to a customer-centric com-
prehensive financial services model.
Under the motto of Wisdom to Success and the mission 
of serving the financial health and peace of mind in invest-
ment for all customers, VNDIRECT has gradually complet-
ed its organization structure and expanded new business 
opportunities. VNDIRECT strive to meet the increasing 
demand for financial investment services in Vietnam, from 
the digital generation with wealth accumulation opportuni-
ties to traditional customers looking for asset relocation in 
a low interest rate environment or enterprises looking for 
ways to raise capital for business expansion. These new 
changes have supported VNDIRECT in building a sustain-
able development path not limited by market conditions. 
The biggest challenge faced by VNDIRECT is how to cre-
ate a workplace that attracts people with a genuine desire 
to work, qualities and personality, how to build trust and a 
community relationship with all customers and an open 
platform for comprehensive connectivity with financial ser-
vice providers.
VNDIRECT, over the past 15 years, has gradually accu-
mulated collective wisdom and built up its capacity in pro-
viding products and services and doing business in the 
capital market, maturing together with the development of 
the stock market in Vietnam. The knowledge of financial 
professionals, from members of the Board of Directors 
and Board of Management to teams of senior experts and 
sales staff, have helped VNDIRECT always adapt to new 
market conditions, build a pioneering capacity in solving 
new problems, providing new products and services to 
suit the customers’ increasing demand. The entire staff 
of VNDIRECT, with their understanding of industry and 
profession, has created an organizational strength, help-
ing the Company to renew its business capacity and build 
trust from customers continually.
Vietnam’s stock market is witnessing new sustainable 
growth opportunities as businesses have gone through 
capital accumulation, with sufficient financial and busi-
ness conditions to welcome opportunities as the region’s 
fastest growing economy. Vietnam’s enterprises have 
more opportunities to access cheap capital, along with a 
complete change in recognition of Vietnam on the world 
economic map, the advantages of government political 
economic directions for improving infrastructure, legal cor-

ridor of a market economy, and the growth of Vietnam’s 
private enterprises. Besides, in the environment of in-
creasingly low savings interest rates, financial investment 
has become an essential need, and customers are grad-
ually familiar with safe financial investment tools instead 
of savings deposits. Also, advancement in technology al-
lows companies to expand their services to customers at 
a much lower cost than before.
Macroeconomic conditions of Vietnam’s economy and 
changes in market conditions have opened up for VNDI-
RECT many new business opportunities. For many years 
the Company has been planting seeds to embrace those 
opportunities and sustainable growth.
On behalf of the Board of Directors together with the entire 
Board of Management and staff of VNDIRECT, I would like 
to thank our valued shareholders for your trust and make 
a commitment to always striving to learn and perfect our-
selves for the best contribution to the individual career 
development in the overall development of VNDIRECT, as 
well as bringing the best value to our customers, commu-
nity and shareholders.

Yours sincerely!

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRWOMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS HIGHLIGHTS OF VNDIRECT IN 2020 

-   The launch of DGO - Wealth Management  & 
DLIFE Retirement Planning Advisory 
After more than 14 years of establishment, VNDIRECT 
has had DGO - Wealth Accumulation and Investment 
Trust, a new direction in its next development path. In-
vesting is becoming incredibly simple and accessible 
to all investors with a wide selection of wealth manage-
ment strategies on the DGO path and the asset pyr-
amid’s product ecosystem. DLIFE Retirement Assets 
is one of the products in the asset pyramid officially 
launched in early April 2020. It assists the customers in 
establishing the discipline of investment accumulation, 
income generation for a guaranteed future life in old 
age and building a sustainable finance. 

-   The launch of new technology and service plat-
forms for asset management strategies: eKYC, 
DSTOCK CENTER, DGO account opening service 
for investors
In accompanying with VNDIRECT’s “Asset manage-
ment” strategy, we launched technology and service 
platforms such as eKYC, DSTOCK CENTER, DGO 
account opening process to serve customers in a ho-
listic way. In August 2020, VNDIRECT became a pio-
neer company in the securities industry to put eKYC’s 
electronic identity into the online account opening pro-
cess, applying the most advanced technology today. 
DSTOCK was officially launched shortly after that on 
November 19th, 2020 as a market and stock portal to 
help investors grasp the market movements and now 
welcome an average of 7,500 users with 27,000 visits 
per day. Along with the asset management strategy, 
the DGO account opening flow on DSB platform was 
constructed and fully finished on December 31st, 2020. 
-   Customer base with strong growth 
In 2020, VNDIRECT continued to gain customers’ trust 
with periods in which the Company accounted for 
57% of the total number of newly opened accounts 
in the market. By the end of 2020, more than 120,000 
newly opened accounts were attracted by VNDIRECT, 
accounting for 30% of total number of newly opened 

accounts in the market. With the digitization of the 
account opening process, DGO-oriented training, the 
customers have been assisted in financial investment 
capacity building, sustainable asset portfolios, and ef-
fective post-investment asset management
-   DGO training reached 12,000 investors 
Aiming to spread investment knowledge to everyone 
and affirm investment as an essential individual life skill 
in the new era, VNDIRECT successfully deployed 160 
training and sharing programs, both offline and online, 
attracting the interest and participation of more than 
12,000 investors in 2020. These programs were imple-
mented in a variety of themes and formats, including 
the sharing program “Road to Financial health & In-
vestment mindfulness: DGO & Asset pyramid”, “Pro-
fessional stock platform” course, “DTRADE - The com-
panion to become a professional stock trader” course, 
“DSTOCK - Stock investment wisdom” course, Round 
table seminar for experts or “Smart Finance in your 
20s” seminars series for students at universities.
-   Product provision for the financial investment 
platform, meeting the customers’ demand through 
capital market deals
In 2020, VNDIRECT advised on the successful issu-
ance of over 50,000 billion bonds, including the largest 
issuance with a value of VND 9,400 billion of Vietin-
bank bonds. It also succeeded in funding arrangement 
for Kim Healthcare Group Corporation (Kim Dental) 
through a bridging loan of up to VND 142 billion for 
the perfect disposal of Kim Dental’s ownership struc-
ture with foreign shareholders before Series B fund-
raising round in November 2020. At the same time, 
liquidity creation service and investor trading platform 
were provided on the secondary market. At the end of 
2020, VNDIRECT successfully completed the divest-
ment deal with the third-largest transaction value in 
the group of securities investment funds into Vietnam 
in 2020. This divestment deal with a transaction value 
of USD 70 million belonged to Vietnam Investments 
Group (VIG) at Gemadept Joint Stock Company.

402,378  

2,771,963

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000
3,000,000

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

01-2020 02-2020 03-2020 04-2020 05-2020 06-2020 07-2020 08-2020 09-2020 10-2020 11-2020 12-2020
Total number of securities accounts in the market Total number of newly opened securities accounts in VND

Total number of securities accounts in VND Total number of newly opened securities accounts in the market

41% 40%
57%

Number of securities accounts in VND and in the market

Ms. Pham Minh Huong
Chairwoman



01.  INTRODUCTION

9

HIGHLIGHTS OF VNDIRECT IN 2020  
-  

 T
he

 g
ro

w
th

 in
 s

iz
e 

of
 th

e 
C

om
pa

ny
 a

nd
 p

os
iti

ve
 b

us
in

es
s 

re
su

lts

1.
 B

us
in

es
s 

re
su

lts
 

20
20

20
19

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

Ne
t r

ev
en

ue
2,

13
4

1,
50

7
1,

63
4

1,
24

4
74

7
53

4

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
co

st
 5

43
 

74
1

89
1

41
4

31
5

14
3

Pr
ofi

t b
ef

or
e 

ta
x

 8
62

 
48

0
43

8
57

1
22

7
22

7

Pr
ofi

t a
fte

r t
ax

 6
92

 
38

3
37

3
47

2
18

6
18

2

2.
 B

al
an

ce
 s

he
et

To
ta

l a
ss

et
s

 1
4,

97
6 

11
,5

77
10

,5
35

8,
05

1
5,

17
4

5,
75

8
Au

th
or

ize
d 

ca
pi

ta
l

 2
,2

04
 

2,
20

4
2,

20
4

1,
55

0
1,

55
0

1,
55

0
O

w
ne

r’s
 e

qu
ity

 3
,8

19
 

3,
24

9
2,

98
3

2,
50

7
1,

94
8

1,
93

5
3.

 F
in

an
ci

al
 in

di
ca

to
rs

Re
tu

rn
 o

n 
av

er
ag

e 
as

se
ts

 (R
O

AA
)

5.
21

%
3.

50
%

4.
00

%
7.

30
%

3.
40

%
4.

20
%

Re
tu

rn
 o

n 
av

er
ag

e 
eq

ui
ty

 (R
O

AE
)

19
.5

8%
12

.3
0%

13
.6

0%
21

.6
0%

9.
60

%
9.

60
%

4.
 In

di
ca

to
rs

 p
er

 s
ha

re

Nu
m

be
r o

f s
ha

re
s 

ou
ts

ta
nd

in
g 

at
 th

e 
en

d 
of

 th
e 

pe
rio

d 
(s

ha
re

s)
20

8,
56

5,
36

1
20

8,
56

5,
36

1
20

8,
56

5,
48

0
15

0,
99

7,
78

5
14

7,
53

9,
48

5
15

4,
99

7,
78

5

Ba
sic

 e
ar

ni
ng

s 
pe

r s
ha

re
 3

,3
22

 
1,

17
3

1,
20

2
3,

10
3

1,
69

3
1,

73
4

Bo
ok

 v
alu

e 
pe

r s
ha

re
18

,3
12

12
,4

87
12

,5
70

16
,2

31
13

,5
32

14
,7

35
Di

vid
en

d 
(V

ND
/s

ha
re

)
 5

00
 

50
0

1,
00

0
50

0
50

0
M

ar
ke

t p
ric

e 
at

 th
e 

en
d 

of
 th

e 
ye

ar
 (a

dj
us

te
d 

pr
ice

)
30

,0
00

14
,4

00
15

,8
90

19
,0

40
9,

45
0

8,
39

0

5.
 C

ap
ita

liz
at

io
n

6,
25

7
3,

00
3

3,
31

4
2,

87
5

1,
39

4
1,

30
0 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

REVENUE AND PROFIT AFTER TAX (VND billion) 

Net revenue Profit after tax

534
747

1,244

1,634 1,507

2,134

182 186

472 373 383

692

4.20% 3.40%

7.30%

4.00% 3.50%
5.21%

9.60% 9.60%

21.60%

13.60%
12.30%

19.58%

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

ROAA & ROAE 

Return on average assets ( ROAA) Return on average equity (ROAE)



01.  INTRODUCTION

11

02.
VNDIRECT OVERVIEW

01 .   ABOUT VNDIRECT

02.    ESTABLISHMENT & DEVELOPMENT

03.    ACHIEVEMENTS AND AWARDS

04.    CORE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

05.    NATIONWIDE NETWORK

06.    BOARD OF DIRECTORS



02  VNDIRECT OVERVIEW 

13

ABOUT VNDIRECT ABOUT VNDIRECT 

Name of the Company: VNDIRECT SECURITIES JOINT STOCK COMPANY 

Abbreviation VNDIRECT

Ticker code: VND 

Business Registration Certificate: No. 0103014521 issued by Hanoi Authority for Planning and Invest-
ment for the first time on November 7th, 2006 

Securities trading license: 

No. 22/UBCK-GPHDKD dated November 16th, 2006 and the Amend-
ed License No. 101/UBCK-GP dated December 31st, 2007; No. 307/
UBCK-GP dated March 03rd, 2010; No. 344/UBCK-GP dated Au-
gust 20th, 2010; No. 118/GPDC-UBCK dated December 25th, 2012; 
No. 11/GPDC-UBCK dated February 06th, 2015; No. 14/GPDC-UB-
CK dated June 01st, 2016; No. 57/GPDC-UBCK dated December 
15th, 2017; No. 38/GPDC-UBCK dated June 01st, 2018; No. 31/GP-
DC-UBCK dated May 22nd, 2019. 

Authorized capital: 
VND 2,204,301,690,000 

(In words: Two thousand two hundred four billion, three hundred one 
million, six hundred and ninety thousand Vietnamese dongs)

Headquarters: No. 1 Nguyen Thuong Hien, Nguyen Du Ward, Hai Ba Trung District, 
Hanoi City, Vietnam 

Tel. No.: + (84 24) 3972 4568 

Fax No.: + (84 24) 3972 4600 

Website: www.VNDIRECT.com.vn 

Logo: 

Legal representative: 
Pham Minh Huong - Chairwoman of the Board of Directors 

Vu Nam Huong - Chief Financial Officer 
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ESTABLISHMENT & DEVELOPMENT

2006
VNDIRECT was established un-
der the Business Registration 
Certificate No. 0103014521 
issued by Hanoi Authority for 
Planning and Investment on 
November 07th, 2006 and the 
Operation License No. 22/UB-
CK-GPHDKD by the Chairman 
of State Securities Commission 
on November 16th, 2006 with 
the initial authorized capital of 
VND 50 billion. 

2007
The company increased its autho-
rized capital to VND 300 billion.It 
was the first enterprise in Vietnam 
to provide comprehensive online 
securities trading solutions. A 
branch in Ho Chi Minh City was 
established, with expansion of 
business area.

2008 
VNDIRECT invested in its own 
technology platform, devel-
oped the Core system by itself 
and created the first premise 
for its digital platform. This year 
marked a loss due to the risk of 
proprietary trading and chang-
es in the operating platform with 
a focus on transaction services 
and individual customers. 

2009
VNDIRECT acted as a leader 
in creating new breakthrough 
products in the market, the first 
premise for futures and option 
products, margin lending, and 
financial instruments to support 
transactions. 

2010
It increased its authorized cap-
ital twice from VND 300 billion 
to 450 billion and then to 1,000 
billion at the end of the year. 

2011
VNDIRECT led the securi-
ties brokerage market share 
on HNX for the first time. It 
started focusing on building 
the first foundation for secu-
rities trading brokerage for 
individual customers.  

2012
It launched FIX Bloomberg 
portal, successfully provided 
institutional customers with 
Direct Market Access prod-
ucts. It entered into analyti-
cal operations development 
cooperation agreements to 
with CIMB to serve for foreign 
institutional clients. 

2014
VNDIRECT increased its autho-
rized capital to nearly VND 1,550 
billion, with owner’s equity of ap-
proximately VND 1,900 billion and 
became one of the three securities 
companies with the largest cap-
ital on the exchange. It focused 
on brokerage and margin lending, 
built the risk management platform 
of these operations and expand-
ed the market to attract individual 
customers participating in securi-
ties transactions. 

2015
VNDIRECT was firmly in TOP 
10 securities companies with 
the largest bond market share 
on both exchanges and hon-
ored as one of the 3 member 
securities companies with the 
best brokerage service in the 
period of 2005 - 2015. 

2016
VNDIRECT was the market 
leader in terms of custom-
ers’ personal accounts and 
total net assets under the 
management of VNDIRECT, 
reaching approximately VND 
26 trillion. It reached the TOP 
15 typical member compa-
nies in the period of 2015 
- 2016, TOP 30 most trans-
parent businesses on Hanoi 

Stock Exchange. 

2017
VNDIRECT received the certifi-
cate of eligibility for trading de-
rivative securities and provided 
clearing and settlement ser-
vices for derivative securities 
transactions from the State Se-
curities Commission and trans-
ferred VND stock exchange 
from Hanoi Stock Exchange to 
be listed on Ho Chi Minh City 
Stock Exchange (HoSE). It be-
came the securities firm with 
the best performance on cap-

ital among securities firms. 

2018
VNDIRECT was granted an 
amended registration certifi-
cate by the State Securities 
Commission to increase its 
capital to VND 2,204 billion, 
becoming the securities com-
pany with the third largest au-
thorized capital in the market. 
It continued transforming its 
digital banking business and 
connected with individual cus-
tomer markets in the region 
through the Open API ecosys-
tem. 

2020
    In 2020, VNDIRECT found its develop-

ment direction for the next  phase “DGO 
- Wealth Accumulation - Investment 
mindfulness” and product ecosystems 
according to the asset pyramid model. 
It reached 120,000 new accounts, ac-
counting for 30% of the total number 
of newly opened accounts in the whole 
market, became a pioneer company in 
the securities industry to put eKYC’s 
electronic identity into the online ac-
count opening process. It also succeed-
ed in launching the Retirement assets, 
Market portal and DSTOCK Stock.

2019
VNDIRECT led the market in terms 
of the transaction value as well as the 
transaction volume of warrant products. 
It gained the highest brokerage market 
share on UPCOM - 9.66%. Myaccount 
electronic customer service platform 
was launched. 
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ACHIEVEMENTS AND AWARDS

Financial Services Awards 2020 
organized by International Data 
Group (IDG
 
-   Securities company with outstanding typical In-
formation Technology applications  
-   Securities company with the highest customer 
satisfaction 

Award given by Hanoi Stock Ex-
change (HNX)

-   Top 3 securities companies with the largest mar-
ket share of stock trading on HNX in 2020 
-   Top 3 securities companies with the largest mar-
ket share of derivative trading on HNX in 2020

CORE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

SECURITIES SERVICES

Brokerage 
• Opening of trading accounts
• Brokerage: Equity, Fixed Incomebonds, 
Derivatives, Cover Warrant
• Account management & advisory
• Cash transaction
• Securities depository
• Fund certificate distribution
• Managed account
• IPO auction agent
• Corporate bonds distribution

Financial services 
• Margin lending
• Cash advances
• Bonds repo transaction

Trading services
• Web trading 
• Mobile trading 
• DMA
• FIX
• Contact Center
• SMS 

INVESTMENT BANKING 
• Equity capital market - ECM 
• Debt capital market - DCM 
• M&A advisory 
• Investor relations consulting service
• Corporate finance advisory service
• Listing and Initial Public Offering (IPO) 
advisory 

RESEARCH
• Companies
• Sectors
• Economics
• Technical analysis
• Direct consultation with analysts
• Corporate Access

PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT

Proprietary Investment 
• Equity
• Fixed income 
• Derivatives 
• Covered warrants 
• Structured products

Market Making
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NATIONWIDE NETWORK 

NORTHERN REGION

Headquarters - Hanoi 
Address: No. 1 Nguyen Thuong Hien Street, Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi City 
Tel. no.: 024 3972 4568 | Fax: 024 3972 4568

Le Van Luong Transaction Office - Hanoi
Address: 3rd floor, Diamond Flower Building, No. 48 Le Van Luong Street, Nhan Chinh Ward, Thanh Xuan 
District, Hanoi City

Dao Duy Anh Transaction Office - Hanoi 
Address: 15th floor, VCCI Building, No. 9 Dao Duy Anh Street, Kim Lien Ward, Dong Da District, Hanoi City

Quang Ninh Branch 
Address: 1st & 2nd floor, No. 29 - 31, Street 25/4, Hong Gai Ward, Ha Long City, Quang Ninh Province

Nam Dinh Branch 
Address: No. 5, Group 13, Nguyen Du Street, Nguyen Du Ward, Nam Dinh City, Nam Dinh Province
Tel. no.: 022 8352 8819 

CENTRAL REGION
Da Nang Branch 
Address: No. 57 Duy Tan Street, Hoa Thuan Tay Ward, Hai Chau District, Da Nang City 
Tel. no.: 0236 382 1111 

Vinh Branch 
Address: No. 354B Nguyen Van Cu Street, Hung Phuc Ward, Vinh City, Nghe An Province 
Tel. no.: 0238 868 8466

SOUTHERN AREA
Ho Chi Minh City Branch 
Address: No. 90 Pasteur Street, Ben Nghe Ward, District 1, Ho Chi Minh City 
Tel. no.: 028 7300 0688 | Fax: 028 3914 6924 

Sala Transaction Office – Ho Chi Minh City 
Address: No. 151 Nguyen Co Thach Street, An Loi Dong Ward, District 2, Ho Chi Minh City 
Tel. no.: 028 7300 0688 | Fax: 028 3914 6924

Binh Duong Branch 
Address: 18th floor, Becamex Tower Building, 230 Binh Duong Avenue, Phu Hoa Ward, Thu Dau Mot City, 
Binh Duong Province 
Tel. no.: 0274 222 2659 - 0274 222 2660 

Can Tho Branch
Address: 3rd floor, STS Building, No. 11B Hoa Binh Street, Tan An Ward, Ninh Kieu District, Can Tho City 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MS. PHAM MINH HUONG

Full name: PHAM MINH HUONG

Current position: Chairwoman of the Board of Directors 

Appointment time: December 2006

Date of birth: June 17th, 1966

Nationality: Vietnamese

Ownership percentage 
with voting rights:

6,414,459 shares, equivalent to 2.91%

Qualification: Master of Information systems of Kiev Polytechnic 
Institute Soviet Union (former)

Working experience:

April 2018 - now Chairwoman of the Board of Directors - VNDIRECT 
Securities Joint Stock Company

2006 - 2010 Chairwoman of Board of Directors - VNDIRECT Secu-
rities Joint Stock Company

2003 - 2005 Chairwoman of the Board of Directors cum Chief 
Executive Officer - VNDIRECT Securities Joint Stock 
Company

1995 - 2002 Chief Executive Officer- SSI Securities Corporation

1993 - 1994 Director of Financial Markets and Capital business - 
Citibank

1993 - 1994 Training specialist - Training Center of Post and Tele-
communications 

Outstanding achievements:

Ms. Pham Minh Huong has over 25 years working in the banking and finance sector. She 
was one of the first members contributing to the development of Citibank NA Bank in 
Vietnam. In the position of Director of Financial Markets and Capital business - Country 
Treasurer for 9 years working for Citibank, she has built up experience in money market 
and business relationship with banking and financial system, gained indepth business ad-
ministration understanding in a leading financial and banking institution in the world. With 
her experience at Citibank, she has made great contributions to building the foundation and 
developing Saigon Securities Incorporation SSI, from a bro-kerage company with a capital 
of VND 20 billion to one of the largest financial institu-tions in. As a major shareholder cum 
CEO, she has accumulated a lot of experience as a solid basis to establish VNDIRECT 
Securities Joint Stock Company. With the aspira-tion to build a digital technology company 
in the financial sector, she has been spend-ing a lot of time and effort to build VNDIRECT’s 
operating platform towards one of the most reputable securities firms in individual customer 
service in Vietnam’s market today. She is also a modern corporate governance leader with 
long-term experience in investment, banking and finance. Under her leadership, VNDIRECT 
has managed to face many challenges with uptrend and downtrend businesses of a young 
market like Vietnam. She is also a provident leader and a pioneer in bringing new products 
to the market. She has made great contributions that significantly affect the stock exchange 
community and is a highly respected leader in Vietnam’s financial market thanks to her own 
personal reputation 

MR. VU THE HIEN

Full name: VU THE HIEN

Current position: Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors (Executive)

Appointment time: 2009

Date of birth: October 15th, 1962

Nationality: Vietnamese

Ownership percentage 
with voting rights:

180 shares, equivalent to 0.00008%

Qualification: Marine engineer - Vietnam Maritime University

Working experience:

2009 - now Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors - VNDIRECT 
Securities Joint Stock Company

2007 - now Founder, Chairman of I.P.A Financial One Member Limited 
Company and other BOD member of I.P.A’s holding 
companies

1998 - 2006 Director - VTS Freight Forwarding Services Company 
Limited

1996 -1998 Sales Manager - Vung Tau Shipping Company, Hanoi 
Branch

1989 - 1995 Foreign Trade Shipping Company

1985 -1998 Ha Noi Shipping Company

Outstanding achievements: 

Mr. Vu Hien is an entrepreneur with a very disciplined and prudent work ethic. With 
many years of experience in the commercial services business, he has expanded 
his operations to investment and led IPA Investments to become a multidisciplinary 
investment group including energy, food, pharmaceutical, real estate and finance. He 
is also an entrepreneur with great contributions in social work that create more human 
values and a healthy environment for the community. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR. PEKKA MIKAEL NASTAMO

Full name: PEKKA MIKAEL NASTAMO

Current position: Member of the Board of Directors (Independent)

Appointment time: 2019

Date of birth: February 26th, 1988

Nationality: Finland

Ownership percentage with 
voting rights:

1,150 shares, equivalent to 0.00052%

Qualification: Master of Science (Economics and Business 
Administration) 

Working experience:

December 2014 - now CEO & CIO of Wipunen Asia Capital Pte. Ltd. 

May 2010 - November 2014 Investment Analyst & Portfolio Manager at WIP 
Asset Management Ltd.

Outstanding achievements:

Mr. Pekka Mikael Nastamo has more than 10 years of experience in the field of 
asset management and is currently the managing director of Wipunen Asia Capi-
tal Fund, established in Singapore since 2014.

MR. PHAM LE NHAT QUANG

Full name: PHAM LE NHAT QUANG

Current position: Member of the Board of Directors (Independent)

Appointment time: 2016

Date of birth: November 04th, 1983

Nationality: Vietnamese

Ownership percentage 
with voting rights:

0 shares, equivalent to 0%

Qualification: Bachelor of Banking and Finance - Banking University 
of Ho Chi Minh City

Working experience:

2020 - now BOD member of VNDIRECT Securities Joint Stock 
Company

2009 - now BOD member of VietWash Joint Stock Company

2011 - 2019 BOD member of Beta Media Joint Stock Company

2008 - 2018 BOD member of Hoa Cam Industrial Zone Investment 
and Development Joint Stock Company

2006 - 2010 BOD member of Vietnam Foods Joint Stock Company

2002 - 2005 BOD member of QSR Vietnam Joint Stock Company

1997 - 2000 Brokerage specialist, Mekong Securities Joint Stock 
Company

Outstanding achievements:

Mr. Pham Le Nhat Quang has many years of experience in the fields of investment, 
finance and securities and is currently responsible for supervising and advising 
medium and long-term development strategies for VNDIRECT Securities Joint 
Stock Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR. DO NGOC QUYNH 

Full name: DO NGOC QUYNH

Current position: BOD member cum (Acting) Chief Executive Officer

Appointment time: 2020

Date of birth: September 02nd, 1975

Nationality: Vietnamese

Ownership percentage 
with voting rights:

0 shares, equivalent to 0%

Qualification: Bachelor of Economics 

Working experience:

2020 - now Acting Chief Executive Officer - VNDIRECT Securities 
Joint Stock Company

2009 - now General Secretary of Bond Market Association of 
Vietnam - VBMA

2011 - 2019 Executive Vice President, Head of Treasury, JSC Bank 
for Investment and Development of Vietnam 

2008 - 2018 Director of BIDV International HongKong

2006 - 2010 Executive Vice President, Deputy Head of Treasury, 
JSC Bank for Investment and Development of 
Vietnam 

2002 - 2005 Vice President, Head of of Currency Trading Division, 
JSC Bank for Investment and Development of 
Vietnam 

1997 - 2000 Credit Officer, JSC Bank for Investment and 
Development of Vietnam 

Outstanding achievements:

Do Ngoc Quynh has more than 22 years of experience in the banking and finance 
sector  a strong contribution to the bond market in Vietnam since the early days 
of development.
During his working period at BIDV, the capital and currency trading activities had 
many professional and comprehensive development steps in terms of vision, op-
eration strategy, organizational model, human resources, technology level, man-
agement policy, product development, market, customer, etc., and helping the 
bank to stay on the list of market-leading institutions for foreign exchange trad-
ing, interbank deposits, bond trading, bond issuance advisory, financial deriva-
tive products, derivative products on commodity prices with many awards from 
international organizations such as Asiamoney, Asia Risks, Global Banking and 
Finance, etc., as well as many certificates of merit from the Ministry of Finance, 
Securities Commission, Stock Exchange, Market Association, etc.
He was one of key founding members of Vietnam Bond Market Forum in 2006 
and Vietnam Bond Market Association (VBMA) in 2009.
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BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

MS. HOANG THUY NGA 

Full name: HOANG THUY NGA

Current position: Head of Board of Supervisors

Appointment time: 2012

Date of birth: October 17th, 1977

Nationality: Vietnamese

Ownership percentage 
with voting rights:

0 shares, equivalent to 0%

Qualification: Bachelor of Banking and Finance - National Economics 
University

Working experience:

2012 - now Head of Board of Supervisors - VNDIRECT Securities 
Joint Stock Company

2010 - now Product Development and Consulting Manager –
Financial Software Solutions Joint Stock Company

2007 - 2009 Assistant to CEO - VNDIRECT Securities Joint Stock 
Company

2006 Chief Accountant - I.P.A Group Joint Stock Company

2005 - 2006 Corporate finance advisor - SSI Securities Corporation

1999 - 2004 Chief Accountant - Quang Ninh Investment Import-
Export Joint Stock Company

Outstanding achievements:

• Holding many key positions of VNDIRECT Securities Joint Stock Company in 
the early stage of establishment.

• Having 16 years of experience in finance and accounting and corporate re-
structuring.

MS. NGUYEN THI MINH HANH 

Full name: NGUYEN THI MINH HANH

Current position: BOS member 

Appointment time: 2015

Date of birth: March 24th, 1987

Nationality: Vietnamese

Ownership percentage 
with voting rights:

0 shares, equivalent to 0%

Qualification: Bachelor of General Accounting - National Economics 
University

Working experience:

2015 - now BOS member - VNDIRECT Securities Joint Stock Com-
pany

2010 - now Accountant - I.P.A Investment Group Joint Stock Compa-
ny

2009 - 2010 Accountant - VTS Logistics Service Joint Stock Company

Outstanding achievements:

• Having more than 10 years of experience in finance and accounting in large 
enterprises.
• Supervising and evaluating VNDIRECT’s business performance.

MS. HUYNH THANH BINH MINH 

Full name: HUYNH THANH BINH MINH

Current position: BOS member

Appointment time: 2012

Date of birth: November 04th, 1983

Nationality: Vietnamese

Ownership percent-
age with voting rights:

0 shares, equivalent to 0%

Qualification: Master of Economics - Erasmus Mundus Master Pro-gram 
funded by the European Commission

Working experience:

2012 - now BOS member - VNDIRECT Securities Joint Stock Compa-
ny

2015 - now Deputy Director - Vistar Commerce Company Limited

2007 - 2014 Investment officer - Vietnam Investments Group Fund

2005 - 2006 Credit officer - Asia Bank

Outstanding achievements:

• Having more than 12 years of experience in the banking and finance sector.
• Supervising and evaluating VNDIRECT’s business performance. 
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BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

MR. DO NGOC QUYNH - BOD MEMBER CUM (ACTING) CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER

(See details in the Section titled Board of Directors)

MS. VU NAM HUONG  - CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Full name: VU NAM HUONG

Current position: Chief Financial Officer

Appointment time: 2017

Date of birth: December 21st, 1983

Nationality: Vietnamese

Ownership percentage 
with voting rights:

130,000 shares, equivalent to 0.059%

Qualification: Bachelor of Banking and Finance 

Working experience:

2017 - now Chief Financial Officer - VNDIRECT Securities Joint 
Stock Company

2008 - 2017 Manager of Treasury Department/Director of Fi-
nancial and Capital Business Division - VNDIRECT 
Securities Joint Stock Company

2006 - 2008 Specialist of Credit management, Capital accounting 
and Treasury Department - Chinfon Bank, Hanoi 
branch.

Outstanding achieve-
ments:
• Having more than 15 years of experience in the banking and finance sector.
• Building a capital trading and business relations team with financial and 

banking institutions, helping VNDIRECT’s financial business expansion with the 
banking institution in the market.

• Being one of the young leaders to build the career and collective success at 
VNDIRECT

Full name: NGUYEN HOANG LUONG
Current position: Chief Accountant
Appointment time: 2020
Date of birth: June 16th, 1976
Nationality: Vietnamese
Ownership percentage with 
voting rights: 0 shares, equivalent to 0%

Qualification: Master in Auditing and Financial Analysis
Working experience:

2020 - now Chief Accountant - VNDIRECT Securities 
Joint Stock Company

2019 - 2020 Deputy Director of Financial and Ac-
counting Division - PG Bank

2010 - 2019 Finance Director of Retail Banking- MSB 
Bank

2000 - 2010 Senior specialist of BIDV 
Outstanding achievements:
Having more than 20 years of experience in the banking and finance sector

MR. NGUYEN HOANG LUONG - CHIEF ACCOUNTANT
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ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE
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ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE

SUBSIDIARIES

VNDIRECT has two (02) subsidiaries as of December 31st, 2020, including one (01) di-
rectly owned and one (01) indirectly owned as follows:

Company 
name Establishment basis Operation activities Authorized 

capital
% own-
ership 

I.P.A Securities 
Investment 
Fund Manage-
ment Limited 
Company

Establishment and 
Operation license No. 
30/UBCK-GP dated 
March 04th, 2008; 
amended license No. 
02/GPDCUBCK dat-
ed March 08th, 2017.

Securities investment 
fund management, 
securities portfolio 
management and 
securities investment 
consulting

VND 100 
billion

100%

IVND Company 
Limited

Business registra-
tion certificate No. 
0108599981 dated 
January 24th, 2019

Web portal VND 20 
billion

100% (*)

(*) Indirect ownership through I.P.A Securities Investment Fund Management Limited 
Company

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

According to the list closed by Vietnam Securities Depository as at December 31st, 2020:

Ownership structure and ownership ratio by type of shareholder
Shareholder Number of shareholders Number of shares Ratio (%)

Treasury shares - 11,909,403 5.4%
Domestic 8,202 150,867,335 63.05%
Organization 52 68,614,564 25.73%
Individual 8,150 82,252,771 37.32%
Foreign 210 69,562,834 31.55%
Organization 47 66,774,948 30.29%
Individual 163 2,787,886 1.26%
Total 220,430,169 100%

List of major shareholders:

Name of share-
holder

Ownership 
registration 

number
Address Number of 

shares held
Own-
ership 
ratio

IPA Financial 
One Member 
Company Lim-
ited

0101398161
No. 1 Nguyen Thuong Hien 
Street, Nguyen Du Street, Hai 
Ba Trung District, Hanoi City, 
Vietnam

56,188,354 25.49%

PYN Elite Fund 
(Non - UCITS) CA5604 C/O Pyn Rahastoyhtio, PL 

139 00101, Helsinki, Finland 18,211,280 8.26%

YURIE VIETNAM 
Securities In-
vestment Trust 

CA8662
(NAMDAEMUNNO2(I)-GA), 
84, NAMDAEMUN-RO, 
JUNG-GU, Seoul, Korea

11,340,710 5.14%
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VISION
Extremely easy access investment ecosystem for everybody, everywhere

MISSION
Serving the financial health and peace of mind in investment for all customers.

CORE COMPETENCIES AND DEVELOPMENT ORIENTATIONS

TECHNOLOGY 

With the motto of building a core competency in 
technology to create digital platforms that meet VN-
DIRECT’s current and future business model, and 
continuously operate according to the criteria of 
“Safety - Stability - Timeliness”, we have been fo-
cusing on the following platforms:
•   Trading
•   Assets management  
•   Data and artificial intelligence analysis

In terms of VNDIRECT’s securities trading platform, 
it is not only positioned as the best stock invest-
ment trading platform, but also a complete platform 
that offers: information services - products - trading 
utilities at the most competitive costs in the mar-
ket. According to this position, VNDIRECT’s stock 
trading platform ecosystem by the end of 2020 has 
been completed as follows:

• Information services: We officially launched 
DSTOCK securities investment portal - a channel 
specializing in stocks and markets of VNDIRECT, a 
leading knowledge portal and search tool for all in-
vestors with the following outstanding advantages:

-   Stock code lookup with in-depth company 
analysis 
-   Updates on stock and financial market 
-   Providing a variety of business, industry, strat-
egy, macro reports
-   Daily reading of domestic and world market 
news

•   Products: VNDIRECT’s trading platform includes 
baskets of financial and trading products. There 
have been a total of 14 products and lending pol-
icies offered to our customers that invest in stocks 
on underlying and derivative markets. In 2020, we 
launched two new financial products for stock mar-
ket and two financial products for derivative market 
to meet our customers’ diverse needs. Along de-
veloping financial products, VNDIRECT is preparing 
to launch DTRADE - trading product positioned as 
a specialized service package aimed at customers 
who actively transact with high frequency. DTRADE 
is expected to be introduced to the customers in the 
first quarter of 2021.

Trading utilities
On the basis of continuing to maintain our position 
as the leading securities company providing trading 
utilities in Vietnam, in 2020 VNDIRECT focused on 
upgrading the system load to meet market’s trading 
demand and provided a stable and secure trans-
action portal. In addition, we continued to launch 
new transaction utilities, including: Trading ideas - 
assisting customers in selection of potential trading 
stocks. At the same time, VNDIRECT continued fur-
ther research and development activities within the 
scope of enhancing trading utilities for customers, 
including: Algo trading, High-frequency trading, and 
total account utility.

Assets management
2020 is considered a pivotal year for VNDIRECT’s 
asset management service when DGO - the path to 
creation of financial health and peace of mind in in-
vestment for all customers, was officially introduced 
to the customers. The asset management platform 
has been developed based on 5 investment chan-
nels, namely DMONEY (interest rate investment), 
DLIFE (protection and lifetime wealth accumulation 
investment), DSIP (wealth accumulation investment), 
DHOME (real estate investment), and DTRADE (ac-
tive securities trading). In terms of technology, this 
platform has been designed by VNDIRECT on the 
basis of independence of open connectivity readi-
ness with existing platforms as well as with systems 
of partners through API connection method.

Data and artificial intelligence analysis 
VNDIRECT has focused on building information 
organization - storage capacity and data analysis 
aimed at customer care while its team is responsible 
for continuously grasping business opportunities 
according to market conditions. Our core techno-
logical tasks cover information collection, refining, 
storage, and management on BI and AI platforms 
with increasing data wealth. Therefore VNDIRECT 
has been continuously invested in BI and AI and has 
a dedicated team responsible for performing these 
tasks.
In parallel with the focus on building the above core 
competency to ensure the criteria of “Safety - Sta-
bility - Timeliness”, VNDIRECT has been digitizing 

VISION - MISSION - COMPETENCIES AND CORE VALUES

its business and administration activities. At the 
same time, information safety and security is placed 
among the top priority mission to ensure the ability 
to protect customers.

HUMAN RESOURCES

VNDIRECT’s working culture is built on four IPAM 
core competencies of each employee

•   Insights 
•   Passion
•   Action 
•   Mindfulness 

And four core values 

•   Conduct of integrity 
•   Collective wisdom
•   Collaboration 
•   Connection of values 

Thanks to the 4C core value system and an IP-
AM-based qualified team, the company’s working 
culture has been built on the principle of autonomy 
and personal responsibility. The tasks are designed 
according to RACI organizational principles (Re-
sponsible – Accountable – Consulted – Informed), 
helping VNDIRECT to design a flat organizational 
structure and create many factors capable of un-
dertaking independent work and synergy towards 
the common objectives.
VNDIRECT’s leadership culture is built on the basis 
of autonomy and independence, at which the lead-
ers act as the coach responsible for leading mem-
bers to together incorporate any individual vision 
into the common vision.
The organizational structure’s flatness combined 
with the autonomy and the high sense of responsi-
bility helps each VNDIRECT staff train themselves, 
continuously have opportunities of experiencing 
new challenges, and making contributions to the 
team by their best abilities, creating new creativity 
and values continuously to improve the abilities of 
each individual and the collective VNDIRECT.
VNDIRECT’s working culture creates its strength in 
attracting human resources who desire to work pro-
fessionally and share the same IPAM and 4C values 
to create the foundation of a great river that works 
together for common objectives.

CUSTOMER-CENTRIC FINANCIAL SERVICES 
VALUE CHAINS

Based on two core competencies of technology and 
human resources to create collective intelligence, 
we have created customer-centric value chains on 
financial services during the past 14 year, serving 

customer prosperity to achieve ultimate customers’ 
satisfaction.
VNDIRECT’s value chains on financial services are 
shown through the following movements

•  Seeking opportunities and creating sources of sup-
ply for the captital market
•   Market making and proprietary trading
•   Providing of products and services
•   Establishing distribution channel

In VNDIRECT’s value chains on financial services, 
we are proud of having a team of human resources 
who create products and services with high pro-
fessional disciplines, strict compliance with regula-
tions on operational and market risk management, 
multi-channel asset ecosystems building capacity 
that enable the customers to choose financial ser-
vice products for DGO path. 
In this value chain, we have also built up a capital 
sales team capable of arranging capital and facil-
itating sufficient finance for underwriting transac-
tions and creating sources of supply for the market.
Aiming at customer satisfaction, VNDIRECT has 
built a distribution channel for individual custom-
ers through a digital platform and built consulting 
capacity for a team of more than 600 consultants 
who always puts the customer’s interests first and 
continually works towards the long-term compan-
ionship of customers. In addition, upon being posi-
tioned as an independent securities company per-
forming tasks of an intermediary financial institution, 
VNDIRECT continues building its prestige and ca-
pacity in products and services for institutional cus-
tomers in order to expand business capacity and 
contributing to the creation of source of supply for 
distribution channels.
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BUSINESS MODEL 

VNDIRECT’s business activities are targeted three 
segments of customers: individual customers, cor-
porate customers and financial institutions.

* Individual customers

Individual customers are positioned as VNDIRECT’s 
key customers. A platform has been built by VNDI-
RECT aimed at serving a large number of individual 
investors on the basis of the following three aspects: 

-  Technology and digitization for customer ex-
perience; 
-  An ethical and professional consulting team 
for individual customers;
-  A customer-oriented product and service 
ecosystem.

In the dynamic environment of Vietnam’s stock 
market in 2020, VNDIRECT recognized more than 
120,000 newly opened securities accounts, an 
increase of over 70% compared to 2019 and ac-
counting for 30% of total number of newly-opened 
securities accounts of individual investors in the 
market. VNDIRECT’s strength to attract new individ-
ual investors in the market lies in its simple account 
opening process as well as friendly, easy and stable 
trading system. In 2020, VNDIRECT pioneered the 
deployment of eKYC technology in opening and au-
thenticating online accounts. VNDIRECT also offers 
a multi-asset trading platform which makes it easy 
to manage and trade for investors.
Moreover, the individual investors will be advised on 
a sustainable investment strategy when coming to 
VNDIRECT, where they will work with the compa-
ny’s financial advisors to make suitable investment 
plans tailored to their needs, knowledge and finan-
cial conditions.
In addition, VNDIRECT’s team of analyst and invest-
ment experts constantly updates information with 
multi-dimensional views on the market as well as the 
asset channel’s volatility to support the investors’ 
decision-making process. VNDIRECT’s information 
channels on DSTOCK site as well as platforms such 
as Facebook, Zalo, Youtube, Soundcloud, Spotify, 
etc., are a rich, diversified and constantly updated 
information repository.
According to our assessment, the individual cus-
tomer segment has a lot of room to develop in the 
coming time based on the following factors:  

-   Vietnam has just over 2.7 million domestic in-
dividual investor trading accounts by the end of 
2020 - equivalent to less than 3% of Vietnam’s 
population with stock accounts, compared to 
more than 40 million of bank accounts. As orient-
ed by the Government of Vietnam, the number of 
securities investors in the market will reach 5% of 
total population by the end of 2025;
-   The trend of lower savings interest rates; 

-   People have an increasing demand for invest-
ment and wealth accumulation, making it an es-
sential need in life;
-   Along with the development of technology ap-
plications, the stock market becomes more ac-
cessible, especially for young investors with early 
investment knowledge and awareness.

* Corporate customers

VNDIRECT focuses on building a corporate cus-
tomers portfolio, including reputable enterprises in 
each industry. Each enterprise has its own strategy 
and unique capital requirements at different stages 
of development. VNDIRECT therefore strives to be-
come a companion in building a long-term financial 
planning, consulting on funding strategy which are 
suitable to customers in each period with the best 
consulting quality and reasonable funding cost. 
As a leading securities company with a wide net-
work of individual and institutional customers, VN-
DIRECT is capable of providing its corporate cus-
tomers with diversified and specialized investment 
banking products and services, from raising fund in 
the equity market, debt market, mergers and acqui-
sitions to financial advisory services for other main 
business. 
As an intermediary financial institution, VNDIRECT 
connects investors with reputable enterprises in 
need of capital for business development, thereby 
creating capital flows in the market. 

* Financial institutions

VNDIRECT continues building and developing its 
relationships with many domestic and foreign fi-
nancial institutions. In 2020, the expansion of credit 
relations with Vietnamese and foreign credit institu-
tions helped VNDIRECT maintain a diversified credit 
limit in both domestic and foreign currencies, serv-
ing its business activities actively and effectively.
Also, it aims to promote the deep relationship de-
velopment following B2B2C model with financial 
institutions to the create customer base synergies, 
improve products cross-selling and enhance asset 
channel offered to customers.
Thanks to the strength of a trading platform that 
meets international standards, supported by the 
current technology system and the staff standards 
of professional ethics and skills dealing with insti-
tutional customers, VNDIRECT is always a reliable 
choice of investment funds and foreign securities 
companies wishing to invest in Vietnam’s market, 
through which VNDIRECT acts as an intermediary 
financial institution to attract capital from the foreign 
retail market for indirect investment in Vietnam. VN-
DIRECT’s key markets cover Taiwan, Hong Kong, 
Singapore, Thailand, Korea, and Japan

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Upon transformation from the traditional securities 
service model to the multi-channel asset service 
model, VNDIRECT’s product and service ecosys-
tem continues to be supplemented and perfected 
towards the goal of financial health and peace of 
mind in investment for customers. In addition to 
our continued focus on stock brokerage in the 
stock services platform, we also supplement other 
trading tools like DSTOCK online stock options 
catering to digital customers. At the same time, we 
complete and upgrade our e-trading platform on 
an ongoing basis, as well as providing more flexible 
financial products aimed at supporting securities 
investors.
Along with the maintenance and development of 
traditional securities service business, VNDIRECT 
launched the asset management service aimed at 
bringing financial health, lifetime mindfulness, as 
well as offering our customers with more choices 
of looking for other investment channels with better 
expected returns at the current low interest rate. 
VNDIRECT has designed a diversified product 
portfolio tailored to the single customer’s demand 
and financial objectives:

-   DMONEY: including interest rate investment 
products in the direction of conservation invest-
ment strategy

•   DMONEY: an interest rate – supported product 
applicable to cash balances on the customers’ 
accounts upon pending investment
•   DFUND: a fund certificate of a bond fund in-
vested in a list of listed bonds and other fixed-in-

come assets in order to deliver an expected re-
turn higher than the savings rate
•   DBOND: a type of corporate bond with pre-
determined fixed interest rate and VNDIRECT’s 
commitment to repurchase bonds
•   VBOND: a type of corporate bond with pre-
determined fixed interest rate with VNDIRECT’s 
market making service

-   DLIFE: including any investment products in 
the direction of protection and lifetime wealth 
accumulation

• Lifetime wealth accumulation investment: a 
monthly investment savings product accumulat-
ed in the long run at least 10 years with a mini-
mum investment of VND 1 million/month.
•  Life insurance

 
-   DSIP: a steady and continuous investment 
that is deducted from monthly savings, and al-
located to periodic investments in stocks, fund 
certificates, and trust investment portfolios.

-   DSTOCK: a product on the basis of select 
stock investment strategies, which requires an 
understanding of the investment method and the 
discipline of continually adhering to the chosen 
strategy.

-   DHOME: a product that helps customers with 
home purchase and sale planning and provides 
them with real estate investment knowledge
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STOCK MARKET IN 2020 & 
OUTLOOK TO 2021

03.

MACROECONOMIC SITUATION IN 2020:
A STUNNING COMEBACK OF VIETNAM

01.

OVERVIEW OF VIETNAM’S STOCK MARKET    
IN 2020: HOW THE STEEL WAS TEMPERED

02.

MACROECONOMIC OUTLOOK FOR 2021: 
VIETNAM’S STEADY RECOVERY IN 2021

03.

STOCK MARKET OUTLOOK FOR 2021:               
READY TO TAKE OFF

04.



3 .  S T O C K  M A R K E T  I N  2 0 2 0  &  O U T L O O K  T O  2 0 2 1

39

STOCK MARKET IN 2020 & OUTLOOK TO 2021

GDP GROWTH AS OF QUARTER 4/2020 (BY SECTORS)

SLIGHT DECREASE IN INFLATIONARY PRESSURE IN 
DECEMBER 2020 (% OVER THE SAME PERIOD) 

FURTHER DECREASE IN FOOD INFLATION AFTER 
SUSTAINED PERIOD OF LOW PORK PRICE (% OVER 

THE SAME PERIOD) 

SOURCE: GSO, VNDIRECT RESEARCH

1. MACROECONOMIC SITUATION IN 2020: A STUNNING COMEBACK OF 
VIETNAM

2020 marked an encouraging growth of Vietnam. It avoided an economic slowdown and recorded positive 
growth in 2020 thanks to the high efficiency in fighting against the Covid-19 pandemic. As recorded by the 
General Statistics Office (GSO), real GDP in 2020 increased by 2.9% over the same period (7% in 2019), 
helping Vietnam be included in the group of countries with the highest growth rate in 2020. Among the 
three main economy’s sectors, agriculture, forestry and fishery increased by 2.7% over the same period 
(2% in 2019), industry and construction increased by 4.0% over the same period (8.9% in 2019) and 
services increased by 2.3% over the same period (7.3% in 2019). Besides that, the macro foundation’s 
stability was well maintained. Inflation was well controlled with an increase in average CPI increased by 
3.2% compared to 2019, lower than the Government’s target of 4.0%. The State Bank’s central VND/USD 
exchange rate reached USD 23,131 on December 31st, 2020, showing a slight decrease of 0.1% from 
the beginning of the year

The successful control of Covid-19 pandemic has contributed to helping Vietnam maintain production and 
business activities without interruption and get more orders from abroad. The whole year 2020 witnessed 
an increase in the export turnover to USD 281.5 billion, by 6.5% over the same period. This is an extremely 
impressive Figure in the context that Vietnam’s economy is open and global trade value is estimated to 
decrease by 9.2% over the same period in 2020 (as stated by the World Bank). In terms of import, Vietnam’s 
spending on imported goods did reach USD 262.4 billion in 2020, showing a slight increased by 3.6% over 
the same period. This made trade surplus reach USD 19.1 billion in 2020 (USD 11.1 billion higher than that 
in 2019). High trade surplus was an important factor for the stabilization of Vietnam’s exchange rate in 2020.

In 2020, disbursement for public investment saw a sharp increase of 34.5% over the same period to VND 
466.6 trillion, fulfilling 91.1% of the Government’s full year target - known as the Government’s highest 
disbursement Figure in the period of 2011-2020. Public investment is expected to continue to accelerate 
in 2021 on the basis of our belief that the Government will maintain the loosening of fiscal policy to 
support economic growth. In the first week of 2021, Prime Minister Nguyen Xuan Phuc attended Trung 
Luong - My Thuan expressway opening-to-traffic ceremony and Long Thanh International Airport - Phase 
1 groundbreaking ceremony, demonstrating the Government’s commitments to promoting the country’s 
public investment and infrastructure development. 

SUSTAINED EXPORT GROWTH AND ACCELERATING 
IMPORT IN THE CONTEXT OF ECONOMIC RECOVERY

EXPORT GROWTH OF KEY PRODUCTS (% OVER THE 
SAME PERIOD)

SOURCE: GSO, VNDIRECT RESEARCH SOURCE: GSO, VNDIRECT RESEARCH

SHARP INCREASE IN PUBLIC INVESTMENT BY 34.5% 
OVER THE SAME PERIOD IN 2020

MONTHLY DISBURSEMENT OF PUBLIC
INVESTMENT CAPITAL 

SOURCE:  GSO, VNDIRECT RESEARCH SOURCE:  GSO, VNDIRECT RESEARCHSOURCE:  GSO, VNDIRECT RESEARCH SOURCE:  GSO, VNDIRECT RESEARCH
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STOCK MARKET IN 2020 & OUTLOOK TO 2021

2. OVERVIEW OF VIETNAM’S 
STOCK MARKET IN 2020: HOW 
THE STEEL WAS TEMPERED

VN-Index in 2020 with the highest growth rate 
in the past 3 years 

Vietnam’s stock market got off to a relatively 
impressive start in 2020 with an increase VN-Index 
by 4.4% in just the first 3 weeks. However, the 
outbreak of Covid-19 had cast a shadow on the 
stock market for the next two months. VN-Index fell 
to its lowest level in 2020 at 659.2 points on March 
24th, 2020, down 33.5% from the peak on January 
22nd, 2020. 

However, the stock market has gradually regained 
its confidence thanks to the success in controlling 
COVID-19 pandemic across the country. Since March 
25th, 2020, Vietnam’s stock market has begun an 

impressive recovery journey when the VN-Index regains 
all the points it had lost earlier. The VN-Index closed in 
2020 at 1,103.9 points, showing an increase of 14.9% 
compared to the end of 2019, recorded as the highest 
annual growth rate in the past 3 years.

In our opinion, this recovery of Vietnam’s stock market 
stems from the following factors: 1) the continuation 
of impressive recovery of global stock market, 2) the 
stimulus for domestic capital inflows to the stock 
market thanks to monetary easing policy and record 
low interest rates and 3) Vietnam’s sustained positive 
growth of 2.91% in 2020, among the highest growing 
countries in the region and in the world, thanks to its 
success in controlling the Covid-19 pandemic. At the 
same time, there was a sharp increase in HNX-Index 
by 98.1% and Upcom-Index by 31.6% in 2020. 

Credit growth experienced a rapid growth in Quarter 
4 2020 after achieving modest growth in the first 
9 months of 2020. Specifically, credit showed 
an increase of 12.1% in 2020, double the 6.1% 
Figure as of September 30th, 2020, according to 
the State Bank of Vietnam. The rapidly increasing 

demand for credit signals an economic acceleration 
in the coming time when businesses have more 
confidence in the prospects of economic recovery 
and actively borrow money for the expansion of 
business activity. 

In general, the year 2020 recorded better results of Vietnam’s stock market compared to other markets 
in Southeast Asia and MSCI’s frontier market reference index 

RATE CUT IN THREE TIMES BY THE STATE BANK 
THIS YEAR

MONEY SUPPLY AND CREDIT GROWTH     
(%, 2016 - 2020) 

SOURCE:  VNDIRECT RESEARCH, BLOOMBERG, SBV SOURCE: VNDIRECT RESEARCH, SBV

BETTER GROWTH OF VIETNAM’S STOCK MARKET COMPARED TO OTHER STOCK MARKETS IN 
SOUTHEAST ASIA AND MSCI’S FRONTIER MARKET INDEX.

SOURCE: BLOOMBERG, VNDIRECT RESEARCH
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Rapid increase in liquidity since April 2020 thanks to “the explosion of F0 investors”

Vietnam’s stock market in 2020 had the highlight of a sharp increase in liquidity. The average transaction value 
in 2020 increased sharply by 56.1% over the same period, reaching VND 7,543 billion thanks to the remarkable 
rapid increase of domestic cash flows into the stock market. According to Vietnam Securities Depository (VSD), 
a total of nearly 400,000 new accounts were opened by retail investors in 2020 (+ 108% over the same period). 
Cash flow transfer of domestic retail investors to the stock market is derived from the following reasons:  
•  Loosening financial conditions and lowering interest rates (the average lending interest rate in 2020 
decreased by about 80-100 basis points, while the deposit interest rate decreased by 150-170 basis points).
•   Difficulties that were faced by other investment channels such as real estate and foreign exchange during 
the Covid-19 pandemic.
•   Advantages of securities over real estate thanks to the majority of online transactions, low initial investment 
and high liquidity. 

The top 10 stocks with the highest liquidity were mainly blue chips, with HPG having the highest liquidity, 
accounting for 5.1% of total market liquidity, followed by VHM. There were 6 among 10 stocks in the banking 
sector, including TCB, CTG, VPB, ACB, STB and MBB, contributing 13.8% of total market liquidity. 

INCREASE IN TRANSACTION VALUE OF THE WHOLE 
MARKET BY 56.1% OVER THE SAME PERIOD IN 2020 

(MILLION USD) 

OVERALL PICTURE OF THE LIQUIDITY OF THE WHOLE 

RECORD OF DOMESTIC INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR’S 
NEWLY OPENED ACCOUNTS AT 392,527 IN 2020 

SOURCE: VNDIRECT RESEARCH SOURCE: VSD, VNDIRECT RESEARCH

SOURCE: VNDIRECT RESEARCH, BLOOMBERG

TCB, 2.8% VNM, 2.7%

ACB, 2.1% MSN, 2.0%

VPB, 2.1% MBB, 2.0%

HPG, 5.1% VHM, 3.6%

STB, 2.2%CTG, 2.6%

Other, 72.9%

140,236

204,924

254,214

187,825

392,527

TOTAL
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an average of VND 65,000/ kg in 2021. Regarding 
the risk of price increase, Brent oil price may reach an 
average price of USD 60/barrel in 2021 (up 40% over 
the same period) according to our forecasts stemming 
from the recovery of global economy as well as the 
resumption of international commercial routes, thereby 
increasing demand for oil. In addition, the Government 
may increase the retail electricity price by 5-8% in 
2021 as expected. However, the risk of price increase 
is believed to be offset largely thanks to the decrease 
in CPI of food and foodstuff group. Therefore, the 
average CPI in 2021 is forecast to increase at less than 
3.5% compared to 2020.

The SBV is expected to maintain an easing monetary 

policy in 2021 in the context of low inflationary pressure 
next year. Although the SBV may not cut the policy 
rate any more, we do not expect the SBV to raise 
interest rates in 2021 to support economic growth 
through the maintenance of an easing monetary 
policy. Instead, the SBV may provide support to the 
money market through an open market, an increase in 
foreign exchange reserves, a ceiling credit growth for 
commercial banks or a delay in the deadline of applying 
higher financial safety standards to commercial banks. 
As we forecast, the credit growth may increase to 
13-14% in 2021. At the same time, the deposit and 
lending interest rates are believed to remain at a low 
level in 2021 in the context of easing monetary policy 
and lower inflation pressure.

Despite positive assessments of Vietnam’s economic 
prospects for 2021, we believe that there are still some 
major potential risks to the economy, including (1) an 
increase in trade protectionism in some of Vietnam’s 
main export markets and (2) the impact on food 

and food supplies as well as the outlook for inflation 
due to unfavorable weather and the risk of disease 
outbreak again. In particular, the fan increase in trade 
protectionism is considered to be the main risk to 
Vietnam’s economy in 2021.

Foreign investors’ net sale in 2020

Foreign investors’ net sale recognized USD 830 
million of shares on Vietnam’s stock market in 2020. 
Foreign investors’ net sale in Vietnam’s stock market 
was triggered by foreign cash flows that were 
net withdrawn from emerging and frontier stock 
markets. As the Covid-19 pandemic spread globally, 
international investors have shown their preference 
for low-risk assets such as government bonds and 
stocks in developed markets such as Japan, the US 
and the EU, with less preference for risky assets in 
emerging and frontier markets. 

were broken due to the Covid-19 pandemic as 
well as increasing demand for Vietnam’s export 
products. In addition, the recovery of tourism 
industry, one of the two main growth drivers of 
Vietnam’s service industry in 2021, in addition 
to the recovery of domestic consumption, will 
be boosted by resuming international flights for 
commercial purposes.

Under the baseline scenario, Vietnam GDP is 
forecasted to increase by 6.5% over the same 
period in 2021 with growth spread across all 
sectors. The macro background will continue to be 
strengthened with the continued increase in current 
balance surplus, trade surplus and foreign exchange 
reserves while the inflationary pressure tends to 
decrease. Thanks to these factors, the domestic 
macro base will be strengthened in addition to the 
fact that Vietnam may be given a stepping stone to 
face external risks as well as maintaining exchange 
rate stability.

According to our forecasts, Vietnam’s exports will 
have a higher growth rate in 2021, about 12% over 
the same period (compared with an increase by 
6.5% in 2020). Exports are expected to continue to 
be a major growth engine for Vietnam’s economy 
in 2021. 

According to our expectation, total social investment 
will increase strongly in 2021 stemming from (1) the 
continued promotion of the disbursement of public 
investment by the Government to support economic 
growth in the context of low inflationary pressures 
next year and (2) the recovery of investment from 
the non-state sector and foreign direct investment 
sector in 2021 thanks to a more favorable business 
environment after the Covid-19 pandemic is under 
control.

Inflationary pressure is expected to decrease slightly 
in 2021 as the pork (live weight) prices may continue 
to decline after the domestic herd (live weight) size 
is restored to pre-African swine fever in Quarter 
3/2020 and ASF vaccines are expected to be 
produced and marketed from Quarter 3/2021. The 
reduction of pork (live weight) prices will reduce the 
index of food and foodstuffs (pork prices account 
for 11.6% of consumer price index structure of food 
& foodstuff and 4.2% of basket structure for the 
overall CPI calculation according to our estimates). 
It is forecasted that the pork (live weight) prices 
may decrease by 19.8% over the same period to 

STOCKS WITH THE HIGHEST NET SALE VOLUME FROM 
FOREIGN INVESTORS (MILLION USD) 

STOCKS WITH THE HIGHEST NET PURCHASE 
VOLUME FROM FOREIGN INVESTORS (MILLION USD) 

SOURCE: VNDIRECT RESEARCH

Ticker Net bought Buy value Sell value

VHM

PLX
PGD

MWG

PHR

KDC

PME

TPB

DGW

SBT

798
65

44

25

19

16

23

8

7

6

1,403
130

44
67

39

29

17
10

21
27

605
65
0
42
16
10
0
3
13
21

VHM

PGD
MWG

CTG

MSN

PHR

VNM

PLX

VTP

DGW

583

44

15

13

11

11

11

11

6

861

6

44

50

137

170

16

567

35

19

8

279

0

24

122

157

5

556

24

13

2

SOURCE:  VNDIRECT RESEARCH

3. MACROECONOMIC OUTLOOK 
FOR 2021: VIETNAM’S STEADY 
RECOVERY IN 2021

The world economy is expected to have a strong 
recovery in 2021 after the Covid-19 pandemic 
is controlled and pushed back by vaccines. 
Specifically, the reopening of major economies 
such as the United States, Japan and the EU 
will gradually heal global supply chains that 

THE DECLINE IN SHORT TERM INTERBANK INTEREST 
RATES TO THE LOWEST LEVEL IN HISTORY

A DOWNWARD TREND OF DEPOSIT RATES AT COMMERCIAL 
BANKS FROM THE BEGINNING OF 2020 UNTIL NOW 

SOURCE:  VNDIRECT RESEARCH, BLOOMBERG, SBV SOURCE: VNDIRECT RESEARCH, SBVTicker Net bought Buy value Sell value

Rapid increase in liquidity 
since April 2020 thanks to 
“the explosion of F0 inves-
tors”
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4. STOCK MARKET OUTLOOK FOR 
2021: READY TO TAKE OFF

Available room for Vietnam’s stock market growth

As at December 31st, 2020, P/E forward 2021 of 
VN-Index was at 14.8 times, significantly 16.2 times 
lower than the 5-year average P/E and below the 
reasonable valuation zone (about 16.5-17.5 times). 
Therefore, the VN-Index is now believed to still have 
room for growth. 

Under the baseline scenario, the VN-Index is 
expected to reach 1,180-1,230 points in 2021 thanks 
to the following factors: (1) TTM P/E of VN-Index is 
expected to fluctuate around the 5-year average P/E, 
ranging from 16.0-16.5 times at the end of 2021; (2) 

corporate profit on the entire VN-Index is forecast to 
increase 23% over the same period and VN-Index’s 
dividend yield may reach 1.8% in 2021. 

Potential for an increase in the price of Vietnam’s 
stock market includes: (1) Inclusion of Vietnam’s 
stock market in MSCI’s watch list for upgrading from 
Frontier Market to Emerging Market in the annual 
review period of June 2021, (2) Upgrading Vietnam’s 
stock market to FTSE’s category 2 emerging market 
during the annual review period in September 2021 
and (3) Earlier introduction of Covid-19 vaccine 
than expected. Risks of decline in prices include 
(1) slower global economic recovery than expected 
and (2) slower recovery in listed companies’ returns 
than expected and (3) risks related to the technical, 
transactional system.

Getting closer to the goal of upgrading 
Vietnam’s stock market to an emerging 
market only needs a few more steps. 

Vietnam is addressing the bottleneck relat-
ed to foreign ownership limits (FOL).

The amended Law on Securities, the amended Law 
on Enterprises and the amended Law on Investment 
are passed by the National Assembly with effect from 
January 01st, 2021. We believe that the bottleneck 
on the foreign ownership limits (FOL) will be removed 
thanks to the changes in the above laws. Specifically, 
the FOL percentage of public companies participating 
in business sectors without conditions as prescribed 
by the Old Laws is 49%, but this rate can be relaxed 
to 100% after being approved by the General Meeting 
of Shareholders and submitted to the management 

agencies for approval. However, only nearly 40 listed 
companies have raised FOL to 100% so far due to 
relatively complicated implementation procedures. 
This bottleneck has been resolved by the New 
Laws by automatically applying 100% FOL to public 
companies, unless there are less specific provisions 
under international treaties to which Vietnam is a 
member or ay specialized law. Some conditional 
business lines are still subject to stricter limits, for 
example: The banking sector has a FOL of 30%. 

The new Law on Securities also expands the definition 
of securities. Accordingly, depository receipts (DR) are 
included in the definition of securities and regulations 
on non-voting depository receipts (NVDR) are clearly 
specified in the Law on Enterprises. This is good 
news for businesses that have not yet loosened more 
foreign room stemming from operating in conditional 

business lines. Accordingly, the foreign investors will 
not be limited in their ownership of NVDRs in those 
enterprises. This will attract more foreign capital into 
the Vietnam’s stock market. 

In addition, the establishment of many ETFs in the 
first half of 2020, especially VFMVN Diamond ETF 
(focusing on investments in stocks running out of 
“foreign room”), has opened an attractive investment 
channel for foreign investors who wish to invest in 
stocks with closed room, thereby facilitating the inflow 
of foreign investors’ capital to flow into the Vietnam’ 
stock market. 

Vietnam with efforts to resolve bottlenecks 
on “Securities clearing”

Vietnam is working with Korean partners on the 
implementation of a new stock exchange system 
expected to be completed in 2021. A clearing house 
under the Central Counter Party model (CCP) is also 
expected to be established. Through the application 
of this new clearing and settlement model, Vietnam 
hopes to solve the current problem of “sufficient money 
before making any transaction as required”, thereby 
removing an important “bottleneck” in the process of 
upgrading to emerging markets of MSCI and FTSE. It 
is expected that the new securities trading system will 
make contributions to the successful implementation 
of new products such as daily trading, sale of pending 

securities, and new derivative products, thereby 
attracting more cash flows both at home and abroad 
into Vietnam’s stock market in the coming time.

Vietnam’s corporate bond market prospects in 2021

In 2020, the total value of corporate bonds issued 
reached VND 449,957 billion, showing an increase of 
43.1% compared to 2019. In December 2020, there 
were 51 businesses involving in private placement 
of VND 45,110 billion of bonds, equivalent to an 
increase of 53.7% compared to November 2020. The 
successful placement rate reached 60%. 

In 2020, the value of bonds reached VND 415,736 
billion (experiencing an increase by 40.1% compared to 
2019) under private placement and VND 34,221 billion 
(showing an increase by 82.7% compared to 2019) 
under public offering, of which the Finance - Banking 
sector ranked first with the total value of successful 
placement rate of VND 102,538 billion (decreasing 
by 14.3% over the same period), accounting for 
24.7%. It was followed by the Real Estate sector with 
placement value of VND 62,964 billion (increasing by 
10.3% over the same period) accounting for 15.1%; 
and the multidisciplinary corporations with total 
placement value of VND 12,016 billion, equivalent to 
2.9%. Other groups have a total placement value of 
VND 238,218 billion (increasing by 89.1% over the 
same period) corresponding to 57.3%.

COMPARISON OF P/E VALUATION OF REGIONAL 
MARKETS 

LOWER CURRENT P/E OF VN-INDEX THAN ITS PEAK OF 
22 TIMES IN 2018 

SOURCE:  VNDIRECT RESEARCH, BLOOMBERG, SBV SOURCE: VNDIRECT RESEARCH, SBV
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The corporate bond market has shown signs of 
cooling down in recent months due to the tightening 
regulations on corporate bond issuance conditions 
of Decree no. 81/2020/ND-CP, with effect from 
September 01st, 2020. Therefore, Decree no. 
153/2020/ND-CP is issued for the purpose of 
“unleashing” the corporate bond market, with clearer 
regulations on responsibilities, obligations and risks 
of investors as well as issuers. Specifically, the 
investors are responsible for (1) accessing and fully 
understanding contents and terms before making 
decisions on purchase or bonds trading, (2) self-
assessing and taking responsibility for risks incurred, 
and (3) complying with laws and regulations applied 
for investors of private placement of corporate 
bonds. This Decree no. 153 also repeals a number 
of provisions on conditions for issuance of non-
convertible bonds or bonds without warrants.

In the past, the Decree no. 81 limited the size of corporate 
bond issuance, with outstanding corporate bond 
balances under private placement 5 times less than 
the owner’s equity. Each issuance must be completed 

within 90 days from the date of announcement prior 
to the issuance; the current issuance must be at least 
six months away from the previous one. An issuer is 
responsible for signing a consulting contract with an 
advisory organization on bond issuance documents, 
unless the issuer is an organization authorized to 
provide bond issue consultation services as required 
by the Law. However, the above provisions have been 
removed under the Decree no. 153. 

As required by the Decree no. 153, the issuer (1) 
is a joint stock company or a limited company, (2) 
pays both principal and interest of bonds issued or 
due debts in three consecutive years, (3) fully satisfy 
requirements on capital adequacy ratio and prudential 
ratio in operation as prescribed in current law, (4) has 
any bond issuance plan as approved, (5) presents the 
financial statements of the year preceding the year of 
issue audited by the qualified auditing firm. This is 
believed to create opportunities for the corporate 
bond market to be dynamic in 2021 when a number 
of restrictions have been uplifted by Regulator.

Vietnam with efforts to resolve bottlenecks on “Securities clearing”

There are 3 scenarios for macroeconomic forecast and Vietnam’s stock market given by VNDIRECT in 
2021 as follows.

Target Negative scenario Baseline scenario Positive scenario

Probability 25% 50% 25%

GDP growth 6.0% 6.5% 7.6%

CPI <3.0% <3.5% <4%

Credit growth 11.0-12.0% 12.5-13.5% 14.0-15.0%

Policy rate Policy rate decreases 
by 0.25-0.5%

Deposit interest rate 
continues to decline by 
20 basis points.

Average 3-month 
deposit interest rate of 
SOCBs is at 3.2-3.5%/ 
year; 12-month at 
5.2-5.4% / year.

Deposit interest rate 
increases slightly by 
about 20 basis points.

Average 3-month 
deposit interest rate of 
SOCBs is at 3.6-3.7%/ 
year; 12-month at 
5.7-5.8%/ year 

Deposit interest rate 
increases by about 40 
basis points.

Average 3-month 
deposit interest rate of 
SOCBs is at 3.8-3.9%/ 
year; 12-month at 
5.9-6.0%/ year.

Policy rate remains 
unchanged in 2021 

Policy rate remains 
unchanged in 2021

Deposit interest 
rate of the group 
of State-owned 
commercial 
banks (SOCBs)

EPS 2021 i s forecast 
to  grow by 17-19% 
compared to 2020 

EPS 2021 i s forecast 
to  g row by 22-24% 
compared to 2020 

EPS 2021 i s forecast 
to  grow by 25-27% 
compared to 2020 

EPS growth of 
listed companies 
in HOSE

P/E of the market at the 
end of 2021 is expected 
from 15.5 to 16.0 

P/E of the market at the 
end of 2021 is expected 
from 16.0 to 16.5 

P/E of the market at the 
end of 2021 is expected 
from 17.0 to 17.5 

P/E of market 
expectation

Foreign investors have 
not  returned  t o the 
frontier market. Foreign 
investors continue to be 
net sellers.

Foreign investors start t o 
return  t o the frontier 
market under the  small 
scale.  Foreign  investors 
have a slight net purchase 
of l ess than V ND 5 ,000 
billion 

Foreign investors  return 
to t he f rontier market 
under  t he l arge  scale. 
Foreign investors have a 
strong p urchase o f more 
than VND 10,000 billion 

Activities of 
foreign investors

Increasing ~ 15% 
compared to 2020 
Reaching ~ 8,700 billion/ 
session (on 3 stock 
exchanges) on average
in the whole year.

Increasing 25% compared 
to 2020. Reaching ~ 9,500 
billion/session (on 3 stock 
exchanges) on average in 
the whole year 

Foreign investors  r eturn 
to t he f rontier market 
under t he l arge s cale. 
Foreign investors have a 
strong p urchase o f more 
than VND 10,000 billion 

Average liquidity

VN-Index is forecast in the 
range of 1,100-1,150 points

VN-Index is for
range of 1,180-1,230 points

VN-Index is forecast in the 
range of 1,280-1,330 points

VN-Index ecast in the 
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ACTIVITIES OF SUPPORTING DIVISIONS

VNDIRECT’S BUSINESS 
RESULTS IN 2020 

INDIVIDUAL CUSTOMER SEGMENT 01.

CORPORATE CUSTOMER SEGMENT02.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTION SEGMENT

DOING BUSINESS IN THE CAPITAL MARKET

FUND MANAGEMENT

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSE
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05.
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1. INDIVIDUAL CUSTOMER SEGMENT
Trading platform

The securities services business with the spearhead of 
individual customers continues to maintain its market 
share and growth rate with the market, despite the 
increasingly fierce competition from foreign securities 
companies and emerging securities companies with 
competitive pricing and commissions policies. In 
2020, VNDIRECT maintained its baseline fee revenue 
with an annual average transaction fee of 0.16% and 
baseline transaction value through the Company 
reaching VND 270,000 billion. 

As a market pioneer in applying eKYC technology in the 
account opening process, along with the convenient 
and user-friendly trading platform, VNDIRECT has 

maintained its market share of new open accounts at 
a high level compared to the whole market. In 2020 
more than 120,000  new securities trading accounts 
were opened at VNDIRECT, accounting for 30% of 
the total number of newly-opened securities trading 
accounts in the market. In the first two months of 
2021, VNDIRECT continued to record more than 
35,000 newly-opened accounts, showing a sharp 
increase compared to the same period of 2020. The 
assets under management (AUM) at the end of the 
year 2020 reached more than VND 73,000 billion, 
increasing 32% compared to 2019. VNDIRECT’s 
securities trading value experienced a strong growth 
of 61% compared to 2019, in line with the growth 
of the whole market (60%). Revenue from securities 
brokerage service in 2020 reached VND 479 billion, 
an increase of 43% compared to 2019.

Plans for 2021

VNDIRECT will persevere with the orientation 
of securities trading development based on the 
advantages of a diversified and flexible technology 
platform and products suitable to the needs of 
each group of individual investors. The modern 
technology platform will be the factor that assists the 
consulting team in grasping the specific needs and 
goals of each customer to provide the most suitable 
advice. Instead of competing through reduction to 
transaction fees, the company will remain consistent 
with the continuous improvement of service quality 

as well as continuous experience of each customer 
during the investment journey at VNDIRECT.

Asset management service platform under DGO 
path

In 2020, VNDIRECT developed a DGO service 
package that designs customers an investment path 
starting from building financial health, thereby helping 
them accumulate experience, knowledge and financial 
management skills for investment mindfulness 
purposes.

Launched in October 2020, the sharing program 
titled “DGO package & Asset pyramid” has becoming 
the community’s focus of attention, not only 
experienced investors in the market but all ages as 
well: from students, employees, young families, young 
entrepreneur, etc., everyone with interest in personal 
finance. 

After just 2 months, DGO has attracted more than 
3,000 registrations and more than 100 participants 
in each session. Meeting demands of all individuals’ 
demand for learning and choosing the path of 
investment mindfulness, starting from November 
2020, DWEALTH Academy has covered DGO in both 
the South and North regions and become a meeting 
point of knowledge for investor community every 
Saturday morning.

DGO program was born with practical contents for all 
individuals to find the answers to the right investment 
path and practice the investment skill - an essential life 
skill. The contents are designed by Ms. Pham Minh 
Huong - VNDIRECT’s Chairwoman - known as the 
“captain” with 25 years of experience in the finance 
sector and significant influence on the market.

When accompanying investors under the DGO path, 
VNDIRECT prioritizes on selecting and training a team 
of financial coaches with enough wisdom and ethics to 
support customers in building their financial health and 
investment mindfulness. VNDIRECT’s well-trained and 
recruited consultants will be the premise of investment 
advisory capacity and financial investment products 
distribution in the coming years.

2020 witnessed VNDIRECT’s changes in brokerage 
market share as follows: 

• For shares listed on HOSE: market share 
increased to 7.19% (from 6.81%)

• For shares listed on HNX: market share decreased 
from 8.58% to 7.11%

• For the derivative market: market share decreased 
from 12.69% to 8.74%.

Indicator
Number of Active accounts

Number of accounts managed
Assets under management

(VND billion)

2016
 19,742 
103,509 
 20,379

2017
 33,685 
137,839 
 34,560

2018
50,751 
189,796 
 43,241

2020
93,713
402,378
73,092

2019
59,558 
278,693 
 55,190

 Indicator
Securities brokerage revenue

Depository revenue

2019
 335
13

2020
 478
14

Growth
43%
8%

VNDIRECT’s margin lending has still maintained its 
scale growth despite the intense competition in the 
environment of low interest rates of Korean securities 
companies. The margin lending portfolio scale 
reached more than VND 4,300 billion by the end 
of 2020, showing an increase of 56% compared to 
the end of 2019. In addition, VNDIRECT was able to 
minimize risks in margin lending business and ensure 
business efficiency thanks to the systematic risk 
management discipline.

Brokerage market share of VNDIRECT 2011-2020

Derivatives
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4. CAPITAL MARKET 
Capital market is a division in charge of centralized 
management of VNDIRECT’s mobilized funds, including 
shareholders’ capital and capital raised from bonds, bank 
credit and other mobilized capital, and optimization of funds 
allocated for business activities of the Company from time 
to time. 

Capital mobilization competency  

In 2020, VNDIRECT has continued to improve its capital 
mobilization capacity through building new credit 
relationships and issuing bonds. Thanks to the credit limit 
with domestic and international banks, VNDIRECT is able 
to diversify capital mobilization in both VND and foreign 
currencies, and to avoid any risk of partner concentration 
at the same time. For the lending limit in foreign currencies, 
VNDIRECT have shown its flexibility in the use of exchange 
rate risk prevention strategies to ensure safety and efficiency 
in its business operations.

Furthermore, it has further supplemented capital through the 
issuance of bonds. In 2020, a total of more than 300 billion 
bonds were issued with a term of 1 to 2 years for institutional 
investors. In recent years, bonds have continued to be a 
stable capital mobilization channel of VNDIRECT. 

Shift in the structure of asset allocation, 
diversification of revenue from investment activities  

In 2020, VNDIRECT still showed its proactive shift in capital 
investment activities for the purpose of increasing investment 
product scale with fixed interest rate such as deposit 
certificates, bonds issued by financial institutions, corporate 
bonds. In the opposite direction, it has restructured the stock 
portfolio in order to rebuild the foundation of investment 
access principles as well as minimizing risks in the context 
of volatile market fluctuations due to the influence of external 

2. CORPORATE CUSTOMER SEGMENT
Upon continuing the strategy of building Corporate 
Customer Division from 2019 in the direction of 
supporting and maximizing their comprehensive 
needs, VNDIRECT has continued to achieve success 
in 2020 in the course of building and expanding 
the set of corporate customers and have built solid 
relationships with large corporations in real estate, 
energy, essential infrastructure, health, etc. It focuses 
on customer care and in-depth consultation to 
introduce and meet various customers’ needs instead 
of just focusing on a single service. Accordingly, 
there are at least two services used by almost all the 
corporate customers at VNDIRECT. Bond issuance 
consulting, cash flow management consulting, and 
shareholder services are service packages that 
promote VNDIRECT’s strength upon working with the 
corporate customers. Meeting the diverse needs of 
customers is the driving force that makes VNDIRECT 
continue to become a comprehensive financial 
partner for corporate customers.

With the momentum of both width and depth 
development in 2020, the bond market has offered 
preferential conditions for securities companies to 
advise businesses on establishing bond issuance 
channels through private placement and public 
offering, and assisted the investors in accessing 
transparent and easy-to-trade information, thereby 
making corporate bond investment increasingly 
popular. In line with that trend, VNDIRECT, with 
the advantage of the distribution network of having 
large individual customers, has continued gaining 

opportunities to affirm the consulting quality with 
respect to investment banking services, especially 
for the demand for debt capital market consulting 
products (DCM) with total revenue of VND 59 billion, 
showing an increase by 21% compared to 2019.

Over time, VNDIRECT has accumulated financial and 
business conditions for corporate finance consulting 
and issuance consulting capacity in the market on 
an increasingly larger scale. In addition, the company 
has assisted businesses in accessing international 
capital markets, finding strategic investors or financial 
investors that match their strategies.

Targets for 2021

VNDIRECT gives the operational orientations applied 
for the Institutional customer division in 2021 with a 
focus on the following key tasks:

• Continuous enhancement in bond issuance 
consulting for target customers, in parallel with 
consulting comprehensive financial model for 
enterprises, helping them improve their financial 
health to ensure sound business operation.  

• Enhancement in coordination among divisions of 
corporate customers, individual customers and 
capital markets to improve distribution capacity 
of corporate customers’ capital mobilization 
products to the market.  

• Continuation in recruitment and capacity building 
for professional team in consulting comprehensive 
financial products for the corporate customers.

3. FINANCIAL INSTITUTION SEGMENT
VNDIRECT has built strong relationship with large 
domestic and foreign investment funds when investing 
in Vietnam thanks to the strength of a trading platform 
with modern technology system that meets international 
standards. 2020 recorded revenue growth of securities 
services for financial institutions by 36% compared to 
2019 and 18% higher as planned at the beginning of the 
year.

VNDIRECT has continued perfecting its securities trading 
platform for the international institutional customers by 
means of: building an electronic trading platform with 
connection to major international securities trading 
organizations via FIX, and completing White Label 
trading solution for partners who are foreign securities 
companies for both securities and derivative securities. 

With institutional customers being credit institutions, 
VNDIRECT in 2020 has established credit limit with nearly 
30 domestic and foreign banks with limits up to nearly 
VND 20,000 billion, an increase of 43% compared to 
2019, thereby building business capacity and financial 
conditions to actively and effectively welcome any 
business opportunities in the market.

Upon wishing to become a reliable and solid companion 
of customers in the course of investment in financial 
health protection, VNDIRECT expands cooperation 
with reputable life & non-life insurance companies 
in the market to provide the customers with optimal 
protection solutions, while assisting them in the effective 
financial allocation into product categories in the Asset 
pyramid. Through the professional asset advisory 
team, VNDIRECT has continued its partnership in the 
distribution of Sunlife’s life insurance products and PTI’s 
non-life insurance products, products consulted for asset 
allocation.
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factors. In addition, it has put a focus on dedicating resources to developing structured products such as covered 
warrants, ETFs, and continued to position itself as the market leader in offering derivative products.
As shown by results in 2020, the Capital Market Division’s total profit reached VND 885 billion, an increase of 51% 
compared to 2019. Revenue from capital trading activities is distributed fairly evenly for capital trading, bonds 
trading, equity trading, and structured products: 

Operation

Capital trading 
Bond trading
Stock trading

Market making and 
bond underwriting

Total

Revenue in 2020 
(VND billion)

357
406
327
13

1,103

Percentage

32.4%
36.8%
29.6%
1.2%

100.0%

For market making and bond underwriting, VNDIRECT continues to create a value chain from consulting, underwriting 
and secondary distribution for bond issues. In 2020, VNDIRECT succeeded in advising two public bond issuances 
of Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Industry and Trade (VietinBank) with a total value of more than VND 
9,400 billion, helping this bank to mobilize medium and long-term capital sources for improvement in operational 
efficiency. Accordingly, VNDIRECT’s consulting activities have contributed to providing the market with an abundant 
quantity of goods with high quality.

All bonds subject to VNDIRECT’s underwriting and distribution are selected, evaluated and evaluated according to a 
strict pre-issuance process to ensure maximum benefits for secondary investors. In the context of a rapidly growing 
corporate bond market, the selection of a reputable issuer, transparent information, and high-quality assets are the 
top criteria in the distribution of corporate bonds. 

market division in the coming year: 

• Capital management for business activities 
– Expand credit relationships with banking 
institutions, and increase short-term proprietary 
investment capacity.  

• Safe and effective capital allocation for sustainable 
growth and enhanced capital mobilization from 
shareholders.

• Asset diversification across money market 
products, equity markets, bonds and derivatives.

• Development and expansion of underwriting and 
market making for corporate bond issuances.

6. FUND MANAGEMENT
As part of the transformation of VNDIRECT parent 
company’s business model from securities trading 
to comprehensive financial services, I.P.A Securities 
Investment Fund Management Limited Company 
(IPAAM) has also changed its strategy, from an internal 
investment management unit for IPA Group and 
VNDIRECT to an unit providing fund management, 
portfolio management and securities investment 
advisory services to individual and institutional 
investors, perfecting VNDIRECT’s diversified financial 
product ecosystem.

Thanks to market-leading technology that 
maximizes analysis, monitoring, investment and risk 
management, IPAAM has helped investors to easily, 
safely and quickly trade all types of investment assets 
(including fund certificates).

It provides professional asset management services 
under the execution of experts in investment 
strategy formulation, asset allocation and investment 
management. Investors’ assets are subject to 
independent management and close supervision 

by a separate risk management department. 
They may save time and resources for regularly 
analyzing research, searching, selecting investment 
opportunities and making investments for their 
portfolios.

IPAAM’s products are diversely designed according 
to the risk needs and tastes of each customer, from 
DLIFE protection assets to DSIP accumulation assets 
such as VND Bond Fund (VNDBF), open-ended VND 
Active Fund (VNDAF) with a strategy of investing in 
stocks in the group of leading large-cap stocks and 
long-term sustainable development potential. In 
particular, the periodical investment program titled 
VNDAF - SIP Fund was launched in 2020 with a 
monthly contribution of only VND 100,000 to help 
customers practice investment saving habits in a 
systematic, disciplined and efficient manner.

In 2021 IPAAM aims to develop and bring new 
investment products continuously (such as ETF 
certificates) to be more accessible by individual and 
institutional investors through VNDIRECT’s investment 
service distribution and asset management, thereby 
completing the product basket to help customers 
build their Asset pyramid with the aim of peace of 
mind in investment at VNDIRECT.

7. ADMINISTRATION EXPENSE
In 2020, VNDIRECT has continued optimizing 
its management expense and improving overall 
operating efficiency throughout the Company. 
Personnel costs accounted for the largest proportion 
in the management cost structure - about 61% of 
total administration expense. Meanwhile, the office 
rental cost in 2020 increased by 113% compared to 
2019 due to the expansion of branches and networks 
in order to increase the Company’s coverage in key 
locations across the country.

5. OWNER’S EQUITY INVESTMENT
VNDIRECT has continued implementing the wealth accumulation strategy through investments and capital 
contributions for the construction of fund certificate issuance and management platforms. Major investments in the 
company’s equity portfolio: 

Targets for 2021

Vietnam’s capital market is forecast to continue 
growing rapidly in size and quality in the coming year, 
especially, the corporate bond market will continue 
to grow strongly due to market demand and more 
complete legal corridor. For the timeliness of seizing 

opportunities, VNDIRECT will increase its equity scale 
from the offering of shares to existing shareholders 
in 2021, thereby supplementing working capital for 
business activities.

In terms of business direction, there will be four 
strategic objectives to be focused on by the Capital 

Source: VNDIRECT

Company

Post and Telecommunication Joint Stock Insurance Corporation (PTI)
I.P.A Securities Investment Fund Management Limited Company
iVND Company Limited
VND Active investment fund  
VND Bond investment fund 

Original investment capital 
(billion VND)

267
100
20
46
51

Source: VNDIRECT

Source: Financial statements

2020

217.5 

20.6 

56.7 

56.1 

 7.2 

358.0

2019 

207.0 

0.7 

26.6 

46.7 

8.4 

309.4

% change   

5%

0%

113%

20%

-15%

16%

Administration expense (VND billion)  

Personnel costs

Asset depreciation

Office rental cost

Outsourcing service

Other costs 

Total



ACTIVITIES OF 
SUPPORTING DIVISIONS

05.

BUSINESS OPERATION AND DIGITALIZATION CAPACITY

TECHNOLOGY CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

RISK MANAGEMENT03.

02.

01.



5 .  A C T I V I T I E S  O F  S U P P O R T I N G  D I V I S I O N S

61

ACTIVITIES OF SUPPORTING DIVISIONS

1. BUSINESS OPERATION AND 
DIGITALIZATION COMPETENCY 

VNDIRECT’s business operations have been 
prioritized for standardization and digitization during 
14 years of operation, helping the company have 
a flexible management culture while still ensuring 
the principle maker - checker - balance control to 
minimize operational risk, compliance risk and other 
operational risks. 

In the direction of shifting from a trading platform 
to an asset management platform for customers, 
VNDIRECT guarantees to provide them with the most 
convenient investment journey, from opening an 
account (online via eKYC or directly at the counter), to 
financial health check, registration of account careby, 
trading stocks on the DBOARD, signing up for a 
margin loan service package, withdrawal to the bank 
account, etc. All customer activities are performed 
quickly, comfortably and safely on the iVND platform 
– a personal asset management platform with full 
connection with the product and service ecosystem 
at VNDIRECT.

2020 witnessed lots of stock market fluctuations with 
a sudden increase in trading volume in the last months 
of the year, making VNDIRECT’s total operating 
volume in 2020 increase sharply by 50% compared 
to 2019. However, its operation system always meets 
the customers’ demand for existing products and 
services as well as building and developing products 
according to new business objectives - providing 
individual investors with assets management services. 

The team including business supervisors, thanks 
to the accumulation of experience and operational 
supervision and administration ability, has supported 
VNDIRECT to meet continuous business operation 
conditions given by the market. In 2020, the 
Government’s social distancing policies have made 
it easy for VNDIRECT to challenge and continue 
improving its remote operation capacity and 
digitization of operational alerts to ensure information 
security and system security. VNDIRECT has carried 
out business continuity planning (BCP), ensuring the 
safety of customers, employees and partners at the 
highest level in case of unexpected risks such as 
pandemics and natural disasters, while minimizing 
the impact on business operations of the Company.

Demand Rate and business control touchpoints 
have been measured by the Company - aiming 

at improvement in operational capability, risk 
identification and reduction to business errors 
to 0.01%. Operational processes are continually 
optimized for the purpose of reducing waste and 
digitized to reach 100% digitization of business 
process and centralized record-keeping, thereby 
offloading stages that do not create direct value to 
customers for reduction to operating costs of the 
Company.  

2. TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT 
COMPETENCY

VNDIRECT has chosen self-development of 
technology system and digital solutions right from 
the early days of its establishment. 2020 marked 
a year of great challenges for VNDIRECT when the 
technological platform was challenged with much 
greater loads previous years. VNDIRECT’s system 
has met the new business conditions very well, 
despite facing challenges arising from the instability 
in connection with the network operator due to 
the overloaded system and from the overload of 
connections provided by external service partners. 
VNDIRECT has been continuously invested and 
upgraded server system to meet the requirements of 
system expansion and load capacity for stock trading. 

2020 recognized some outstanding achievements of 
Technology Division:

• The technology division pioneered the market in 
implementing eKYC - Customer identity solution 
in account registration and verification. eKYC 
at VNDIRECT is a solution built on the basis of 
OCR optical character recognition and Artificial 
intelligence (AI), which helps to identify and 
compare characters, images, faces on personal 
identifiers, make video calls with high accuracy 
and safety for the whole process.

• DBOARD stock price board has been optimized 
with outstanding speed and utility, high data 
download speed, helping investors make 
transactions quickly and conveniently, serving 
a number of large numbers of customer visitors 
increasing sharply in 2020. Not just a stock 
price board, DBOARD has been developed by 
VNDIRECT to become an online multi-asset 
trading platform - for investors to trade online for 
underlying securities, derivatives, warrants, fund 
certificates or bonds.

• iVND Asset management platform has been 
continuously developed for individual customers 
following the DGO strategy - creation of financial 
health and peace of mind in investment. It has 
created direct connections for customers with the 
product and service ecosystem, the knowledge 
system and a team of investment consultants at 
VNDIRECT. In addition, iVND provides customers 
with detailed reports of assets being held in a 
convenient, centralized way, gives timely warnings 
about changes in assets and markets, thereby 
limiting risks in the investment process 

• The management and operation of information 
technology system, especially information 
security and safety, has been strengthened with 
a focus on strict 24/24 supervision and control 
under the process system, regulations issued and 
periodically reviewed and updated. In 2020, plans 
and scenarios for handling in case of information 
technology incidents have been formulated and 
conducted periodically to ensure continuous 
operation capacity, maintain stable operation and 
safety of information technology systems in 2020.

2020 witnessed some changes in personnel of 
VNDIRECT’s team of technology experts as a result 
of changing career orientation and competition for 
resources from other securities companies, but the 
technology solution design and development capacity 
for core business activities has been well maintained 

by VNDIRECT. There has been further investment in 
a team of data and AI for improvement in business 
identity analysis and taking technological advantage as 
a core advantage in VNDIRECT’s business activities.

In 2021, VNDIRECT will actively participate in the 
experiment with high willingness to connect with the 
new KRX Core system of HoSE Exchange when the 
new system is put into operation. The system serving 
the large amount of downloads and access from the 
investor community will be further improved by the 
Company.

2021 will be the first year VNDIRECT implements its 
10-year technology vision of the period 2021-2030. 
By maintaining its position as a securities company 
with a leading technology infrastructure in Vietnam, 
VNDIRECT will continuously optimize its trading 
platform, customer-centric modern trading products, 
and test new business models on the digital technology 
platform to help customers get the most convenient 
and safe investment experience at VNDIRECT.

3. RISK MANAGEMENT 
Overview of VNDIRECT’s risk managemen system

VNDIRECT has built a risk management and 
monitoring division working independently from the 
sales team, in addition to running the risk management 
model of “Three lines of defense” according to global 
best practices in order to ensure the competency in 
identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling risks 
at all levels and types of risks, including material risks: 
Market risk, payment risk, liquidity risk, operational 
risk, legal risk, and credit risk. 

• The first line of defense is aimed at business units, 
business operations and support departments 
in charge of formulation and issuance of internal 
processes, identification, measurement, and 
determination of limits of risk in the units.

• The second line of defense consists of risk 
management and internal control department 
in charge of developing risk management 
policies, strategies and activities, including risk 
identification, measurement, monitoring and 
management in a unified and independent manner 
with the first line.

• The third line of defense is aimed at the internal 
audit department, directly under the Board of 
Supervisors, not under the Board of Directors, 
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in charge of periodically or irregularly performing 
internal audit topics for overall assessment of 
operational efficiency in risk management of the 
Company.

In 2020, the Company’s system of policies, 
regulations, processes for internal operations as well 
as risk management has continued to be upgraded 
and improved, in addition to the standardization of 
risk management models and methods towards 
improvements in risk business capacity of VNDIRECT 
in adapting opportunities and challenges in the 
market. 

The system of products and services in the financial 
sector in general and the scope of operations of 
securities companies in particular is increasingly 
diversified with many complex structures, along with 
a focus on risk management in order to minimize 
unwanted losses. All new products and services, 
before being issued or modified, are subject to 
careful market research and analysis to come up with 
product development plans. At the same time, all 
three lines FO - MO - BO have participated in making 
assessments and expressing opinions based on the 
Risk Adjusted Pricing platform, building a consistent 
operational process under the support of information 
technology system. 

In addition to the general risk management, activities 
of ALCO and Investment Council (IC) have been 
evaluated and improved in 2020 for satisfaction 
of requirements of management building, risk 
assessment and capital optimization. 

Risk management process

VNDIRECT’s risk management process consists of 4 
steps: Identification, measurement, monitoring and 
control.

   Risk identification 

Risk identification is performed at all VNDIRECT’s 
defense lines and business units and operation 
departments. It is firstly performed at the sales 
department, product department and operation 
department according to the business functions of the 
first line of defense. Next, it is done in the second line 
of defense according to specialized risk segments.

Risk identification is not merely identifying any single 
risk but the associated impact of types of risks as 
well, especially material risks, to serve as a basis for 
full measurement, monitoring and control.

This is done by many methods such as statistics, 
SWOT analysis, questionnaires, discussions between 
risk management, internal control and related 
business departments, etc.

   Risk measurement and assessment 

a. Risk measurement

Risk measurement is performed on the basis of an 
analysis of short- and medium-long-term impact of 
risk on income, capital adequacy, ability to achieve 
business goals and compatibility of scale of operations 
of VNDIRECT from time to time. 

It must assess materiality and potential impact on the 
Company, through a set of metrics compatible with 
each specific type of risk, including but not limited to:

 - Determination of risk status: Portfolio status, 
payment status by partner/product, liquidity 
gap status, interest rate risk difference status 
according to revaluation period, liquidity buffer 
scale, etc.

 - Determination of risk probability: PD, BSM model, 
operation error statistics, etc.

 - Determination of loss, potential risk extent: 
Volatility, PV01, VAR, PnL, etc.

 - Other suitable methods: Qualitative method, 
other risk measurement indicators, etc.

b. Risk limit

VNDIRECT, depending on the nature of the type of 
risk and specific business operations, offers methods 
to determine the corresponding limit of risk within 
the whole risk appetite and in accordance with the 
business strategy of the Company from time to time;

Risk limit is determined according to the Company’s 
operation strategy and decentralized for approval 
according to operational management levels, in 
which the total risk limit is approved by the Board of 
Directors. The Chief Executive Officer or authorized 
individual/unit is responsible for allocating risks 
to products and operations at lower level without 
exceeding the total risk limit;

The risk limit may be determined quantitatively (e.g. 
VAR value) or qualitatively (e.g. expert method) 
as recommended by the business unit or the risk 
management department but is always subject to the 
second line of defense’s valuation and independent 
assessment. These risk limits are periodically 
assessed in terms of reasonableness of limit value for 
further necessary and timely adjustments.

   Risk monitoring

Risks are periodically monitored for the purpose of 
timely assessment and early warning of potential risks 
to business operations.

An internal management reporting system has been 
built by VNDIRECT with a frequency consistent with 
the level of detail and urgency of reporting contents, 
risk materiality and human response. The reporting 
system must be sent to individuals and departments 
deemed suitable for receiving and making timely 
direction decisions, in accordance with the risk 
developments and business direction.

   Risk control

Risk is controlled on the risk appetite and the 
approved risk limit corresponding to each business 
operation.

VNDIRECT offers measures for prevention, reduction 
and timely treatment of risks in compliance with 
the provisions of the law, risk limits and provide 
mechanisms for supervision of these measures. All 
individuals and departments of VNDIRECT system 
are responsible for risk control according to specific 
functions and tasks specified in the Company’s 
internal management document system from time to 
time.

In 2020, the risk management work has been 
implemented by VNDIRECT with a number of key 
risks as follows:
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1. MARKET RISK
Market risk arises from adverse fluctuations of market 
factors (stock prices, commodity prices, interest 
rates, exchange rates) to the position of holding risk, 
thereby leading to the Company’s loss of capital or 
profit.

Market risks are potential for the following financial 
instruments and operations at VNDIRECT:

• Proprietary trading and stock investment: Risks 
from stock price fluctuations;

• Bond investment and trading: Risks from valuable 
paper price fluctuations (including direct fluctuations 
of listed bond price and interest rate fluctuations for 
other types of bonds and valuable papers);

• Market-related operations: Risk from interest rate 
and exchange rate fluctuations;

• Margin lending: Risks from stock price fluctuations 
and collateral price fluctuations deriving from 
commodity prices, interest rates, exchange 
rates, etc. (if any)

Market risk at VNDIRECT is measured through the 
basic risk measurement tools, including but not 
limited to:

• Risk status: Valuable papers status, foreign 
currency position, etc.

• Portfolio returns: including realized profits 
and revalued profits at market value for the 
most accurate and timely reflection of market 
fluctuation impact on the held portfolio status;

• PV01 – Present value of 1 basis point: 
Measurement of market value fluctuation of 
the portfolio (bond portfolio, etc.) if the market 
interest rate fluctuates by 0.01%;

• VAR – Value at Risk: Measurement of maximum 
portfolio loss over a given period of time with a 
predetermined confidence interval;

• Volatility of market risk factors for further use 
in development and adjustment of defense 
strategies. For example, with a portfolio of 
covered warrants, the volatility of underlying 
securities price is considered an important factor 
for calculation of warrant price; 

• Other market risk measurement tools: Greek 
letters, ∆NII, Duration, etc. 

• Risk limits are set by VNDIRECT on the basis of an 
analysis of VNDIRECT’s set of risk measurement 

indicators, business strategies and risk appetite. 
The Company’s established limit of market risk 
includes but is not limited to:

• Status limit;

• Loss limit, including loss warning thresholds;

• Holding time limit

Market risk management is implemented by 
VNDIRECT according to a three-line defense model. 
The Risk management and internal control division 
is responsible for coordinating with business and 
operational units during the development of internal 
documents (rules, regulations, decisions, processes, 
instructions) clearly specifying risk measurement 
method, management reporting system and 
frequency, risk limit and authorization decentralization, 
functions and tasks of all levels and units in VNDIRECT 
for risk market management. 

In addition, VNDIRECT enhances its staffs’ professional 
skills through intensive training programs, on-the-job 
training and external courses. 2. CREDIT RISK

Credit risk arises when customers fail to perform or are 
unable to perform part or all of their debt obligations 
under contracts or agreements with VNDIRECT.

The following operations of VNDIRECT have potential 
credit risks:

• Bond investment, valuable papers investment, 
deposit contracts (financial investment activities); 

• Margin lending;

Credit risk is managed by VNDIRECT according to 
the three-line defense model based on the nature of 
the business and the level of risk of each transaction. 
The Risk management and internal control division 
is responsible for coordinating with business and 
operational units in developing a set of internal 
documents that clearly define measurement method, 
risk limits, reporting system and frequency compatible 
with each product. Credit risk management for the two 
main following activities is conducted by VNDIRECT 
as follows:

• Financial investment: Due to investments of great 
value, VNDIRECT attaches special importance to 
customer assessment and thorough investment 
profile in the following aspects: Reputation of the 
issuer (according to the credit rating model, based 
on actual surveys, available information network, 

etc.), collateral valuation (under the advanced 
valuation models to apply the equivalent discount 
rate or loan amount), corporate financial records 
and sources of for debt service payments. In 
addition, VNDIRECT has a relatively low risk 
appetite for this operation when its partners 
are reputable organizations in the market such 
as VCB, BIDV, MBB, TCB, VIB, etc. (for credit 
institutions) or DXG, HDG… (for enterprises). The 
corresponding limits and tools are given by the 
Company for the purpose of risks mitigation such 
as status limit, loan-to-collateral limit, and limits 
on corporate financial records, tracking before 
and after disbursement, etc.

• Margin lending: Each customer must undergo 
the customer identification procedures (KYC) 
when coming to VNDIRECT for the purpose of 
reputation assessment. Margin lending is the 
core activity of a securities company subject to 
risk minimization through the establishment of 
monitoring indicators, risk limits as required by the 
SSC and according to VNDIRECT’s risk appetite, 
including but not limited to: Total loan limit; Loan 
limit by customer, stock code, industry; margin 
rate threshold and corresponding handling 
measures; loan portfolio evaluation under the 
Company’s internal models (DRATING) and risk 
appetite.
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3. SETTLEMENT RISK

ettlement risk occurs when any partner fails to 
perform or is unable to perform a part or all payment 
obligation on time or fails to perform assets transfer 
as committed to VNDIRECT.

It comes from the partner’s settlement position 
unfavorable to the initial open position (loss of position) 
or the partner’s inability to make payments due to 
internal problems. Settlement risk at VNDIRECT 
is measured by both qualitative and quantitative 
methods, specifically:

• Qualitative method: Analysis and appraisal of 
customers/partners as a basis for evaluating their 
reputation and reliability;

• Quantitative method: Reliance on the measurement 
of historical data on payment scale of each financial 
product/operation, collateral value, etc., in order to 
evaluate the Company’s risks.

With reference to the qualitative and quantitative 
analysis, the materiality of financial products, 
VNDIRECT builds limits of settlement  risks including: 
partner limit, product limit, etc. 

Settlement risk management is implemented by 
VNDIRECT according to a three-line defense model. 
The Risk management and internal control division 
is responsible for coordinating with business and 
operational units in developing a set of internal 
documents that clearly define measurement 
method, risk limits, reporting system and frequency 
compatible with each product. The Company sets 
out internal rules on customer credit rating as well as 
quality of collateral in its portfolio of products subject 
to payment risk.

4. LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk occurs when VNDIRECT fails to fulfill 
due financial obligations, or is able to perform those 
obligations but at a cost higher than the average 
market cost stemming from the need to mobilize 
new capital at high costs or the inability to convert 
a financial instrument into cash with fair value in the 
short term due to lack of market liquidity.

It stems from the fact that VNDIRECT’s cash inflow 
does not fully satisfy the cash outflow, or in other 
words, the cash flow imbalance in the balance sheet 
structure. Liquidity risk is measured through the 

following main tools:
• Static gap: This tool measures any difference 

between cash inflows and cash outflows on 
different maturity scales based on the static 
balance sheet structure, thereby assessing the 
current exposure to liquidity risk;

• Dynamic gap: This tool is similar to the static gap 
but takes into account adjusted factors such as 
future resource use plan, potential disbursement 
commitments/limits, prepayment behavioral 
factor, etc.

• Liquidity buffer: This tools measures the liquidity 
buffer value of assets that can be converted into 
cash in the short term to fulfill the Company’s 
payment obligations, for example: Government 
bonds, usable credit line, high liquidity stocks, 
etc.

• For the purpose of actively coping with possible 
situations, there are scenarios about hypothetical 
liquidity stress and offset ability for lack of liquidity;

• There are some other criteria for measuring such 
as: Liquidity gap to liabilities, average maturity of 
assets to average maturity of liabilities, etc.

According to potential liquidity risks measurement 
results, the necessary liquidity risk limits according 
to the risk needs and appetite are set by VNDIRECT 
from time to time.

Liquidity risk management is implemented by 
VNDIRECT according to a three-line defense 
model. A system of internal documents for liquidity 
risk management is developed and issued by the 
Company to ensure the optimal identification, 
measurement, monitoring and control of liquidity risk.

The liquidity risk management is carried out on 
daily basis. The Company’s units are responsible 
for maintaining interactive channels and close 
coordination in reporting sources, registering plans on 
use of resources as well as sending market warnings 
in order to balance cash flows in the most effective 
way and minimize the liquidity loss risk;

VNDIRECT also implements the strategy of diversifying 
assets and capital portfolios by constantly looking for 
third-party’s capital sources to reinforce the liquidity 
buffer, increasing the ability to cope with liquidity 
stress situations;

5. LEGAL RISK

Legal risk arises from failure to comply with legal 
regulations related to business activities and contract 
cancellation due to contract invalidation, transgression 
of authority, lack of terms or incomplete of standards, 
or other reasons.

This is the type of risk with significant impact on the 
business operations. For this type of risk, VNDIRECT 
has established the Legal and Compliance 
Department in charge of providing legal advice for 
sales divisions, approving the introduction of new 
processes, products and services, conducting 
assumption analysis for a timely adjustment of plan. 
At the same time, the internal documents and signed 
contracts are reviewed in order to become consistent 
and compliant with the provisions of the law;

In addition, VNDIRECCT’s employees are constantly 
drawing experience from the risks arising internally 
and from external parties to make adjustments and 
upgrade legal risk management activities along with 
the consultation of independent inspection and audit 
teams.

6. OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk occurs due to technical errors, 
system and business process errors, human factors 
in the working process, external factors resulting in 
financial losses with negative non-financial impact on 
VNDIRECT.

All operations at the enterprise are subject to potential 
operational risks. During the operation of VNDIRECT, 
the main operational risks include: information 
security, conflicts of interest, transaction operations, 
human resources, telecommunications infrastructure 
failure and third party providers, etc.

• Information security risk: The company has a 
system of decentralized access to customer 
account information along with customer 
authorization commitments for sales staff in 
account access and care as required by the 
customer. Any strange access will be carefully 
monitored at the same time a warning is given to 
the business risk control department. Employees 
with direct access to any customer information 
upon entering any departments must sign a 
commitment to confidentiality of customer 
information in order to raise the awareness of 
protection of customers’ interests and corporate 
reputation. At the same time, they are allowed to 

use virtual computers for recording any actions 
performed on business software and strictly 
controlling input and output data.

• Risk of conflict of interest between the company 
and its customers, among the sales staff, the 
company and its customers, in terms of equality 
of customers: At the request of the Company, 
each salesperson must sign a commitment not 
to conflict of interest and report any conflict 
with the compliance control department. Any 
potential risk associated with not reporting a 
conflict is considered a violation, which could 
lead to resignation.. 

• Information security and intellectual property 
risk: There are a number of departments 
that get access to the company’s know-how 
and intellectual property, such as technology 
department, product development department, 
quality control department, and business policy 
department. Staff of these departments are 
trained in the sense of protecting collective 
intellectual property and required to sign a 
commitment against direct competition upon 
transition-to-work.

• Human resources risk due to sale staff’s or 
professional staff’s act of intentional abuse of 
trust: All business processes or operations are 
separated according to the tripartite principle, 
namely maker - checker - balance to ensure 
the independence between the maker and the 
checker. This principle is applied to all business 
process designs and corporate operations 
including sales, system accounting to support 
and control.

• Risk of telecommunications infrastructure failure 
and third -party providers: System failure may 
arise from an unstable transmission line between 
the Company and two Stock exchanges, 
affecting the transmission of orders to the order 
recognition system; from errors in the reporting 
system, leading to lack of information and delay 
in risk warning. Therefore, the Company must 
regularly check its Core system, order placing 
system, load test and measurement system, 
maintenance service policy of external suppliers, 
etc., for the system stability and smoothness; in 
addition to the investment in building backup site 
to ensure the system’s stability and continuity at 
the highest level.
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN IN 2021 
In the context of complicated and potentially risky 
fluctuations of the macroeconomic environment 
in 2021 as forecast, VNDIRECT will continue to 
implement its prudent risk management policies, with 
a focus on resources to perfecting risk identification, 
control and prevention capacities. Specific plans 
have been set out by the Board of Management 
to improve VNDIRECT’s risk business capacity in 
various areas of operations such as margin lending 
and investment lending, capital trading, dealing in 
bonds and stocks.

• A comprehensive set of risk appetite and limits 
will be completed for the purpose of controlling 
and calculating the company’s risk factors 
under all market conditions.

• The sales team may be provided with fast and 
accurate due diligence tools that enhance the 
capacity and speed of decision-making through 
the perfection of risk assessment capabilities, 
digitalization of analytical and scoring platform 
for stock rating, credit rating and customer 
rating as well as market opportunities and risks. 

• An automatic warning system will be completed 
for margin lending. 

• A compliance risk monitoring tool between the 
salespeople’s commitment to customers will 
be included to ensure that client’s interests are 
implemented at the highest level. 

• There will be a focus on professional training, 
communication about compliance culture, and 
raising awareness of risk management for each 
employee in the Company.

• The data center will be continually developed 
to meet growing demand, along with 
improvement in the availability and continuity 
of information technology systems to fully meet 
the Company’s business requirements and 
executive management.

• The data leak prevention (DLP) solution will be 
deployed to protect confidential information, 
internal information and intellectual property of 
the Company.

• he backup data center’s capacity will be 
enhanced, along with periodic practice in order 
to ensure continuous operation of the IT system 
when the main data center system fails.



6 .  S U S TA I N A B L E  D E V E L O P M E N T  R E P O R T

71

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT REPORT

SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT REPORT

FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS01.

FOR THE EMPLOYEES02.

FOR THE CUSTOMERS

FOR THE REGULATORY

FOR THE SOCIETY

03.

04.

05.

06.

06.

FOR THE STOCK MARKET AND THE INVESTMENT COMMUNITY



6 .  S U S TA I N A B L E  D E V E L O P M E N T  R E P O R T

73

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT REPORT

Starting from the vision of becoming an extremely simple investment service ecosystem for everyone in 
everywhere and creation of financial health and peaceful mind in for customers, VNDIRECT offers business 
strategies as well as implements its business activities with close connection to the sustainable development 
and social responsibility strategies.

It is determined by VNDIRECT that all activities are related to and influence on the internal and external entities, 
including: Customers, Employees, Shareholders/Investors, Regulatory agencies and Market. As committed 
by VNDIRECT, the implementation of business activities and formulation of long-term strategies all give a full 
assessment of extent of influence and ensure benefits for stakeholders.

Inside the 
Company

Outside the 
company

 - To work in an environment with full facilities, supportive 
platforms, access to learning and development opportunities 
to find out personal career development path.
 - To be entitled to full rights, benefits and income
 - To have promotion opportunities

 - Customers are the central factor in all of VNDIRECT’s 
business decisions, product development activities, service 
processes, and technology platforms.
 - As a provider of financial products and services, asset 
management consulting, VNDIRECT offers prestigious 
commitments to service quality, demonstrating objectivity 
in giving advice and analysis recommendations, together 
with transparency and safety in asset management and 
information provision for the customers’ investment decisions

 - VNDIRECT fully complies with the law
 - Tax obligations and other payables to the State Budget are 
fully complied with
 - Business development is carried out in accordance with the 
State’s orientation

 - VNDIRECT is a pioneer, actively making proposals on stock 
market development to build a transparent and safe market.
 - Knowledge sharing and building an investment community 
in long-term, sustainable development

 - Strict compliance with socio-economic laws
 - Orientation training for the new generation of staffs, giving 
knowledge and opportunities
 - Involvement in activities for contributions to the society and 
charity

Stakeholders

Employees

Shareholders/
Investors

Customers

Regulatory 
agency

Society

Stock market/
Investment 
community

Details of 
stakeholders

Sustainable development 
objectives

 - Business operations and efficient use of capital  
 - VNDIRECT’s commitment to equality and interests of all 
shareholders
 - Provision of transparent and timely information 

1. FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS 
Sustainable economic growth

During 14 years of establishment, companionship and development with Vietnam’s stock market, VNDIRECT 
is proud to be one of the leading reputable securities companies with continuous sudden changes to adapt to 
the market conditions. By overcoming challenges from the economy in 2020, VNDIRECT still achieves growth 
and business results exceeding the business targets adopted by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

The company has maintained a stable return on 
equity (ROE) and was one of the companies with the 
highest ROE in the market in 2020, reaching 18%, 
an increase of 51.3% compared to 2019 (11.9%) 
demonstrating the efficiency in investment capital use 
as well as a testament to VNDIRECT’s sustainable 
competitive advantage compared to other securities 
companies in the market.

In addition to using capital and operating effectively, 
ensuring economic benefits for shareholders and 
investors, VNDIRECT also shows its focus on 
policies that ensure other interests of shareholders 
regarding the right to vote at the General Meeting 

of Shareholders, the right to participate in decisions 
related to material changes of the Company, the 
right to equal treatment and the right to access 
transparent and timely information. The investors and 
shareholders are facilitated to access information 
of VND from a variety of communication channels 
including website, email, annual reports, customer 
and investor conferences and other social platforms 
aimed at ensuring the timeliness and reliability 
of information. Information is available in both 
English and Vietnamese so that foreign investors/
shareholders also have full access to information.

No.

1

2

3

Target

Brokerage market 
share

Consolidated revenue

Consolidated profit 
after tax

Plan

Growth compared 
to 2019

VND 1,865 billion

VND 405 billion

Result

7,19%

VND 2,134 billion

VND 692 billion

%

Increasing by 5.58% 
compared to 2019 (VND 

brokerage market share at 
6.81% in 2019)

14.4% higher than the plan

70.9% higher than the plan

 Source: VSD, Financial Statements
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At VNDIRECT, all products and services from R&D, 
design and operation are evaluated and researched 
based on data from customer needs analysis, 
application of highest levels of technology and 
automation during operations to create the best 
customer experience when those products are 
delivered to the customers. In 2020, VNDIRECT 
launched the DGO account opening service with an 
online customer verification process - eKYC at which 
the customers may complete the account opening 
and engage in any transaction of VNDIRECT’s 
investment financial products and services in the 
shortest time. For those being professional securities 
investors in the market, VNDIRECT launches a new 
platform for in-depth analysis of stocks and markets, 
named DSTOCK - a leading knowledge portal and 
search tool for investors. Accordingly, the investors 
will be continuously updated with information and 

indexes on the stock market, corporate information 
as well as market news both domestically and 
internationally, while customers will receive the 
best support for their investment decision-making 
process.
In 2020, VNDIRECT has devoted plenty of resources 
to completing the digitalization phase of the entire 
process of financial products and services, securities 
investment and trading. The customers may access 
VNDIRECT’s product and service platform on its 
digital platform such as MyAccount, the web-version 
multi-asset trading platform and mobile devices. 
Their requests from account management to 
transactions may be handled quickly through 
automating the operation processes that meet the 
needs of customers as quickly as possible as well 
as ensuring the information confidentiality.

4. FOR THE STOCK MARKET AND 
THE INVESTMENT COMMUNITY

During 20 years of establishment and development of 
Vietnam’s securities, VNDIRECT has always fulfilled 
all obligations as a member of the stock market 
and listed public companies, as well as an active 
and pioneering member in the market development 
process, with contributions to the process of building 
new products and services, amending the securities 
law, and for the sustainable market development. 

As an intermediary financial institution and a capital 
channel for the economy, VNDIRECT always makes 
great efforts in connecting domestic businesses with 
domestic and foreign investors through consulting 
products and services as well as financial investment 
together with strengths in technology solutions 

as well as a wide network of financial institutions, 
thereby contributing to the establishment of a capital 
channel, mobilization of long-term capital sources for 
the economy, clearing of resources and promotion of 
economic development.

In 2020, VNDIRECT was honored to receive noble 
awards from Hanoi Stock Exchange for positive 
contributions to stock market operations for the period 
of 2019-2020. During 14 years of establishment, 
operation and development, VNDIRECT has always 
been on the list of one of the leading securities 
companies in the market in terms of market share. 
This contributes to further affirm our vision for 
sustainable development, product and service quality 
as well as customer trust given to VNDIRECT during 
the market development period.

2. FOR THE EMPLOYEES  
Policies on human resource development towards 
sustainable development

Human resource management and development 
goals at VNDIRECT are always associated with the 
company’s sustainable development objectives. 
At VNDIRECT, employees are given genuine job 
opportunities as well as open opportunities to 
challenge themselves. Each of them is provided 
with equal conditions for learning, training and 
developing their own capabilities. In addition, each 
individual working at VNDIRECT receives attention, 

training and orientation for finding his or her own 
career development path, affirming his or her value 
in the value chain brought to  customers and the 
Company.

Human resource is a factor in the value chain created 
by VNDIRECT to bring benefits to customers. 
Training and developing human resources are 
recognized by VNDIRECT as an extremely important 
factor with a focus on investment. Training courses 
are regularly organized to provide and continuously 
improve professional knowledge, professional skills 
and professional ethics for the staff.

VNDIRECT always encourages the learning and 
self-training culture in each individual in the team 
by providing his or her with online training platforms 
for easy access to professional knowledge, system 
of procedures and guiding documents as well as 
training new skills in the digital age, responding to 
the constant change of market and VNDIRECT’s 
development strategy. 
The employees are assured of their income and 
benefits commensurate with their contribution to the 
Company. VNDIRECT, with its clear and transparent 
policies, brings to employees the material and spiritual 
values they deserve. Also, VNDIRECT commits 
to ensure the policies and legitimate interests of 
employees as well as strictly complying with legal 
regulations, participating in health insurance and 
social insurance.
In addition to being facilitated with opportunities in 
the profession as well as economic benefits, the 
Employees are provided with working facilities, 
tools, and supporting platforms that are sufficient 
and continuously improved to match the Company’s 
digitization strategy and ensure the improvement in 
labor efficiency.
 

3. FOR THE CUSTOMERS 
Customer is the central factor in the value chain 
that creates products and services of VNDIRECT

VNDIRECT provides individual customers, corporate 
customers and financial institutions both local and 
abroad with a variety of financial investment service 
product platforms with a vision to become an 
extremely simple investment service ecosystem for 
everyone in everywhere. 

When recognizing that investment needs are 
becoming increasingly essential and a necessary skill 
under rapidly changing socio-economic conditions, 
VNDIRECT’s mission is to help customers formulate 
a financial plan and investment journey towards 
financial freedom. In addition to the diversified 
investment and financial service product platform 
flexibly designed and suitable for each customer, 
VNDIRECT also focuses on sharing and providing 
investment knowledge for both existing customers 
and potential customers in order to create a 
sustainable investment community.

Mode of study

Orientation training for employees

Connection for employees

Workshop on sharing and updating 
business operation strategy

Skills in mindfulness practice

Number of
training sessions

55

8

4

12

Number of participants

3,209

891

260

344
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6. FOR THE SOCIETY 
Social responsibility is one of the values that 
VNDIRECT cares about through charity activities and 
social security. 

During the period with extremely complicated 
developments of Covid-19 pandemic affecting all 
aspects of life, VNDIRECT has joined hands to donate 
financial resources under the permissible conditions 
to establish the VND Heart Fund to support the 
pandemic control unit, the front-line medical unit as 
well as those in difficult circumstances due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic.

The storm and flood season in 2020 made the 
Central regions of Vietnam sunk in white flood. That 
flood caused serious human and material losses, 
making people here suffer a lot of pain. In order to 
support the people of Central Vietnam in coping 

with natural disasters, the program “LOVE FROM 
HEART” initiated by HOMEFOOD COMPANY 
officially called for support from the collective staff of 
VNDIRECT. Supporting items (cash, clothes, food, 
etc.) were delivered to the difficult circumstances by 
VNDIRECT’s relief team.

After 4 continuous and urgent relief trips, VNDIRECT 
has brought to the LOVE FROM HEART Fund more 
than VND 150 million and organized the VNDIRECT 
MARATHON 2020 runway with a contribution of 
VND 80 million donated to the people in the Central 
Vietnam. Besides, more than 5,000 sets of supporting 
items including cash, rice, sticky rice cakes, blankets, 
clothes, medicine, necessities, etc., were given by 
the relief team to people in Phong Dien, Quang Dien 
districts (Thua Thien Hue province), Huong Hoa, 
Dakrong, Hai Lang district (Quang Tri province), Ba 
To district (Quang Ngai province), etc.

5. FOR THE REGULATORS
VNDIRECT has always fully fulfilled its tax obligations and other payables to the State Budget since 
its establishment 

 Accounts payable to the State budget from 2015-2020:

In addition to strictly and fully complying with 
the State’s regulations on business and other 
relevant regulations, VNDIRECT shows its active 
contributions to building legal documents on the 
securities market, enhancing these documents’ 
practicality and efficiency, along with active 
participation in building new products on the 
market, including the draft Circular replacing the 
Circular No. 87/2017/TT-BTC, the draft Decree 

detailing the implementation of a number of 
articles in the law on securities, the draft Decree 
guiding derivative securities, participation in the 
trial implementation of parity-lot trading units 
with Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange as well 
as actively participating in the contribution to the 
overall market development. VNDIRECT is also an 
active member of Securities Trading Association, 
Vietnam Bond Market Association, etc.

Year
Amount paid

2015
45.3

2016
40.9

2017
99.3

2018
64.9

2019
97.9

2020
164.1

 Unit: VND billion
(Sources from VNDIRECT’s Audited Consolidated Financial Statements)
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Resolutions/Decisions of the Board of Directors
In 2020, the following resolutions and decisions were issued by the Board of Directors:

1. REPORT OF THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
Activities of the Board of Directors 

In the spirit of complying with the Decree no. 71/2017/
ND-CP dated June 06th, 2017 guiding corporate 
governance applicable to public companies, the 
Board of Directors is established with 05 members 
for the term office of 2017 - 2022, including 02 
independent members. BOD members are qualified 
with deep expertise in many fields such as finance, 
securities, investment and business management. 

In 2020, the Board of Directors has effectively 
brought into play its directing and executive role in 
directing and building business plans with a focus on 
digital transformation and business capacity building 
in three core business axes. Furthermore, the Board 
has advised the Board of Management in making 
business strategies, investment plans, development 
solutions to further consolidate VNDIRECT’s position 
in the stock market. 
Activities of the Board of Directors in 2020: 

 - Successful organization of the 2020 Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders: 01 Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders was convened 
by the Board of Directors on June 30th, 2020 
with consultation to the General Meeting of 
Shareholders on matters falling under the 
authority of the General Meeting of Shareholders, 
including the following: 

• Approval of report on activities of the Board of 
Directors; 

• Approval of report of the Board of Directors on 
business results in 2019 and business plan for 
2020; 

• Approval of report on activities of the Board of 
Supervisors;

• Approval of 2019 audited financial statements;  

• Approval of 2019 profit distribution; 

• Approval of selection of auditing firm and review 
of 2019 financial statements;

• Approval of remuneration for the Board of 
Directors and the Board of Supervisors; 

• Approval of policies of bonus and additional 
business salary for the Board of Management 
and key staff of the Company; 

• Approval of amendment and supplementation to 
a number of articles of the Charter; 

• Approval of amendment and supplementation 
to a number of articles of corporate governance 
regulations; 

• Approval of covered warrants offering; 

• Approval of dismissal of BOD members; 

• Election of additional BOD members; 

he 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
was held according to the order and regulations 
of the Law on Enterprises, VNDIRECT’s Charter 
of organization and operation as well as other 
relevant regulations for listed companies. The 
Board of Directors has provided timely direction and 
supervision to the Directors implementing issues 
approved under the 2020 Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders’ Resolution. 

- Regular and extraordinary meetings of the Board 
of Directors: There were meetings held by the Board 
of Directors in 2020 with the full participation of BOD 
members to discuss, exchange, agree and resolve 
issues related to the organization and operation of the 
Company. Such meetings were held in accordance 
with the Charter and the Law on Enterprises.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

No.

19/2020/
QD- HDQT

65-4/2020/
NQ-HDQT

66/2020/
QD-HDQT

85/2020/
QD-HDQT

118-2/2020/
QD-HDQT

118-3/2020/
QD-HDQT

166/2020/
QD-HDQT

215/2020/
QD-HDQT

261-3/2020/
NQ-HDQT

310/2020/
QD- HDQT 

398-2/2020/
QD-HDQT 

406/2020/
QD-HDQT 

523-3/2020/
NQ-HDQT 

599/2020/
NQ- 

VNDIRECT

Resolution/
Decision no.

Decision on change of Chief Executive Officer. 

Resolution on approving the Board of Directors’ 
report on 2019 business results and work plan for 

2020. 

Decision on approval of concluding consulting 
service contracts between the company and Post 
and Telecommunication Joint Stock Insurance 
Corporation (PTI) and Bac Ha Energy Joint Stock 
Company. 

Decision on organization of 2020 Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders. 

Decision on dismissal of Chief Accountant of the 
Company. 

Decision on appointment of Acting Chief 
Accountant of the Company

Decision on conclusion of Service contracts with 
I.P.A Investment Group Joint Stock Company

Decision on organization of 2020 Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders . 

Resolution on approving the Board of Directors’ 
report on performance for the first 5 months of 
2020; approval of agenda and documents of the 
2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

Decision on payment of dividends to 
shareholders. 

Decision on promulgating information security 
regulations of VNDIRECT Securities Joint Stock 
Company

Decision on promulgating regulations on functions, 
tasks and organization and operation of departments 
of VNDIRECT Securities Joint Stock Company. 

Resolution on approving the Board of Directors’ report 
on performance for the first 9 months of 2020.

Resolution on redemption of bonds under private 
placement in phase III and phase IV 2019.

ContentDate

January 14th, 
2020

February 24th, 
2020

February 25th, 
2020

March 12th, 
2020

March 31st, 
2020

March 31st, 
2020

April 14th, 
2020

May 19th,  
2020

June 12th, 
2020

July 06th,   
2020

August 24th, 
2020

August 31st, 
2020

October 19th, 
2020

November 27th, 
2020

Adoption 
rate 

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Supervision of executive activities of Directors 

In 2020, VNDIRECT’s Board of Directors has 
continued improving the supervision, guidance and 
direction over the Directors for the purpose of properly 
and fully implementing resolutions and decisions 
adopted by the General Meeting of Shareholders and 
the Board of Directors, at the same time devoting 
time to exchanging and discussing with the Board of 
Directors for further promotion of business activities 
on the basis of strictly complying with the Charter, 
Regulations and relevant provisions of laws. 

When looking back on results of 2020, the Board 
of Directors has appreciated the Directors’ role with 
respect to any achievements. Business activities 
of the Company have been run by the Directors in 
accordance with the objectives, orientations and 
directions of the Board of Directors, contributing 
to the benefits gained by the Company and all 
shareholders and continued consolidation of the 
Company’s position in the stock market.

Activities of subcommittees directly under the Board of Directors 

The subcommittees’ responsibilities and duties under the Board of Directors are specified in the Charter and 
Corporate Governance Regulations. In addition to general activities of the Board of Directors, the Subcommittees 
are closely organized and operate for the purpose of optimizing resources in each area as follows:

In charge of independent assessment of suitability and compliance 
with the laws, the Charter, the General Meeting of Shareholders’ 
decisions, the Board of Directors’ decisions/regulations; 
inspection and assessment of business compliance with internal 
policies, regulations and processes; inspection and assessment 
of compliance with legal regulations, control of property safety 
measures; inspection, review and evaluation of internal control 
system’s adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness under the Board 
of Directors; advising the formulation of internal policies and 
procedures; inspection and assessment of process of identifying, 
assessing and managing business risks; examination and 
evaluation of activities’ effectiveness; assessment of compliance 
with contractual commitments; inspection and investigation of 
violations within the company; performance of other tasks related 
to compliance control, internal audit of the company (including 
subsidiaries) according to the law, the Charter and the Regulations 
issued by the Board of Directors..
In charge of research, development, and promulgation of the 
Company’s risk management strategies, policies, regulations, and 
processes from time to time; Approval and issuance of regulations, 
rules, sets of criteria, decentralization of management and approval 
of risks, parameters and risk management models of the Company’s 
products; Determination of the Company’s execution policy and 
risk tolerance; method of risk identification and measurement; risk 
monitoring, prevention, detection and treatment; Reporting on the 
implementation of risk management of the Company.
In charge of advising the Board of Directors on issues related 
to the Company’s human resource management; Decision on 
personnel strategies from time to time; approval of personnel 
policies, compensation and welfare regimes for employees of the 
Company; Approval of programs aimed at developing resources 
of the Company; acting on behalf of the Board of Directors to 
decide on the recruitment, appointment, dismissal, and discipline 
of managerial staff within the authority of the Board of Directors 
and or the Chairman of the Board of Directors (officers specified in 
Article 23 of the Corporate Governance Regulation; implementation 
of other powers and duties in accordance with the Charter and 
Resolutions/Regulations issued by the Board of Directors.
In charge of analysis of financial situation, investment objectives, 
advising the Board of Directors on matters related to the Company’s 
investment activities; Decision on the allocation of the Company’s 
investment assets within its jurisdiction; Management, issuance 
of policies and approval of the Company’s investment limit, short-
term and/or long-term investment securities portfolio; Decision on 
plan, investments not in the business plan and budget approved 
by the Board of Directors on a case by case basis; Decision of 
capital contribution or purchase and sale of capital contribution in 
enterprises, purchase and sale of listed securities (excluding short-
term proprietary trading); Performance of indemnity guarantee, 
underwriting operation; performance of other powers and duties in 
accordance with the Charter and Resolutions/Regulations issued 
by the Board of Directors.

Content

Internal Audit Board 
(Compliance Control 
Board)

Subcommittee

Risk Management Council

Investment Council

Human Resources 
Council

No.

1

2

3

4
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2. REPORT OF THE BOARD OF         
SUPERVISORS

Activities of the Board of Supervisors in 2020

The Board of Supervisors has properly implemented 
duties and powers according to the functions and 
duties specified in the Charter, complied with 
provisions of the Law on Enterprises, including 
checking the reasonableness, compliance with 
regulations of business activities, inspection of 
financial statements in the fiscal year 2020.

In 2020, the Board of Supervisors’ regular and 
extraordinary meetings were held, including:

3. 3. STOCK INFORMATION AND TRANSACTION

Information on VND shares as at December 31st, 2020

• The Company’s authorized capital: VND 2,204,301,690,000 (Two thousand two hundred four billion three 
hundred one million six hundred and ninety thousand Vietnamese dongs). 

• Par value per share: VND 10,000/share

• Number of listed shares (as at December 31st, 2020): 220,430,169 shares.  

• Number of shares outstanding (as at December 31st, 2020): 208,220,766 shares.

• Treasury shares: 11,909,403 shares.

No.

Hoang Thuy Nga

Huynh Thanh Binh Minh

Nguyen Thi Minh Hanh

Member of Board of 
Supervisors

Number of 
meetings 
attended

Attendance 
rate

Voting
rate

Position

Head of Board of 
Supervisors

BOS member

BOS member

Starting date 
of being a BOS 

member

May 29th, 
2017

May 29th, 
2017

May 29th, 
2017

10

10

10

1.

2.

3.

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Supervisory activities for the Board of Directors 
and the Executive Board of the Company

In addition to regular meetings in the process of 
implementing its functions, the Board of Supervisors 
has devoted time participating in the meetings of the 
Board of Directors, Directors, and supervising and 
checking some of the following key areas:

• Supervising, evaluating the implementation 
of business plan as well as the Company’s 
compliance with the law, the Charter and the 
General Meeting of Shareholders’ resolutions. 
The Board of Directors has performed tasks 
according to the rights and obligations in 
accordance with the law, the General Meeting 
of Shareholders’ resolutions and the Charter. 
The Chief Executive Officer has complied with 
functions, duties and decentralization of the 
Board of Directors, and actively implemented 
resolutions of the General Meeting of 
Shareholders and the Board of Directors;

• Evaluating the implementation of the Company’s 

business plans directly, coordinating in a regular 
manner and giving requests for documents or 
working directly with the Board of Directors, 
management staff in order to collect sufficient 
information and data necessary.

• Observing and evaluating other activities of 
the Company in 2020, especially business 
campaigns, solution search programs and 
development projects of the Company;

Remuneration and benefits of the Board of 
Directors and the Board of Supervisors

 - Salary, bonus and remuneration regimes for 
members of the Board of Directors, Board of 
Supervisors, and Board of Management are 
applied according to the General Meeting of 
Shareholders’ resolutions and in accordance 
with the Company’s salary and bonus policy. 

 - Total salaries, bonuses and remuneration of 
members of the Board of Directors and Board of 
Supervisors in 2020:

No. Full name Position Total income 
(VND)

Pham Minh Huong

Vu Hien

Nguyen Hoang Giang

Pekka Mikael Nastamo

Pham Le Nhat Quang

Do Ngoc Quynh

1

2

3

4

5

6

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors

BOD member

BOD member

Independent BOD member

Independent BOD member

BOD member

84,000,000

84,000,000

42,000,000

84,000,000

84,000,000

42,000,000

Hoang Thuy Nga

Huynh Thanh Binh Minh

Nguyen Thi Minh Hanh

1

2

3

Head of Board of Supervisors

BOS member

BOS member

60,000,000

60,000,000

60,000,000

Board of Directors

Board of Supervisors
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STATEMENTS



08. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

89

MANAGEMENT 

Members of the Management during the year and at the date of this consolidated financial statements are: 

LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE
 
The legal representative of the Company during the year and at the date of this consolidated financial state-
ments was Ms. Pham Minh Huong, Chairman of the Board of Directors cum Chief Operational Officer.

AUDITORS

The auditors of the Company are Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited.

THE COMPANY

VNDIRECT Securities Corporation (“the Company”) is a joint stock company established under the Corporate 
Law of Vietnam according to Business Registration No. 0103014521 dated 7 November 2006 issued by Hanoi 
Department of Planning and Investment, Securities Trading License No. 101/UBCK-GP dated 31 December 
2007 and Amended License for Establishment and Operation of Securities Company No. 31/GPĐC-UBCK 
dated 22 May 2019 issued by the State Securities Commission.

The current principal activities of the Company are to provide brokerage service, securities trading, under-
writing for securities issues, custodian service, finance and investment advisory service and margin lending 
service. 

The Company’s charter capital as at 31 December 2020 was VND 2,204,301,690,000 (as at 31 December 
2019: VND 2,204,301,690,000).

The Company’s Head Office is located at 1 Nguyen Thuong Hien Street, Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi, Vietnam. 
As at 31 December 2020, the Company has branches located in Ho Chi Minh City, Da Nang, Vinh – Nghe An, 
Can Tho, Binh Duong, Nam Dinh and transaction offices located in Ho Chi Minh City and Hanoi.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had two subsidiaries, in which one (01) directly owned subsidiary and 
one (01) indirectly own subsidiary.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board of Directors during the year and at the date of this consolidated financial statements 
are:

BOARD OF SUPERVISION 

Members of the Board of Supervision during the year and at the date of this consolidated financial statements 
are:

Name

Ms. Pham Minh Huong
Mr. Vu Hien
Mr. Nguyen Hoang Giang
Mr. Pham Le Nhat Quang
Mr. Pekka Mikael Nastamo
Mr. Do Ngoc Quynh

Name

Mr. Do Ngoc Quynh
Ms. Pham Minh Huong
Ms. Pham Minh Huong
Ms. Vu Nam Huong
Mr. Nguyen Hoang Luong
Ms. Nguyen Thi Tuyen

Ms. Nguyen Thi Ha Ninh

Name

Ms. Hoang Thuy Nga
Ms. Nguyen Thi Minh Hanh
Ms. Huynh Thanh Binh Minh

Title

Chairman
Member
Member
Independent member 
Independent member
Member

Title

Acting General Director
General Director
Chief Operational Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Accountant
Acting Chief Accountant

Chief Accountant

Title

Head of the Board of Supervision
Member
Member  

Appointment/Resignation

Appointed on 11 November 2006
Appointed on 26 March 2009
Resigned on 1 July 2020
Appointed on 27 April 2016
Appointed on 18 April 2019
Appointed on 1 July 2020

Appointment 

Appointed on 21 April 2013
Appointed on 23 April 2015
Appointed on 28 April 2012

GENERAL INFORMATION  

Appointment/Resignation

Appointed on 15 January 2020
Resigned on 15 January 2020
Appointed on 15 January 2020
Appointed on 19 July 2017
Appointed on 28 September 2020
Appointed on 1 April 2020
Resigned on 28 September 2020
Resigned on 1 April 2020
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Management of VNDIRECT Securities Corporation (“the Company”) is pleased to present its report and the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 and for the 
year then ended.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
Management of the Company is responsible for the consolidated financial statements of each financial year 
which give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries 
and of the consolidated results of their operations, their consolidated cash flows and their consolidated 
changes in owners’ equity for the year. In preparing those consolidated financial statements, management is 
required to:

-   select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
-   make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
-   state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the consolidated financial statements; and
-   prepare the consolidated financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Company will continue in business.

Management is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclose, with 
reasonable accuracy at any time, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries 
and to ensure that the accounting records comply with the applied accounting system. It is also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of frauds and other irregularities.

Management confirmed that it has complied with the above requirements in preparing the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements.

STATEMENT BY MANAGEMENT 

Management does hereby state that, in its opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2020 and of the consolidated results of their operations, their consolidated cash flow and their 
consolidated statement of changes in owners’ equity for the year then ended in accordance with Vietnam-
ese Accounting Standards, Vietnamese Enterprise Accounting System, accounting guidance applicable 
to securities companies and the statutory requirements relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

Hanoi, Vietnam 
5 March 2021 

To:  The Shareholders of  
             VNDIRECT Securities Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated fi-
nancial statements of VNDIRECT Securities Corpo-
ration (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries as pre-
pared on 5 March 2021 and set out on pages 6 to 
82, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2020 and the 
consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
cash flow statement and the consolidated statement 
of changes in owners’ equity for the year then ended 
and the notes thereto.

Management’s responsibility 

Management of the Company is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these consolidat-
ed financial statements in accordance with Vietnam-
ese Accounting Standards, Vietnamese Enterprise 
Accounting System, accounting guidance applicable 
to securities companies and the statutory require-
ments relevant to the preparation and presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements, and for such 
internal control as management determines is nec-
essary to enable the preparation and presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our au-
dit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Viet-
namese Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The proce-
dures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, 

Reference No.: 61607706/22100168-HN

Dang Phuong Ha
Deputy General Director                                              
Audit Practising Registration
Certificate No. 2400-2018-004-1

Hanoi, Vietnam
16 March 2021 

Nguyen Van Trung                                                     
Auditor                                                          
Audit Practising Registration                               
Certificate No. 3847-2021-004-1

including the assessment of the risks of material mis-
statement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditors consider internal control 
relevant to the Company and its subsidiaries’ prepa-
ration and fair presentation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the ef-
fectiveness of the Company and its subsidiaries’ in-
ternal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall pre-
sentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

 
Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the 
consolidated financial position of the Company and 
its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020, and of the 
consolidated results of their operations, their consol-
idated cash flows and their consolidated changes in 
owners’ equity for the year then ended in accordance 
with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, Vietnamese 
Enterprise Accounting System, accounting guidance 
applicable to securities companies and the statutory 
requirements relevant to the preparation and presen-
tation of the consolidated financial statements. 

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Compa-
ny and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2019 were audited by another audit firm which 
expressed an unmodified opinion on those state-
ments on 30 March 2020. 

Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited Ms.
Chairwoman
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2020

Currency: VND

Code ITEMS Notes Ending balance Beginning balance 
(restated)

   

100 A.  CURRENT ASSETS  13,218,965,736,101 11,333,001,133,368

110 I.  Financial assets 13,204,833,971,010 11,327,019,677,028

111 1. Cash and cash equivalents 5 973,526,887,674 718,755,635,704

111.1 1.1. Cash 887,704,080,066 716,755,635,704
111.2 1.2. Cash equivalents 85,822,807,608 2,000,000,000

112 2. Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss (FVTPL) 7.1 1,053,698,209,421 1,225,829,434,919

113 3. Held-to-maturity (HTM) invest-
ments 7.3 3,266,200,000,000 5,547,838,125,244

114 4. Loans 7.4 4,705,953,781,456 2,887,072,098,158

115 5. Available-for-sale (AFS) financial 
assets 7.2 2,963,437,667,357 783,059,553,715

116 6. Provision for impairment of finan-
cial assets and mortgaged assets 8 (71,941,573,394) (53,732,020,246)

117 7. Receivables 272,110,342,039 207,642,504,806

117.1  7.1. Receivables from disposal of 
financial assets 9 103,132,259,392 24,503,687,339

117.2
7.2. Receivables and accru-
als from dividend and interest 
income

9 168,978,082,647 183,138,817,467

117.4 7.2.1.Accruals for undue divi-
dend and interest income 168,978,082,647 183,138,817,467

118 8.  Advances to suppliers 9 28,682,411,877 5,232,852,538
122 9. Other receivables 9 18,188,741,009 9,984,706,619
129 10. Provision for doubtful receivables 9 (5,022,496,429) (4,663,214,429)

130 II.  Other current assets 10 14,131,765,091 5,981,456,340
131 1. Advances 2,026,345,183 1,986,563,697
133 2. Short-term prepaid expenses 1,287,241,282 1,025,410,390

134 3. Short-term deposits, collaterals 
and pledges 3,356,646,001 2,838,830,443

135 4. Deductible value added tax 30,971,290 16,415,475

136 5. Tax and other receivables from 
the State 114,236,335 114,236,335

137 6. Oher current assets 7,316,325,000 -

Currency: VND

Code ITEMS Notes Ending balance Beginning balance 
(restated)

 

200 B.  NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,757,118,576,000 348,730,719,553

210 I.  Long-term financial assets 1,542,991,011,200 116,566,174,695
212 1. Long-term investments 11 1,542,991,011,200 116,566,174,695

212.1 1.1. HTM investments 1,530,000,000,000 105,075,141,095
212.4 1.2. Other long-term invest-ments 12,991,011,200 11,491,033,600

220 II.  Fixed assets 44,263,758,743 56,499,199,521

221 1. Tangible fixed assets 12 34,270,071,770 41,921,375,951

222 1.1. Cost 113,460,955,260 108,480,518,260

223a 1.2. Accumulated depreciation (79,190,883,490) (66,559,142,309)

227 2. Intangible fixed assets 13 9,993,686,973 14,577,823,570

228 2.1. Cost 89,554,133,745 86,631,691,707

229a 2.2. Accumulated amort (79,560,446,772) (72,053,868,137)

240 III.  Construction in progress 14 7,272,564,445 2,852,943,020

250 IV.  Other long-term assets 162,591,241,612 172,812,402,317
252 1. Long-term prepaid expenses 15 13,326,573,913 19,196,599,974
253 2. Deferred income tax assets 16 18,494,128,402 19,788,798,902

254 3. Payment for Settlement Assistance 
Fund 17 20,000,000,000 20,000,000,000

255 4. Other non-current assets 18 96,240,576,102 96,870,960,625
256 5. Goodwill 20 14,529,963,195 16,956,042,816

270 TOTAL ASSETS 14,976,084,312,101 11,681,731,852,921
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Currency: VND

Code ITEMS Notes Ending balance Beginning balance 
(restated)

300 C.  LIABILITIES 11,156,839,754,591 8,433,730,494,847

310 I.  Current liabilities 11,040,183,675,876 8,028,214,064,428

311 1. Short-term borrowings and finan-
cial leases 21 9,458,280,000,000 6,553,608,086,436

312 1.1.Short-term borrowings 9,458,280,000,000 6,553,608,086,436
316 2. Short-term bonds issued 22 600,000,000,000 700,000,000,000

318 3. Payables for securities trading 
activities 23 413,365,510,220 513,386,234,368

320 4. Short-term trade payables 24 3,273,109,337 563,459,180

321 5. Short-term advances from custom-
ers 9,257,294,675 14,830,824,853

322 6. Statutory obligations 25 94,316,827,771 53,298,209,248
323 7. Payables to employees 17,601,169,486 3,706,278,186
324 8. Employee benefits 5,880,048,035 4,911,706,497
325 9. Short-term accrued expenses 26 46,410,143,983 62,924,952,518
327 10. Short-term unearned revenues 2,126,250,000 -   
329 11. Other short-term payables 27 378,753,388,146 106,542,003,149
331 12. Bonus and welfare fund 10,919,934,223 14,442,309,993
340 II.  Non-current liabilities 116,656,078,715 405,516,430,419

346 1. Long-term bonds issued 103,641,000,000 403,641,000,000

356 2. Deferred income tax liabilities 16 13,015,078,715 1,875,430,419

400 D.  OWNERS’ EQUITY 3,819,244,557,510 3,248,001,358,074

410 I.  Owners’ equity 3,819,244,557,510 3,248,001,358,074
411 1. Share capital 2,124,147,577,527 2,124,678,479,777

411.1 1.1. Capital contribution 2,204,301,690,000 2,204,301,690,000
411.1a a. Ordinary shares 2,204,301,690,000 2,204,301,690,000
411.2 1.2. Share premium 121,220,121,529 121,224,048,620
411.5 1.3. Treasury shares (201,374,234,002) (200,847,258,843)

414
2. Charter capital supplementary re-
serve 136,055,521,001 110,445,504,860

415 3. Operational risk and financial reserve 106,753,793,998 81,143,777,857

417 4. Undistributed profit 1,452,287,664,984 931,733,595,580
417.1 4.1. Realised profit 1,378,037,442,204 1,036,475,765,752
417.2 4.2. Unrealised profit 74,250,222,780 (104,742,170,172)

440 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND OWNERS’ EQUITY 14,976,084,312,101 11,681,731,852,921

Currency: VND

Code ITEMS Notes Ending balance Beginning balance 
(restated)

A. ASSETS OF THE COMPANY AND AS-
SETS MANAGED UNDER AGREEMENTS

004 Bad debts written-off (VND) 101,986,716,060 101,986,716,060

006 Outstanding shares (number of shares) 28.4 208,520,766 208,565,361

007 Treasury shares (number of shares) 28.4 11,909,403 11,864,808

008 Financial assets listed/registered for trading at 
Vietnam Securities Depository (“VSD”) of the 
Company (VND) 29.1 432,801,122,000 432,893,598,000

009 Non-traded financial assets deposited at VSD 
of the Company (VND) 29.2 174,310,000 4,350,000

010 Awaiting financial assets of the Compa-ny 
(VND) 29.3 10,282,980,200 456,354,506,000

012 Financial assets which have not been deposit-
ed at VSD of the Company (VND) 29.4 785,027,400,000 582,998,330,000

013 Entitled financial assets of the Company (VND) - -

014 Covered warrants (number of covered war-
rants) 12,203,350 9,008,770

B. ASSETS AND PAYABLES UNDER AGREE-
MENT WITH INVESTORS

021 Financial assets listed/registered for trading at 
VSD of investors (VND) 38,287,130,757,900 36,355,753,460,800

021.1 Unrestricted financial assets 29,169,649,431,800 30,273,992,257,100
021.3 Mortgaged financial assets 7,574,509,790,000 5,661,496,940,000
021.4 Blocked financial assets 275,744,000,000 100,631,610,000
021.5 Financial assets awaiting settlement 1,267,227,536,100 319,632,653,700

OFF-CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET ITEMS  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Currency: VND

Code ITEMS Notes Ending balance Beginning balance 
(restated)

   
B.  ASSETS AND PAYABLES UNDER   

AGREEMENT WITH INVESTORS 
      (continued)

022 Non-traded financial assets deposited at VSD 
of investors 479,383,940,000 717,384,940,000

022.1 Unrestricted and non-traded financial as-
sets deposited at VSD 470,493,200,000 692,315,920,000

022.2 Restricted and non-traded financial as-sets 
deposited at VSD 8,890,740,000 25,069,020,000

022.3 Mortgaged and non-traded financial as-sets 
deposited at VSD - -

023 Awaiting financial assets of investors 29.5 2,239,432,423,600 277,909,615,800
026 Investors’ deposits 5,129,070,691,548 1,454,312,340,839

027 Investors’ deposits for securities trading activi-
ties managed by the Company 29.6 2,926,707,059,592 1,073,908,391,700

028 Investor’s synthesizing deposits for se-curities 
trading activities 29.6 2,201,299,041,600 378,912,315,900

029 Investors’ deposits for clearing and set-tlement 
securities transactions 285,380,356 265,353,239

029.1 Domestic investors’ deposits for clearing 
and settlement securities transactions 150,878,470 179,154,519

029.2 Foreign investors’ deposits for clearing and 
settlement securities transactions 134,501,886 86,198,720

030 Deposits of securities issuers 29.7 779,210,000 1,226,280,000

031
Payables to investors - investors’ depos-its for 
securities trading activities man-aged by the 
Company

5,126,892,901,913 1,452,768,941,312

031.1
Payables to domestic investors for se-
cu-rities trading activities managed by the 
Company

4,968,031,666,208 1,360,923,746,349

031.2 Payables to foreign investors for securi-ties 
trading activities managed by the Company 158,861,235,705 91,845,194,963

OFF-CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET ITEMS (continued) OFF-CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET ITEMS (continued) 

Currency: VND

Code ITEMS Notes Ending balance Beginning bal-
ance (restated)

   

B.  ASSETS AND PAYABLES UNDER   
AGREEMENT WITH INVESTORS 

      (continued)

032 Payables to securities issuers 779,210,000 1,226,280,000

035 Dividend, bond principal and interest pay-ables 1,197,597,035 317,119,527

036 Investors’ escrow deposits at VSD 150,166,621,638 140,210,482,689

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Ms. Nguyen Khanh Ly
Preparer

Mr. Nguyen Hoang Luong
Chief Accountant 

Hanoi, Vietnam
5 March 2021

Ms.
Chairwoman
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT                                     
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Code ITEMS Notes Ending balance Beginning balance 
(restated)

I.  OPERATING INCOME

01 1. Gain from financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss (FVTPL) 776,389,278,604 279,673,321,665

01.1 1.1.Gain from disposal of financial as-sets at 
FVTPL 30.1 590,391,121,104 250,986,214,708

01.2 1.2. Gain/(loss) from revaluation of finan-cial 
assets at FVTPL 30.2 127,644,144,097 (1,372,538,765)

01.3 1.3. Dividend, interest income from fi-nancial 
assets at FVTPL 30.4 61,600,930,163 26,812,728,962

01.4 1.4. (Loss)/gain from revaluation of 
out-standing covered warrants payables (3,246,916,760) 3,246,916,760

02 2. Gain from held-to-maturity (HTM) in-vestments 30.4 381,018,448,651 396,374,282,365
03 3. Gain from loans and receivables 30.4 361,359,361,848 407,908,597,611

04 4. Gain from available-for-sale (AFS) fi-nancial 
assets 30.4 54,996,572,396 19,771,944,431

06 5. Revenue from brokerage services 478,193,414,913 335,409,939,972

07 6. Revenue from underwriting and issu-ance 
agency services 34,775,482,452 23,726,357,435

08 7. Revenue from securities investment advisory 
services 24,140,872,941 24,316,979,055

09 8. Revenue from securities custody services 13,845,345,002 12,904,794,156
10 9. Revenue from financial consulting 306,365,438 882,325,938
11 10. Revenue from other operating activities 32 9,503,679,503 5,321,227,949
20 Total operating revenu 2,134,528,821,748 1,506,289,770,577

II.  OPERATING EXPENSES

21 1. Loss from financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss (FVTPL) 289,858,456,088 98,651,048,060

21.1 Loss from disposal of financial as-sets 1.1. at 
FVTPL 30.1 356,862,446,309 96,998,876,999

21.2 1.2. Loss from revaluation of financial assets 
at FVTPL 30.2 (80,801,178,472) (222,603,048)

21.3 1.3. Transaction costs of acquisition of finan-
cial assets at FVTPL 25,494,191 1,874,774,109

21.4 1.4. Losses from revaluation of covered war-
rant payables 30.3 13,771,694,060 -

24
2. Provision expense for diminution in value and 
impairment of financial as-sets and doubtful 
debts and borrow-ing costs of loans 

31 18,496,012,368 34,061,302,931

27 3. Expenses for brokerage services 33 194,472,630,819 145,825,332,212
30 4. Expenses for securities custodian services 33 16,248,541,264 14,251,552,041
32 5. Other service fees 24,345,941,481 14,152,050,920
40 Total operating expenses 543,421,582,020 306,941,286,164

Code ITEMS Notes Ending balance Beginning balance 
(restated)

III.  FINANCE INCOME

42
1. Dividend from investment in sub-

sidiaries, associates and interest 
income from demand deposits

2,551,462,484 4,852,262,131

50 Total finance income 34 2,551,462,484 4,852,262,131

IV.  FINANCE EXPENSES

51 1. Loss from foreign exchange rate 
dif-ferences 2,990,681,598 3,152,293,051

52 2. Borrowing costs 368,827,899,540 436,245,477,652

60 Total finance expenses 35 371,818,581,138 439,397,770,703

61 V.    SELLING EXPENSE 382,218,368 -

62 VI.  GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE 
EXPENSES 36 358,013,790,271 309,408,701,929

70 VII.  OPERATING PROFIT 863,444,112,435 455,394,273,912

VIII. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES

71 Other income 70,295,442 26,832,041,932
72 Other expenses 1,449,581,550 3,248,941,320

80 Total other operating result 37 (1,379,286,108) 23,583,100,612
 

Currency: VND Currency: VND
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Code ITEMS Notes Ending balance Beginning balance 
(restated)

90 IX.  PROFIT BEFORE TAX 862,064,826,327 478,977,374,524

91 Realised profit 670,638,114,580 499,827,792,641
92 Unrealised profit/(loss) 191,426,711,747 (20,850,418,117)

100 X.  CORPORATE INCOME TAX (CIT) 
EXPENSES 38 169,297,945,912 96,828,734,592

100.1 Current CIT expense 38.1 156,863,627,116 100,940,673,376
100.2 Deferred CIT expense 38.2 12,434,318,796 (4,111,938,784)

200 XI. PROFIT AFTER TAX 692,766,880,415 382,148,639,932

300 XII.  OTHER COMPREHENSIVE GAIN/
(LOSS) AFTER TAX  - -

400 Total comprehensive income 692,766,880,415 382,148,639,932

500 XIII.  NET INCOME APPROPRIATED 
TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS 3,322 1,832

501 Basic earnings per share (VND/share) 3,322 1,832

Ms. Nguyen Khanh Ly
Preparer

Mr. Nguyen Hoang Luong
Chief Accountant 

Hanoi, Vietnam
5 March 2021

Currency: VND Currency: VND

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Code ITEMS Notes Current year
Previous year

(restated)
I.  CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

01 1.  Profit before tax 862,064,826,327 478,977,374,524
02 2.  Adjustments for: 409,961,134,125 492,684,262,416
03 Depreciation and amortisation 20,138,319,816 20,716,375,564
04 Additional of provisions 18,568,835,148 33,838,699,883
05 Unrealised loss from exchange rate difference - (535,741,671)
06 Interest expenses 368,827,899,540 436,245,477,652
09 Other adjustments 2,426,079,621 2,419,450,988
10 3.  Increase in non-monetary expenses (67,029,484,412) 1,372,538,765
11 Loss from revaluation of financial assets at FVT-

PL and loss from revaluation of covered warrants 
payables (67,029,484,412) 1,372,538,765

18 4. Decrease in non-monetary income (124,397,227,337) (3,246,916,760)
19 Gain from revaluation of financial assets at FVT-

PL and gain from revaluation of covered warrants 
payables (124,397,227,337) (3,246,916,760)

30 5. Operating income before changes in working 
capital 1,080,599,248,703 969,787,258,945

31 Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at FVTPL 363,557,937,247 (406,909,890,674)
32 Decrease/(increase) in HTM investments 856,713,266,339 (181,583,266,339)
33 Increase in loans (1,818,881,683,298) (304,597,792,031)
34 Increase in AFS financial assets (2,180,378,113,642) (396,028,651,474)
35 (Increase)/decrease in receivables from disposal 

of financial assets (78,628,572,053) 45,792,633,850
36 Decrease/(increase) in receivables and accruals 

for undue dividend and interest income 14,160,734,820 (104,391,129,475)
39 Increase in other receivables (31,668,149,564) (1,790,669,656)
40 Increase in other assets (7,243,537,521) (25,731,222,337)
41 (Increase)/decrease in payable expenses (exclud-

ing interest expenses) (3,831,062,947) 1,466,977,120
42 Decrease/(increase) in prepaid expenses 5,608,195,169 (8,478,742,842)
43 Current income tax paid (138,835,667,283) (78,926,809,123)
44 Interest expenses paid (381,511,645,128) (466,134,269,936)
46 (Decrease)/increase in payables to suppliers (97,311,073,991) 353,437,151,923
47 Increase in employee benefits 968,341,538 1,882,841,523
48 Increase/(decrease) in statutory obligation 22,990,658,690 (5,282,652,984)
49 Increase/(decrease) in payables to employees 13,894,891,300 (3,289,839,376)
50 Other increase in payables 265,241,729,069 114,217,655,684
60 Net cash flows used in operating activities (2,114,554,502,552) (496,560,417,202)

Ms.
Chairwoman
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CASH FLOWS FROM BROKERAGE AND TRUST ACTIVITIES OF CUSTOMERS

Code ITEMS Notes Current year
Previous year

(restated)

II.  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING AC-
TIVITIES 

61 Purchase and construction of fixed assets, 
investment properties and other long-term 
assets (12,322,500,463) (4,312,719,774)

62 Proceeds from disposal and sale of fixed 
assets, investment properties and other long-
term assets - 9,691,666

63 Cash payments for investment in subsid-
iaries, associates, joint ventures and other 
investments (1,499,977,600) (34,777,283,600)

64 Collections from investments in subsidiaries, 
associates, joint ventures and other invest-
ments - 25,286,250,000

70 Net cash flow used in investing activities (13,822,478,063) (13,794,061,708)

III.  CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING AC-
TIVITIES

71 Cash receipt from issuance of shares, capital 
contributed by shareholders 9,600,000 -

72 Repayment of capital contributed by share-
holders, repurchase of issued shares (540,502,250) (1,715,250)

73 Drawdown of borrowings 131,729,124,766,675 183,184,482,060,977

73.2 - Other borrowings 131,729,124,766,675 183,184,482,060,977

74 Repayment of borrowings (129,224,452,853,111) (182,766,675,072,848)

74.3 - Other repayment of borrowings (129,224,452,853,111) (182,766,675,072,848)

76 Dividends, profit distributed to shareholders (120,992,778,729) (104,092,915,000)

80 Net cash flow from financing activities 2,383,148,232,585 313,712,357,879

90 NET DECREASE IN CASH DURING THE 
YEAR 254,771,251,970 (196,642,121,031)

101 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 5 718,755,635,704 915,397,756,735

101.1 Cash 716,755,635,704 507,397,756,735

101.2 Cash equivalents 2,000,000,000 408,000,000,000

103 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE YEAR 5 973,526,887,674 718,755,635,704

103.1 Cash 887,704,080,066 716,755,635,704

103.2 Cash equivalents 85,822,807,608 2,000,000,000

Currency: VND

Currency: VND

Code ITEMS Notes Current year
Previous year

(restated)

I.  Cash flows from brokerage and trust 
activities of customers

01 1. Cash receipts from disposal of brokerage 
securities of customers 148,259,005,806,681 84,934,206,645,100

02 2. Cash payments for acquisition of brokerage 
securities of customers (148,258,985,779,564) (84,934,033,147,800)

07 3. Cash receipts for settlement of securities 
transactions of customers 3,674,103,933,486 (539,158,230,236)

14 4. Cash payment for settlements of securities 
transactions of customers 11,637,160,707,821 3,243,857,523,792

15 5. Cash payment for custodian fees of custom-
ers (11,636,526,317,715) (3,243,682,702,459)

20 Net increase/(decrease) in cash during the 
year 3,674,758,350,709 (538,809,911,603)

30 II.  Cash and cash equivalents of customers 
at the beginning of the year 1,454,312,340,839 1,993,122,252,442

31 Cash at banks at the beginning of the year: 1,454,312,340,839 1,993,122,252,442

32 - Investors’ deposits managed by the Compa-
ny for securities trading activities 1,073,591,272,173 1,523,092,253,747

33 - Investors’ synthesizing deposits for securi-
ties trading activities 378,912,315,900 468,569,564,560

34 - Clearing deposits and payment of securities 
transactions 265,353,239 91,855,939

35 - Deposits of securities issuers 1,543,399,527 1,368,578,196

40 III.  Cash and cash equivalents of custom-
ers at the end of the year (40 = 20 + 30) 5,129,070,691,548 1,454,312,340,839

41 Cash at banks at the end of the year: 5,129,070,691,548 1,454,312,340,839

42 - Investors’ deposits for securities trading 
activities managed by the Company

29.6
2,925,509,462,557 1,073,591,272,173

43 - Investors’ synthesizing deposits for securi-
ties trading activities 

29.6
2,201,299,041,600 378,912,315,900

44 - Clearing deposits and payment of securities 
transactions 285,380,356 265,353,239

45 - Deposits of securities issuers 29.7 1,976,807,035 1,543,399,527

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Ms. Nguyen Khanh Ly
Preparer

Mr. Nguyen Hoang Luong
Chief Accountant 

Hanoi, Vietnam
5 March 2021

Ms.
Chairwoman
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

VNDIRECT Securities Corporation (“the Company”) is a joint stock company established under the Corporate 
Law of Vietnam according to Business Registration No. 0103014521 dated 7 November 2006 issued by Hanoi 
Department of Planning and Investment, Securities Trading License No. 101/UBCK-GP dated 31 December 
2007 and Amended License for Establishment and Operation of Securities Company No. 31/GPĐC-UBCK 
dated 22 May 2019 issued by the State Securities Commission.

The current principal activities of the Company are to provide brokerage service, securities trading, under-
writing for securities issues, custodian service, finance and investment advisory service, and margin lending 
service. 

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s charter capital was VND 2,204,301,690,000. (as at 31 December 
2019: VND 2,204,301,690,000)

The Company’s Head Office is located at No.1, Nguyen Thuong Hien Street, Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi, 
Vietnam. As at 31 December 2020, the Company has branches located in Ho Chi Minh City, Da Nang, Vinh 
– Nghe An, Can Tho, Binh Duong, Nam Dinh and transaction offices located in Ho Chi Minh City and Hanoi.

The number of the Company’s employees as at 31 December 2020 was: 931 persons (31 December 2019: 
884 persons).

Company’s operation 

Capital 

As at 31 December 2020, total charter capital of the Company is VND 2,204,301,690,000, owners’ equity is 
VND 3,819,244,557,510 and total assets are VND 14,976,084,312,101.

Investment restrictions

The Company is required to comply with Article 44 under Circular No. 210/2012/TT-BTC dated 30 November 
2012 providing guidance on establishment and operation of securities companies, Circular No. 07/2016/TT-
BTC dated 18 January 2016 amended some articles on Circular No. 210/2012/TT-BTC and other applicable 
regulations on investment restrictions. The current applicable practices on investment restrictions are as 
follows:

- Securities company is not allowed to invest, contribute capital to invest in real-estate assets except 
for the purpose of using for head office, branches, and transaction offices directly serving professional busi-
ness activities of the securities company.
- Securities company may invest in real-estate investment and fixed assets on the principle that the 
carrying value of the fixed assets and real-estate investment does not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total 
value of assets of the securities company.
- Securities company is not allowed to use more than seventy percent (70%) of its owners’ equity to 
invest in corporate bonds. Securities company, licensed to engage in self-trading activity, is allowed to trade 
listed bonds in accordance with relevant regulation on trading Government bonds.
- Securities company must not by itself, or authorize another organization or individuals to: Invest in 
shares or contribute capital to companies that owned more than fifty percent (50%) of the charter capital of 
the securities company, except for purchasing of odd lots at the request of customers; Make joint investment 
with an affiliated person of five percent (5%) or more in the charter capital of another securities company; 
Invest more than twenty percent (20%) in the total currently circulating shares or fund certificates of a listing 
organization; Invest more than fifteen percent (15%) in the total currently circulating shares or fund certificates 
of an unlisted organization, this provision shall not apply to member fund, ETF fund or open-end fund cer-
tificates; Invest or contribute capital of more than ten percent (10%) in the total paid-up capital of a limited 
company or of a business project; Invest more than fifteen percent (15%) of its owners’ equity in a single 
organization or of a business project; Invest more than seventy percent (70%) of its total owners’ equity in 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Investment restrictions (continued)

shares, capital contribution and a business project, specifically invest more than twenty percent (20%) of its 
total owners’ equity in unlisted shares, capital contribution and a business project.
- Securities company is allowed to establish or purchase an asset management company as a subsid-
iary. In that case, securities company is not required to follow the above restrictions.

Subsidiaries 

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had two (02) subsidiaries as follows:

Company name Established under Business sector Charter 
capital % holding

I.P.A Asset Man-
age-ment Com-pany 
Ltd. (IPAAM)

Operating License No.30/
UBCK-GP dat-ed 04 
March 2008 and the 
latest amended Operat-
ing License No.02/GPDC 
- UBCK dated 8 March 
2017

Investment fund 
man-agement and 
invest-ment portfolio 
man-agement

VND 100 
billion

100%

IVND Com-pany Ltd. Business Registration No. 
0108599981 is-sued on 
dated 24 January 2019

Information Techno-
lo-gy portal

VND 20 
billion

100% (*)

(*) indirectly owned via I.P.A Asset Management Company Ltd.

Key characteristics of the Company’s operation which affect the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements 

The Company’s consolidated profit after tax of 2020 was VND 692,766,880,415, which increased by 81.28% 
(equivalent to VND 310,618,240,483) in comparison to that of 2019, owing to the following reasons:
- Due to the sharp growth of the market’s transaction volume, revenue from securities brokerage in-
creased by 42.75%, equivalent to VND 142,783,474,941, while securities brokerage expenses increased 
slightly, equivalent to VND 48,647,298,607. In addition, gain from financial assets at fair value through profit 
and loss also                                                    increased by 177.61%, equivalent to VND 496,715,956,939. 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

2.1   Applied accounting standards and system 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared and presented in accordance with Viet-
namese Enterprise Accounting System, the accounting regulations and guidance applicable to securities 
companies as set out in Circular No. 210/2014/TT-BTC dated 31 December 2014, Circular No. 334/2016/
TT-BTC dated 27 December 2016 amending, supplementing and replacing Appendices No. 02 and No. 04 of 
Circular No. 210/2014/TT-BTC, Circular No. 146/2014/TT-BTC dated 6 October 2014 providing guidance on 
financial regime applicable to securities companies and fund management companies and other Vietnamese 
Accounting Standards promulgated by the Ministry of Finance as per:
- Decision No. 149/2001/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2001 on the Issuance and Promulgation of Four 
Vietnamese Standards on Accounting (Series 1);
- Decision No. 165/2002/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2002 on the Issuance and Promulgation of Six 
Vietnamese Standards on Accounting (Series 2); 
- Decision No. 234/2003/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2003 on the Issuance and Promulgation of Six 
Vietnamese Standards on Accounting (Series 3);

- Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC dated 15 February 2005 on the Issuance and Promulgation of Six 
Vietnamese Standards on Accounting (Series 4); and 
- Decision No. 100/2005/QD-BTC dated 28 December 2005 on the Issuance and Promulgation of Four 
Vietnamese Standards on Accounting (Series 5).

2.2   Registered accounting documentation system

The Company’s registered accounting documentation system is the General Journal Voucher system.

2.3   Fiscal year

The Company’s fiscal year starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December.

The Company also prepares its interim financial statements for the six-month period from 1 January to 30 
June and its quarterly financial statements for the three-month years ended on 31 March, 30 June, 30 Sep-
tember and 31 December each year.

2.4   Accounting currency

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Vietnam dong (“VND”), which is the accounting cur-
rency of the Company.

2.5   Basis on consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of VNDIRECT Securities Corpora-
tion (the Parent Company) and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Parent Company 
obtains control, and continued to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

The financial statements of the parent company and subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year 
using the consistent accounting policies.

All intra-company balances, incomes and expenses, and unrealized gains or losses resulting from intra-com-
pany transactions are eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of the subsidiaries which are 
not held by the Parent Company and are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and 
within owners’ equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from parent shareholders’ 
equity.

3.    STATEMENT ON COMPLIANCE WITH VIETNAMESE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND SYSTEMS

Management of the Company confirms that the Company has complied with Vietnamese Accounting Stan-
dards, Vietnamese Enterprise Accounting System, accounting guidance applicable to securities companies 
and the statutory requirements relevant to preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements. 

Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements, including their utilisation are not designed 
for those who are not informed about Vietnam’s accounting principles, procedures and practices and further-
more are not intended to present the consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations, 
consolidated cash flows and consolidated changes in owners’ equity in accordance with accounting princi-
ples and practices generally accepted in countries other than Vietnam. 

4.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

4.1   Cash and cash equivalents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 December 2020 and for the year then ended



08. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

109

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash at banks and short-term, highly liquid investments 
with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and 
that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Cash deposited by customers for securities trading and cash deposited by securities issuers are presented 
off-balance sheet.
 
4.2   Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets recognized at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets that satisfy either of the 
following conditions:

a) It is classified as held for trading. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
- it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;
- there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
- it is a derivative (except derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or effective hedging instru-
ment).

b) Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is designated by the entity as at fair value through profit and 
loss as it meets one of the following criteria:
- the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise 
arise from measuring the asset or recognising gains or losses on a different basis; or
- the assets are part of a group of financial assets which are managed and their performance is evalu-
ated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Company’s risk management policy or investment strategy.
Financial assets at FVTPL are initially recognized at cost (acquisition cost of the assets excluding transaction 
cost arising from the purchase) and subsequently recognized at fair value.

Increase in the difference arising from revaluation of financial assets at FVTPL in comparison with the previous 
year is recognized into the consolidated income statement under “Gain from revaluation of financial assets 
at FVTPL”. Decrease in the difference arising from revaluation of financial assets at FVTPL in comparison 
with the previous year is recognized into the consolidated income statement under “Loss from revaluation of 
financial assets at FVTPL”. 

Transaction costs relating to the purchase of the financial assets at FVTPL are recognized when incurred as 
expenses in the consolidated income statement.

4.3   Held-to-maturity investments (HTM)

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with determinable payments and fixed ma-
turity that an entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity other than:

a)  those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss;
b)  those that the entity designates as available-for-sale; and
c) those meet the definition of loans and receivables. 

Held-to-maturity investments are recognized initially at cost (acquisition cost of the assets plus (+) transaction 
costs which are directly attributable to the investments such as brokerage fee, trading fee, agent fee, issuance 
agency fee and banking transaction fee). After initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial investments are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (“EIR”). 

Amortized cost of HTM financial investments is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus (-) principal repayments, plus (+) or minus (-) the cumulative amortisation using the effec-
tive interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus (-) any 
reduction for impairment or irrecoverability (if any).

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the cost allocation on interest income or interest 
expense in the year of a financial asset or a group of HTM investments. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liabilities.

HTM investments are subject to an assessment of impairment at the consolidated financial statement date. 
Provision is made for an HTM investment when there is any objective evidence that the investment is irrecov-
erable or there is uncertainty of recoverability, resulting from one or more events that has occurred after the 
initial recognition of the investment and that event have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
investment that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include a drop in the fair value/market 
value of the debt, indications that the debtors or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial diffi-
culty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganization and where observable data indicates that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
When there is any evidence of impairment, provision for an HTM investment is determined as the negative 
difference between its fair value and amortized cost at the assessment date. Any increase/decrease in the 
balance of provision is recognized in the consolidated income statement under “Provision expense for dim-
inution in value and impairment of financial assets and doubtful receivables and borrowing costs of loans”.

4.4  Loans

Loans are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or identifiable payments and not listed on the market, with 
the exceptions of:
a) The amounts the Company has the intent to immediately sell or will sell in a near future which are 
classified as assets held for trading, and like those which, upon initial recognition, the Company categorized 
as such recognized at fair value through profit or loss;
b) The amounts categorized by the Company as available for sale upon initial recognition; or
c) The amounts whose holders cannot recover most of the initial investment value not due to credit 
quality impairment and which are categorized as available for sale.

Loans are recognized initially at cost (disbursement value of the loans). After initial recognition, loans are sub-
sequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (“EIR”).

Amortized cost of loans is the amount at which the loans are measured at initial recognition minus (-) princi-
pal repayments, plus (+) or minus (-) the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus (-) any reduction for impairment 
or irrecoverability (if any).

Loans are subject to an assessment of impairment at the consolidated financial statement date. Provision 
made for loan is based on its estimated loss which is determined by the negative difference between the mar-
ket value of securities used as collaterals for such loan and the loan balance. Any increase/decrease in the 
balance of provision is recognized in the consolidated income statement under “Provision expense for dim-
inution in value and impairment of financial assets and doubtful receivables and borrowing costs of loans”.

4.5   Available-for-sale (AFS)

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available 
for sale or are not classified as:

a) loans and receivables;
b) held-to-maturity investments; or 
c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets are recognized initially at cost (acquisition cost of the assets plus (+) trans-
action costs which are directly attributable to the purchase of the financial assets). After initial recognition, 
AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.

Difference arising from the revaluation of AFS financial assets in comparison with previous year is recognized 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.5 Available-for-sale (AFS) (continued)

under “Gain/(loss) from revaluation of AFS financial assets” in “Other comprehensive income after tax” which 
is a part of the consolidated income statement. 
At the consolidated financial statements date, the Company assessed whether there is any objective evi-
dence that an AFS financial asset is impaired. Any increase/decrease in the balance of provision is recognized 
in the consolidated income statement under “Provision expenses for diminution in value and impairment of 
financial assets and doubtful debts and borrowing costs of loans”.

- Where an equity instrument is classified as available-for-sale, evidence of impairment includes a sig-
nificant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its original cost. “Significant” is to be 
evaluated against the original cost of the asset and “prolonged” indicates the year in which the fair value has 
been below its original cost. When any evidence of impairment exists, provision is determined as the differ-
ence between the AFS asset’s cost and fair value at the assessment date. 
- Where a debt instrument is classified as available-for-sale, the assessment of impairment is conduct-
ed using the same criteria as those applied for HTM investments. When there is any evidence of impairment, 
provision for an AFS asset is determined as the negative difference between its fair value and amortized cost 
at the assessment 

4.6   Fair value/market value of financial assets

Fair value/market value of the securities is determined as follows:  

- For securities listed on Hanoi Stock Exchange and Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange, their market 
prices are their closing prices on the trading day preceding the date of setting up the revaluation.
- For unlisted securities registered for trading on the Unlisted Public Company Market (“UPCOM”), 
their market value are their average closing prices on the trading day preceding the date of setting up the 
revaluation.
- For delisted securities and suspended trading securities from the sixth day afterward, their prices are 
the book value at the latest financial report date.
- The market price for unlisted securities and securities unregistered for trading on the Unlisted Public 
Company Market (“UPCOM”) is the trading prices of the latest transaction on over-the-counter (“OTC”) mar-
ket, based on consolidated financial statements of issuers as at the date of financial statements. 

For securities which do not have reference price from the above sources, the revaluation is determined based 
on the financial performance and the book value of securities issuers as at the assessment date. 

For the purpose of determining CIT taxable profit, the tax bases for financial assets are determined by cost 
minus (-) provision for diminution in value. Accordingly, market value of securities for provision purpose is 
determined in accordance with Circular No. 48/2019/TT-BTC and Circular No.146/2014/TT-BTC.

4.7   Derecognition of financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is derecognized when:
- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
- The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an ob-
ligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; and either:
- the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
- the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset 
but has transferred right-to-use of the asset.
When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement; and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing 
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Company also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred 
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the 

Company has retained.

The continued participation in transferred assets in the form of guarantee will be recognized at smaller value 
between the initial carrying value of the assets and the maximum amount that the Company is required to pay. 

4.8   Reclassification of financial assets 

Reclassification when selling financial assets other than FVTPL 

When selling financial assets other than FVTPL, securities companies are required to reclassify those financial 
assets to financial assets at FVTPL. The difference arising from the revaluation of financial assets AFS which 
is recognized in “Difference from revaluation of assets at fair value” will be recognized as corresponding rev-
enue or expenses at the date of reclassification of financial assets AFS for selling purpose. 

Reclassification due to change in purpose or ability to hold 

Securities companies are required to reclassify financial assets to their applicable categories if their purpose 
or ability to hold has changed, consequently: 

- Non-derivative financial assets at FVTPL or financial assets that are not required to classify as finan-
cial asset at FVTPL at the initial recognition can be classified as loans and other receivables or as cash and 
cash equivalents if the requirements are met. The gains or losses arising from revaluation of financial assets 
at FVTPL prior to the reclassification are not allowed to be reversed. 
- Due to changes in purposes or ability to hold, some HTM investments are required to be reclassified 
into AFS financial assets and to be reassessed at fair value. The difference arising from revaluation between 
carrying value and fair value are recognized under “Difference from revaluation of assets at fair value” in Own-
ers’ equity.

4.9   Recognition of mortgaged financial assets 

During the year, the Company had mortgaged/pledged financial assets which are used as collaterals for fi-
nancial obligations of the Company. 

According to the terms and conditions of the mortgage/pledge contracts, during the valid period of the con-
tracts, the Company is not allowed to sell, transfer or use the mortgaged/pledged assets under repurchase 
or swap contracts with any other third party. 
 
In case the Company is unable to fulfil its obligations, the mortgagee/pledgee is allowed to use the mort-
gaged/pledged assets to settle the obligations of the Company after a period specified in the mortgage/
pledge contracts, since the obligations due date. 

The mortgaged/pledged assets are monitored in the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position 
in accordance with accounting principles relevant to the assets’ classification.  

4.10   Receivables 

Receivables are initially recorded at cost and subsequently always presented at cost.
 
Receivables are subject to review for impairment based on their overdue status or estimated loss arising from 
undue debts of corporate debtors who have bankruptcy or are under liquidation; or of individual debtors who 
are missing, have fled, are prosecuted, detained or tried by law enforcement bodies, are serving sentences 
or have deceased. Increases or decreases to the provision balance are recorded as “Provision expenses for 
diminution in value and impairment of financial assets and doubtful debts and borrowing costs of loans” and 
“Other operating expenses” in the consolidated income statement. 

The Company has made provision for doubtful receivables and handling irrecoverable receivables in accor-
dance with Circular No. 48/2019/TT-BTC dated 8 August 2019 issued by the Ministry of Finance. Accordingly, 
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the provision rates for overdue receivables are as follows:

Thời gian quá hạn                                                         Provision rate
From over six (6) months to less than one (1) year     30%
From one (1) year to less than two (2) years                  50%
From two (2) years to less than three (3) years                  70%
From three (3) years and above                                            100% 

4.11   Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

The cost of a tangible fixed asset comprises of its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bring-
ing the tangible fixed asset to working condition for its intended use.

Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals are added to the carrying amount of the assets and 
expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to the consolidated income statement as incurred.

When tangible fixed assets are sold or retired, any gain or loss resulting from their disposal (the difference be-
tween the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount) is included in the consolidated income statement.

4.12   Intangible fixed assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation.

The cost of an intangible fixed asset comprises of its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of 
preparing the intangible fixed asset for its intended use.

Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals are added to the carrying amount of the assets and 
other expenditures are charged to the consolidated income statement as incurred.

When intangible fixed assets are sold or retired, any gain or loss resulting from their disposal (the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount) is included in the consolidated income state-
ment.

4.13   Depreciation and amortisation  

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible fixed assets are calculated on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful life of each asset as follows:

Buildings and structures 10 years
Office equipment              3 - 10 years
Software                           3 - 10 years

4.14   Depreciation and amortisation

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of a business combination 
is measured as the fair value of assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at 
the date of exchange plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination. Identifiable assets and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at fair values at 
the date of business combination. 

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost the 
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabil-
ities and contingent liabilities. If the cost of a business combination is less than the fair value of the net assets 
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. After 
initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation. Goodwill is amortised 

over 10-year period on a straight-line basis. The parent company conducts the periodical review for impair-
ment of goodwill of investment in subsidiaries. If there are indicators of impairment loss incurred is higher 
than the yearly allocated amount of goodwill on the straight-line basis, the higher amount will be recorded in 
the consolidated income statement.
  
4.15   Operating leases

Whether an agreement is determined as a property lease agreement depends on the nature of the agreement 
at the beginning: whether the implementation of the agreement depends on the use of a certain asset and 
whether the agreement includes clauses on the use rights of the asset.

Rentals fee respective to operating leases are charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease.

4.16   Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses, including short-term prepaid expenses and long-term prepaid expenses in the consolidat-
ed statement of financial position, are amortised over the period for which the amounts are paid or the period 
in which economic benefits are generated in relation to these expenses.

The following types of expenses are recorded as prepaid expenses and are amortised over the period from 
one (1) year to three (3) years to the consolidated income statement:
- Office renovation expenses;
- Office rental expenses; and
- Office tools and consumables.

4.17   Borrowings and non-convertible bonds issuance 

Borrowings and non-convertible bonds issued by the Company are recorded and stated at cost of the bal-
ance at the end of the accounting year.

4.18   Payables and accrued expenses 

Covered warrants payables

Covered warrants are secured securities with collaterals issued by the Company which gives its holder the 
right to buy an amount of an underlying security at an exercise price or to receive a sum of money equal to 
the difference between the price (index) of the underlying securities and the exercise price (exercise index), 
when the former is higher than the latter, at the strike time.

When covered warrants are issued, the Company record an increase in covered warrant payables, at the 
same time monitoring the number of covered warrants still allowed to be issued. At the end of the year, the 
Company revaluate the covered warrants at fair value. The decrease in difference arising from revaluation of 
outstanding covered warrants at fair value in comparison with previous is recognized in “Gain from financial 
assets at FVTPL” (detail in “Gain from revaluation of outstanding covered warrant payable”). The increase in 
difference arising from revaluation of outstanding covered warrants at fair value in comparison with previous 
is recognized in “Loss from financial assets at FVTPL” (detail in “Loss from revaluation of outstanding covered 
warrant payable”).

The transaction costs relating to the purchase and issuance of covered warrants are recognized when in-
curred as purchase costs of financial assets in the consolidated income statement. Profit or loss resulted 
from covered warrants when repurchase, upon the maturity of covered warrants or when covered warrant is 
recalled, are recognized under “Gain from disposal of financial assets at FVTPL” or “Loss from disposal of 
financial assets at FVTPL” in the consolidated income statement.

The securities used as hedging for the covered warrants are monitored by the Company. At the end of the 
year, securities used as hedging for the covered warrants are revaluated at fair value and the differences aris-
ing from revaluation is recorded like the revaluation of financial assets at FVTPL.
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Other payables and accrued expenses

Other payables and accrued expenses are recognized for amounts to be paid in the future for bonds interest 
payables, goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Company.

4.19 Employee benefits 

4.19.1 Post-employment benefits 

Post-employment benefits are paid to retired employees of the Company by the Social Insurance Agency, 
which belongs to the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs. The Company is required to contribute to these 
post-employment benefits by paying social insurance premium to the Social Insurance Agency at the rate of 
17.5% of an employee’s basic salary, salary-related allowances and other supplements. Other than that, the 
Company has no further obligation relating to post-employment benefits.

4.19.2 Severance pay 

The Company has the obligation, under Section 48 of the Vietnam Labor Code 10/2012/QH13 effective from 1 
May 2013, to pay allowance arising from voluntary resignation of employees, equal to one-half month’s salary 
for each year of employment up to 31 December 2008 plus salary allowances (if any). From 1 January 2009, 
the average monthly salary used in this calculation is the average monthly salary of the latest year up to the 
resignation date.

4.19.3   Unemployment insurance 

According to Circular No. 32/2010/TT-BLDTBXH providing guidance for Decree No. 127/2008/ND-CP on 
unemployment insurance, from 1 January 2009, the Company is required to contribute to the unemployment 
insurance at the rate of 1% of salary and wage fund of unemployment insurance joiners and deduct 1% of 
monthly salary and wage of each employee to contribute to the unemployment insurance fund.

4.20   Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in currencies other than the Company’s reporting currency of VND are recorded at the actual 
transaction exchange rates of commercial banks at transaction dates. At the end of the year, monetary bal-
ances denominated in foreign currencies are determined as follows:
-       Monetary assets are translated at buying exchange rate of the commercial bank where the Company 
conducts transactions regularly.
-        Monetary liabilities are translated at selling exchange rate of the commercial bank where the Company 
conducts transactions regularly.

All foreign exchange differences incurred during the year and arisen from the revaluation of monetary accounts 
denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the year are taken to the consolidated income statement.

4.21   Treasury shares 

Equity instruments issued by the Company which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and 
deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised upon purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Com-
pany’s own equity instruments.

4.22   Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of receipts or receivables 
less trade discount, concessions and sales return. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met 
before revenue is recognised:

Revenue from brokerage services

When the contract outcome can be reliably measured, revenue is recognized by reference to the stage of 
completion. Where the contract outcome cannot be reliably measured, revenue is recognized only to the ex-
tent of the expenses recognized which are recoverable.

Revenue from trading of securities

Revenue from trading of securities is determined by the difference between the selling price and the weighted 
average cost of securities sold.

Other income

Revenues from irregular activities other than turnover-generating activities are recorded to other incomes as 
stipulated by VAS 14 – “Revenue and other income”, including: Revenues from asset liquidation and sale; 
fines paid by customers for their contract breaches; collected insurance compensation; collected debt which 
had been written off and included in the preceding year expenses; payable debts which are now recorded as 
revenue increase as their owners no longer exist; collected tax amounts which now are reduced and reim-
bursed; and other revenues.

Interest income

Revenue is recognized on accrual basis (taking into account the effective yield on the asset) unless collect-
ability is in doubt.

Dividends 

Income is recognized when the Company’s entitlement as an investor to receive the dividends is established, 
except for dividend received in shares in which only the number of shares is updated.

Other revenues from rendering services 

Where the contract outcome can be reliably measured, revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion. 

Where the contract outcome cannot be reliably measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the 
expenses recognised which are recoverable.

4.23   Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs include accrued interest and other expenses which are directly attributable to the Compa-
ny’s borrowings and bonds issued.

4.24   Cost of securities sold
 
The Company applies moving weighted average method to calculate cost of proprietary securities sold.

4.25   Corporate income tax

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior year are measured at the amount expect-
ed to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted as at the reporting date.

Current income tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items recognized 
directly to owners’ equity, in which case the current income tax is also dealt with in owners’ equity.
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legally enforceable right for the Com-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 December 2020 and for the year then ended
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4.27 Appropriation of net profits 

Net profit after tax is available for appropriation to shareholders after being approved by the General Meeting 
of Shareholders and after making appropriation to reserve funds in accordance with the Company’s Charter 
and Vietnam’s regulatory requirements. 

4.28 Các khoản mục không có số dư

Items or balances required by Circular No. 210/2014/TT-BTC dated 31 December 2014, Circular No. 
334/2016/TT-BTC dated 27 December 2016 and Circular No. 146/2014/TT-BTC dated 6 October 2014 is-
sued by the Ministry of Finance that are not shown in these consolidated financial statements indicate nil 
balances. 

pany to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the Company intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred income tax is provided using for temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax base 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except when the deferred tax 
liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the trans-
action affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax cred-
its and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, 
except where the deferred tax asset in respect of deductible temporary difference which arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability which at the time of the related transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss.
 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the reporting date and reduced to a certain 
extent that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to 
be recovered. Previously unrecognized deferred income tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date 
and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred 
tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 
when the asset is realised, or the liability is settled based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted 
at the reporting date. Deferred tax is recorded to the consolidated income statement, except when it relates 
to items recognized directly to owners’ equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in owners’ 
equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a 
net basis.

4.26   Owners’ equity

Contributed capital from shareholders 

Contributed capital from stock issuance is recorded in Charter Capital at par value.

Undistributed profit

Undistributed profit comprises of realised and unrealised undistributed profit.

Unrealised profit during the year is the difference between gain and loss arisen from revaluation of financial 
assets at FVTPL or others through profit and loss in the consolidated income statement, and the deferred 
income tax related to the increase in revaluation of FVTPL financial assets and others.

Realised profit of the year is the net difference between total revenue and income, and total expenses in the 
consolidated income statement of the Company, except for gain or loss recognized in unrealised profit.

Reserves

According to Circular No. 146/2014/TT-BTC issued by the Ministry of Finance on 6 October 2014, securities 
companies are required to make appropriation of profit after tax to the following reserves:

5.   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Currency: VND

Currency: VND

6.  VALUE AND VOLUME OF TRADING DURING THE YEAR 

Volume of trading dur-ing the 
year (Unit)

Value of trading dur-ing the 
year (million VND)

a. The Company 711,173,222  234,891,975
-  Shares  162,857,523 19,337,80
-  Bonds 478,651,424 176,132,022
- Other securities 69,664,275 39,422,673

b. Investors 19,342,845,024 827,873,858
-  Shares 18,526,522,872 263,630,718
-  Bonds 2,266,000 234,724
-  Other securities 814,056,152 564,008,416

Total 20,054,018,246 1,062,765,833

Percentage of profit after tax Maximum balance
Charter Capital Supplemen-tary Reserve 5% 10% of charter capital
Operational risk and finance Reserve 5% 10% of charter capital

Ending balance Beginning balance (restated)
Cash 887,704,080,066 716,755,635,704
- Cash at banks 887,619,634,699 716,611,603,855
- Clearing deposits and payment for 

securities transaction 84,445,367 144,031,849
Cash equivalents  85,822,807,608 2,000,000,000

- Cash with initial maturity of less than 
3 months 85,822,807,608 2,000,000,000

Total  973,526,887,674  718,755,635,704

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7.  FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Concepts of financial assets

Cost

Cost of a financial asset is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid, disbursed or payable for such finan-
cial asset at its initial recognition. The transaction costs incurred directly from the purchase of financial asset 
might or might not be included in the cost of the financial asset, depending on the category that the financial 
asset is classified in.

Fair value/market value
The fair value or market value of a financial asset is the price at which the financial asset would be traded 
voluntarily between knowledgeable parties on an arm’s length basis.

The fair value/market value of securities is determined using the method described in Note 4.6.

Amortised cost

Amortized cost of a financial investment (which is debt instrument) is the amount at which the financial asset 
is measured at initial recognition minus (-) principal repayments, plus (+) or minus (-) the cumulative amortisa-
tion using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, 
and minus any reduction for impairment or irrecoverability (if any).

For presentation purpose, provision for diminution in value or irrecoverability of financial assets is recognised 
in “Provision for impairment of financial assets and mortgage assets” in the consolidated statement of finan-
cial position.

Carrying amount

Carrying amount of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is recognized in the consoli-
dated statement of financial position. Carrying amount of a financial asset might be recognised at fair value 
(for FVTPL and AFS financial assets) or at amortised cost (for HTM investments and loans), depending on the 
category that the financial asset is classified.

Ending balance Beginning balance

Cost Fair value Cost Fair value 

Listed shares and other 
listed securi-ties 764,704,882,550 724,707,363,240 854,125,267,033 691,285,637,930

PTI 458,356,484,000 347,718,712,000 458,356,484,000 308,205,222,000

MWG 38,350,686,124 48,130,006,600 1,056,504 684,000

TCB 37,660,463,130 49,218,057,000 5,282,636,870 5,308,405,500

REE 36,189,027,298 51,905,209,400 47,013,682,478 48,658,480,200

HPG 33,526,510,038 39,016,843,550 596,617,058 587,688,000

VNM 32,865,439,594 32,701,472,000 13,576,219,494 13,264,224,000

CRE 30,600,856,830 49,652,090,600 132,282,444 124,223,200

STB 22,005,759,080 23,019,540,700 357,861,175 326,625,000

FPT 14,188,749,082 14,845,860,900 32,223,281,162 34,917,444,100

Other listed shares and fund 
certificates 60,960,907,374 68,499,570,490 296,585,145,848 279,892,641,930

Unlisted shares and fund 
certifi-cates 343,357,099,058 328,990,846,181 640,959,053,519 534,543,796,989

7.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) Currency: VND 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 December 2020 and for the year then ended

Loc Troi Group Joint Stock 
Company 113,805,051,300 66,974,648,000 113,805,051,300 50,479,932,533

CIENCO4 Group Joint Stock 
Company 81,224,990,000 92,910,000,000 81,224,990,000 47,786,166,667

VNDBF Fund certifi-cates 50,500,000,000 55,775,500,000 50,500,000,000 49,369,300,000

VNDAF Fund certifi-cates 45,500,000,000 48,433,749,970 50,000,000,000 51,327,600,000

Viettel Construction Joint 
Stock Company 27,043,410,000 39,388,140,000 - -

An Binh Commercial Joint 
Stock Bank 72,264 108,000 170,489,057,266 170,489,057,266

Viet Tien Textile Joint Stock 
Corporation - - 30,039,352,500 24,596,478,667

MBLand Corporation 23,260,500,000 23,260,500,000 20,250,000,000 20,250,000,000

Phuong Dong Commercial 
Joint Stock Bank - - 95,255,037,078 95,255,037,078

Other unlisted shares and 
fund certificates 2,023,075,494 2,248,200,211 29,395,565,375 24,990,224,778

Total 1,108,061,981,608 1,053,698,209,421 1,495,084,320,552 1,225,829,434,919

Ending balance Beginning balance

Cost Fair value Cost Fair value

Listed bonds 334,183,750,000 334,183,750,000 503,513,630,000 503,513,630,000

TD2035028 202,018,000,000 202,018,000,000 - -

TD2030018 106,025,000,000 106,025,000,000 - -

TD2030016 26,140,750,000 26,140,750,000 - -

Other listed bonds - - 503,513,630,000 503,513,630,000

Unlisted bonds 602,553,985,170 602,553,985,170 171,364,100,115 171,364,100,115

CTG2030T2/01 450,457,500,000 450,457,500,000 - -

CTG2028T2/01 50,457,500,000 50,457,500,000 - -

CRE202001 39,451,600,000 39,451,600,000 - -

GEX202004 17,936,647,784 17,936,647,784 - -

GEX202002 11,655,172,638 11,655,172,638 - -

Other unlisted bonds 32,595,564,748 32,595,564,748 171,364,100,115 171,364,100,115

Equity shares - - 7,500,000,000 7,500,000,000

Certificates of deposits 2,026,699,932,187 2,026,699,932,187 100,681,823,600 100,681,823,600

Total 2,963,437,667,357 2,963,437,667,357 783,059,553,715 783,059,553,715

7.2   Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets 
Currency: VND 



08. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

121

7.
5 

  C
ha

ng
e 

in
 m

ar
ke

t v
al

ue
s 

of
 fi

na
nc

ia
l a

ss
et

s 
C

ur
re

nc
y:

 V
N

D 

N
O

TE
S 

TO
 T

H
E 

C
O

N
SO

LI
D

AT
ED

 F
IN

AN
C

IA
L 

ST
AT

EM
EN

TS
as

 a
t 

31
 D

ec
em

be
r 

20
20

 a
nd

 fo
r 

th
e 

ye
ar

 t
he

n 
en

de
d

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 December 2020 and for the year then ended

Ending balance Beginning balance

Cost Fair value (3) Cost Fair value (3)

Margin loans (1) 4,304,069,699,912 4,267,145,851,011 2,776,651,113,041 2,746,275,162,316

Advances to inves-tors (2) 401,884,081,544 401,884,081,544 110,420,985,117 110,420,985,117

Other receivables - - 9,680,000,000 9,680,000,000

Total 4,705,953,781,456 4,669,029,932,555 2,887,072,098,158 2,856,696,147,433

7.4   Loans 

7.3  Held-to-maturity (HTM)  investments 
Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 

As at 31 December 2020, among term deposits with remaining maturity of less than 1 year there were VND 
3,255 billion of term deposits with remaining maturity of less than 1 year were pledged to secure short-term 
loans of the Company and VND 10 billion are being blocked at Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Investment 
and Development - Ha Thanh Branch for the purpose of issuing covered warrants.

Ending balance Beginning balance
Term deposits with remaining maturity of 
less than 1 year 3,266,200,000,000 5,547,838,125,244

(1) Securities under margin transactions are used as collaterals for the margin loans granted by the 
Company to investors. As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the par value of securities that are 
used as collaterals for margin loans was VND 8,519 billion and VND 10,749 billion respectively, the market 
values of those securities were VND 15,853 billion and VND 15,102 billion respectively.

(2) Advances to investors for the year that their proceeds from selling shares are awaiting settlement.

(3) The fair value of loans is measured at cost less provision for doubtful debts. 
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8. PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND MORTGAGE ASSETS  

9.   OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS  C 

 Ending balance Beginning bal-ance
Provision for impairment of loans 71,941,573,394 52,090,528,890
- Specific provision 36,923,848,901 30,737,907,784
- Collective provision 35,017,724,493 21,352,621,106

Provision for impairment of AFS financial assets - 1,641,491,356
Total 71,941,573,394 53,732,020,246

 Ending balance Beginning balance
1. Receivables from disposal of financial assets 103,132,259,392 24,503,687,339
2. Receivables and accruals from dividends and 

interest income from financial assets 168,978,082,647 183,138,817,467
In which: Accruals from undue dividends and 
interest income 168,978,082,647 183,138,817,467

3.  Advances to suppliers 28,682,411,877 5,232,852,538
4.  Other receivables 18,188,741,009 9,984,706,619
5.   Provision for doubtful receivables (5,022,496,429) (4,663,214,429)
Total 313,958,998,496 218,196,849,534

Currency: VND

Currency: VND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 December 2020 and for the year then ended
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ending balance Beginning balance
(restated)

Advances 2,026,345,183 1,986,563,697
Short-term prepaid expenses 1,287,241,282 1,025,410,390
• Office rental prepaid expenses 84,902,876 716,192,837
• Software expenses 972,355,567 280,387,083
• Brokerage commission for investment trust ser-

vices
202,500,000 -

• Other prepayments 27,482,839 28,830,470
Short-term deposits, collaterals and pledges 3,356,646,001 2,838,830,443
Deductible value added tax 30,971,290 16,415,475
Tax and other receivables from the State 114,236,335 114,236,335
Other current assets 7,316,325,000 -
Total 14,131,765,091 5,981,456,340

Buildings
and structures Office equipment Total

Cost
1 January 2020 23,766,129,409 84,714,388,851 108,480,518,260
Increase 598,900,000 4,381,537,000 4,980,437,000
Purchases -   4,381,537,000 4,381,537,000
Other increase 598,900,000 -   598,900,000
Reclassification (2,052,902,926) 2,052,902,926 -
31 December 2020 22,312,126,483 91,148,828,777 113,460,955,260

Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2020 12,665,833,816 53,893,308,493 66,559,142,309
Increase 2,394,637,189 10,237,103,992 12,631,741,181
Depreciation for the year 2,394,637,189 10,237,103,992 12,631,741,181
Reclassification (1,129,574,685) 1,129,574,685 -   
31 December 2020 13,930,896,320 65,259,987,170 79,190,883,490

Net book value
1 January 2020 11,100,295,593 30,821,080,358 41,921,375,951
31 December 2020 8,381,230,163 25,888,841,607 34,270,071,770

Ending balance Beginning balance

Held-to-maturity investments 1,530,000,000,000 105,075,141,095
• Term deposits and certificates of deposits with re-

maining maturity of more than 1 year (1) 1,530,000,000,000 105,075,141,095

Other long-term investments 12,991,011,200 11,491,033,600
• Tue Duc Bach Khoa Education JSC 4,600,000,000 4,600,000,000
• Stringee JSC 8,391,011,200 6,891,033,600
Total 1,542,991,011,200 116,566,174,695

Ending balance Beginning balance

Cost of tangible fixed assets which are fully depreciat-
ed but still in use 32,069,387,059 29,794,602,059

10. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 12. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

11. LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

(1) As at 31 December 2020, VND 1,530 billion of term deposits and certificates of deposits with
remaining maturity of more than 1 year were pledged to secure short-term loans of the Company.

  Currency: VND  

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND

Additional information on tangible fixed assets:
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Software

Cost  
1 January 2020 86,631,691,707
Increase 2,922,442,038
Purchases 604,290,000
Other increase 2,318,152,038
31 December 2020 89,554,133,745
Accumulated amortisation
1 January 2020 72,053,868,137
Increase 7,506,578,635

Amortisation for the year 7,506,578,635

31 December 2020 79,560,446,772

Net book value

1 January 2020 14,577,823,570

31 December 2020 9,993,686,973

13. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

14. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

15. LONG-TERM PREPAID EXPENSES 

16. DEFERRED CORPORATE INCOME TAX ASSETS/ LIABILITIES  

17. PAYMENT FOR SETTLEMENT ASSISTANCE FUND 

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 

Additional information on intangible fixed assets:

Ending balance Beginning balance

Cost of intangible fixed assets which are fully amor-
tised but still in use 62,785,816,760 49,599,196,254

Số cuối năm Beginning balance
(restated)

Software development expenses 6,259,360,445 2,352,943,020

Other construction in progress 1,013,204,000 500,000,000

Total 7,272,564,445 2,852,943,020

Ending balance Beginning balance
(restated)

Long-term prepaid service expenses 10,630,253,155 15,221,925,351

-    Office renovation expense 3.749.550.673 6,422,463,008

-    Office rental expense 3.481.444.929 3,215,502,261

-    Software expense 2.200.966.167 5,013,350,956

-    Other expenses 1.198.291.386 570,609,126

Tools and office supplies expense 2.696.320.758 3,974,674,623

13,326,573,913 19,196,599,974

Ending balance Beginning balance

Deferred income tax assets
Deferred income tax arising from revaluation of 
financial assets at FVTPL 18,494,128,402 19,788,798,902

Ending balance 18,494,128,402 19,788,798,902

Deferred income tax liabilities

Deferred income tax arising from the revaluation of 
financial assets 13,015,078,715 1,875,430,419

Ending balance 13,015,078,715 1,875,430,419

Currency: VND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

Deferred corporate income tax assets/ liabilities arise due to following temporary differences that are 
non-deductible/taxable in term of corporate income tax:

Payment for settlement assistance fund  represents the amounts deposited at Vietnam Securities Depository.

According to prevailing regulation of VSD the Company must deposit an initial amount of VND120 million at 
the Vietnam Securities Depository and pay an addition of 0.01% of the total amount of brokered securities 
in the previous year, but not over VND 2.5 billion per annum. The maximum contribution of each custody to 
the Settlement Assistance Fund is VND 20 billion for custody members who are the Company with trading 
securities and brokerage activities.



PB

Ending balance Beginning balance

Cost
Opening balance 24,194,509,882 24,194,509,882
Ending balance 24,194,509,882 24,194,509,882
• Accumulated Depreciation
• Opening balance 7,238,467,066 4,819,016,078
• Allocation for the year 2,426,079,621 2,419,450,988
Ending balance 9,664,546,687 7,238,467,066
Carrying value
Opening balance 16,956,042,816 19,375,493,804
Ending balance 14,529,963,195 16,956,042,816

Ending balance Beginning balance

Security deposits for buying real estates (1) 80,000,000,000 80,000,000,000
Other security deposits 1,202,973,125 1,860,960,625
Long-term deposits, escrows and pledges 10,000,000 10,000,000
Deposits for derivative compensation fund 15,027,602,977 15,000,000,000
• Initial payment 15,000,000,000 15,000,000,000
• Accrued interest 27,602,977 108,695,512
• Drawing amount - (108,695,512)
Total 96,240,576,102 96,870,960,625

Interest 
rate 31 December 2019 Addition Repayment 31 December 2020

% per 
annum VND VND VND VND

Short-term borrowings 0.00 – 9.5% 6,553,608,086,436 131,429,124,766,675 128,524,452,853,111 9,458,280,000,000
• Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Investment and 

Development of Vietnam 1,725,727,138,827 67,379,577,999,545 67,580,305,138,372 1,525,000,000,000

• Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Foreign 
Trade of Vietnam 1,285,900,000,000 6,067,210,000,000 5,974,100,000,000 1,379,010,000,000

• Vietnam Technological and Commercial Joint 
Stock Bank 437,000,000,000 6,259,300,000,000 5,346,300,000,000 1,350,000,000,000

• Vietnam Maritime Commercial Joint Stock 
Bank 300,000,000,000 4,892,500,000,000 4,192,500,000,000 1,000,000,000,000

• Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank for 
Industry and Trade 178,425,947,609 12,166,670,829,416 11,706,496,777,025 638,600,000,000

• Indovina Bank Limited 390,000,000,000 9,000,000,000,000 8,790,000,000,000 600,000,000,000
• Woori Bank Vietnam - 2,500,000,000,000 1,900,000,000,000 600,000,000,000
• Maybank Vietnam 576,555,000,000 7,275,341,828,125 7,276,226,828,125 575,670,000,000
• Others 1,660,000,000,000 15,888,524,109,589 15,758,524,109,589 1,790,000,000,000
Total 6,553,608,086,436 131,429,124,766,675 128,524,452,853,111 9,458,280,000,000

18. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS 21. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND FINANCE LEASES 

19.   COLLATERALS AND PLEDGED ASSETS 

Currency: VND Currency: VND

Currency: VND 

Assets Ending balance Beginning
balance Purposes

Short-term
• Financial assets at FVTPL (par value) - 50,480,000,000 Short-term borrowing

• AFS financial assets (par value) 1,455,000,000,000 - Short-term borrowing

• Term deposits with remaining maturity of 
less than 1 year

3,255,000,000,000 5,571,800,000,000 Short-term borrowing

Long-term
• Term deposits with remaining maturity of 

more than 1 year
1,530,000,000,000 - Short-term borrowing 

Total 6,240,000,000,000 5,622,280,000,000

(1) Deposit for purchasing real estate to be used as headquarter office of the Company.

As at the date of the consolidated financial statements, the following assets have been used as collaterals for 
borrowings of the Company:

20.  GOODWILL Currency: VND 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED
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Ending balance Beginning balance

Number of authorized covered warrants

CMBB2008 3,000,000 -

CMSN2010 1,500,000 -

CHPG2020 1,000,000 -

CFPT2010 1,000,000 -

CMWG2013 1,000,000 -

CSTB2011 5,000,000 -

CTCB2009 3,000,000 -

CVNM2012 1,000,000 -

CVPB2010 2,000,000 -

CMBB2008 561,670 -

CMSN2010 68,290 -

CHPG2020 988,500 -

CFPT2010 283,870 -

CMWG2013 37,760 -

CSTB2011 1,715,520 -

CTCB2009 1,561,470 -

CVNM2012 999,990 -

CVPB2010 79,580 -

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

In 2019, the Company completed: the 2nd privacy issuance of 3 million non-convertible bonds without collat-
erals with term of 2 years and floating interest rate at 9.5% p.a. for the first year; the 3rd privacy issuance of 
797,410 non-convertible bonds without collaterals with term of 10 years, fixed interest rate at 9.8% p.a. and 
the 4th privacy issuance of 239,000 non-convertible bonds without collaterals with term of 10 years and bear 
fixed interest rate at 9.8% p.a. and par value of VND 100,000 per bond to supplement capital for investment 
activities in government bonds, government guaranteed bonds and certificates of deposit.

In 2020, the Company completed the 1st privacy issuance of 3 million non-convertible bonds without collat-
erals with term of 2 years and bear floating interest rate at 9.0% p.a., par value of VND 100,000 per bond to 
supplement capital for investment activities in government bonds, government guaranteed bonds and certifi-
cates of deposit.

As at 31 December 2020, the issued bonds bear interest at rates ranging from 9.00% p.a. to 9.80% p.a. (as 
at 31 December 2019: from 9.50% p.a.  to 9.80% p.a.).

(1)   Payables on day T+0 for securities trading transaction at the reporting date.

(2)  As at 31 December 2020, the number of covered warrants issued by the Company are as follows:

Currency: VND

Currency: VND

Unit: Number of Covered warrants 

Ending balance Beginning balance

Short-term bond issuance 600,000,000,000 700,000,000,000

Long-term bond issuance 103,641,000,000 403,641,000,000

Total 703,641,000,000 1,103,641,000,000

Ending balance Beginning balance

Payables to the Stock Exchange and VSD 14,503,342,383 4,126,631,230

Payables for purchase of financial assets (1) 344,840,563,993 503,554,775,000

Outstanding covered warrant payables (2) 54,021,603,844 5,704,828,138

Total 413,365,510,220 513,386,234,368

22. BOND ISSUED 

23. PAYABLES FOR SECURITIES TRADING ACTIVITIES



Currency: VND

Currency: VND

Ending balance Beginning balance

Homefood JSC 2,500,000,000 -

Financial Software Solution JSC 531,000,000 310,707,500

Thang Tam Interior Decoration Construction Com-
pany Ltd - 52,855,552

TC 289 Construction JSC - 51,616,350

AWA Waterproofing Company Ltd. 46,496,182 46,496,182

An Khang Construction Company Limited 38,967,900 -

Nguyen Gia Construction Architecture Consultancy 
Company Limited 27,222,727 -

Other payables 129,422,528 101,783,596

Total 3,273,109,337 563,459,180

Ending balance Beginning balance

Value added tax 1,114,249,352 438,019,049

Corporate income tax 59,666,394,152 41,638,434,319

Personal income tax 33,536,184,267 11,221,755,880

Total 94,316,827,771 53,298,209,248

24.        SHORT-TERM TRADE PAYABLES 

25. STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS

25. STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

No. Items 31 December 2019 Payable in the year Paid in the year 31 December 2020

I Tax
1 Value added tax on domestic services 438,019,049 4,657,364,923 3,981,134,620 1,114,249,352
2 Corporate income tax (Note 38.1) 41,638,434,319 156,863,627,116 138,835,667,283 59,666,394,152
3 Personal income tax 11,221,755,880 191,837,643,213 169,523,214,826 33,536,184,267
4 Other taxes - 896,938,201 896,938,201 -

Total 53,298,209,248 354,255,573,453 313,236,954,930 94,316,827,771

Currency: VND 
Details of taxation and statutory obligations 
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Currency: VND

Currency: VND

Currency: VND

Ending balance Beginning balance

Interest payable to credit institutions 15,040,101,490 40,392,077,417

Interest payable for bond issuance 27,962,108,610 21,414,887,416

Others 3,407,933,883 1,117,987,685

Total 46,410,143,983 62,924,952,518

Ending balance Beginning balance
(restated)

Principal payable under deposit management con-
tracts (1)

377,740,519,393 105,207,430,358

Other payables 1,012,868,753 1,334,572,791

Total 378,753,388,146 106,542,003,149

Ending balance Beginning balance
(restated)

Realised profit 1,378,037,442,204 1,036,475,765,752

Unrealised profit/ (losses) 74,250,222,780) (104,742,170,172)

Total 1,452,287,664,984 931,733,595,580

26. SHORT-TERM ACCRUED EXPENSES 

27. OTHER SHORT-TERM PAYABLES 

28. OWNERS’ EQUITY 
28.1	 Undistributed	profit	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

(1)  The principal of the deposit management contract shall be the sums of money the Company receives 
from the investor in accordance with the regulation of the contract.

28.2   Changes in owners’ equity
Currency: VND

 Share capital Share premium Treasury shares
 Charter capital 
supplementary 

reserve

 Operational 
risk andfinan-

cial reserve

Undistributed 
profit Total

As at 1 January 
2020 2,204,301,690,000 121,224,048,620 (200,847,258,843) 110,445,504,860 81,143,777,857 931,733,595,580 3,248,001,358,074

Profit after tax - - - - - 692,766,880,415 692,766,880,415
Purchases of treasury 
shares - (3,927,091) (526,975,159) - - - (530,902,250)

Appropriation to Charter 
capital supplementary 
reserve at 5% as per 
the Resolution of the 
General Meeting of 
Shareholders (“GMS”)

- - - 25,610,016,141 - (25,610,016,141) -

Appropriation to 
Operational risk and 
financial reserve at 5% 
as per the Resolution of 
the General Meeting of 
Shareholders (“GMS”)

- - - - 25,610,016,141 (25,610,016,141) -

Appropriation of Per-
formance bonus fund 
of 2019 as per the Deci-
sion of the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors

- - - - - (16,732,330,229) (16,732,330,229)

Dividends in cash of 
2019 as per Decision 
of the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors

- - - - - (104,260,448,500) (104,260,448,500)

As at 31 December 
2020 2,204,301,690,000 121,220,121,529 (201,374,234,002) 136,055,521,001 106,753,793,998 1,452,287,664,984 3,819,244,557,510
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

28.3   Statement of income distributed to the shareholders or capital contributors

28.4 Shares 

Currency: VND

Unit: Number of Shares 

For the year ended 31 
December 2020

For the year ended 31 
December 2019

1. Undistributed realized profit at the beginning of 
the year (at 1 January 2020 and 1 January 2019) 1,036,475,765,752 794,851,251,780

2. Unrealized losses at the end of the year (at 31 
December 2020 and 31 December 2019) - (104,742,170,172)

3. Realized profit of the year 513,774,487,463 398,887,119,265

4. Undistributed profit belonging to shareholders or 
capital contributors at the end of year ((4)=(1)+(2)+(3)) 1,550,250,253,215 1,088,996,200,873

5. Appropriation from profit (67,952,362,511) (52,731,932,170)

- Charter capital supplementary reserve (25,610,016,141) (20,093,593,016)

- Operational risk and financial reserve (25,610,016,141) (20,093,593,016)

- Bonus, welfare and charity funds (16,732,330,229) (12,544,746,138)

6. Profit distributed to shareholders or capital 
contributors during the year as per Resolution of 
General Meeting of Shareholders

(104,260,448,500) (104,092,915,000)

7. CIT arrears - (437,758,123)

Maximal profit available for distribution to 
shareholders 1,378,037,442,204 931,733,595,580

Ending balance Beginning balance

Authorized shares 220,430,169 220,430,169

Shares issued and fully paid 220,430,169 220,430,169

- Ordinary shares 220,430,169 220,430,169

Treasury shares (11,909,403) (11,864,808)

Treasury shares held by the Company (11,909,403) (11,864,808)

- Ordinary shares (11,909,403) (11,864,808)

Outstanding shares 208,520,766 208,565,361

- Ordinary shares 208,520,766 208,565,361

Currency: VND 

Ending balance Beginning balance

Unrestricted financial assets 202,414,608,000 416,697,016,000

Mortgage financial assets 139,160,550,000 7,000,000,000

Financial assets awaiting for settlement 91,225,964,000 9,196,582,000

Total 432,801,122,000 432,893,598,000

Ending balance Beginning balance

Unrestricted and non-traded financial assets depos-
ited at VSD 174,310,000 4,350,000

Restricted and non-traded financial assets deposit-
ed at VSD - -

Total 174,310,000 4,350,000

Ending balance Beginning balance

Shares 10,282,980,200 6,354,506,000

Bonds - 450,000,000,000

Total 10,282,980,200 456,354,506,000

Số cuối năm Số đầu năm

Fund certificates 94,457,800,000 101,000,000,000

Shares 91,269,500,000 322,317,230,000

Bonds 599,300,100,000 159,681,100,000

Total 785,027,400,000 582,998,330,000

29. DISCLOSURE ON OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 

29.1  Financial assets listed/registered for trading at Vietnam Securities Deposi-
tory (“VSD”) of the Company  

29.2	 Non-traded	financial	assets	deposited	at	VSD	of	the	Company		

29.3	 Awaiting	financial	assets	of	the	Company	

29.4 Financial assets which have not been deposited at VSD of the Company 

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 



Ending balance Beginning balance

Shares 2,239,432,423,600 277,909,615,800

Ending balance Beginning balance

Deposits for dividends, bond principals and interest 
payments 779,210,000 1,226,280,000

Ending balance Beginning balance

Investors’ deposits for securities trading activities 
managed by the Company 2,926,707,059,592 1,073,908,391,700

- Domestic investors’ deposits for securities trading 
activities managed by the Company 2,767,845,823,887 955,764,662,383

- Foreign investors’ deposits for securities trading 
activities managed by the Company 158,861,235,705 118,143,729,317

Investors’ synthesizing deposits for securities trading 
activities 2,201,299,041,600 378,912,315,900

Total 5,128,006,101,192 1,452,820,707,600 

29.5		 Awaiting	financial	assets	of	investors	

29.7  Deposits of securities issuers 

29.6  Investors’ deposits 

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND

Currency: VND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

No Financial assets Quantity Selling price Proceeds
Weighted average 
cost at the end of 

transaction date

Gain from  
disposal in the  

current year

Gain from disposal 
in the previous year

Unit VND/unit VND VND VND VND

I GAIN

1 Listed shares and 
fund certificates 36,048,547 28,733 1,035,780,083,633 975,649,743,823 60,130,339,810 54,778,324,453

2 Unlisted shares 31,439,901 11,627 365,564,214,309 282,396,967,080 83,167,247,229 8,382,302,090
3 Listed bonds 82,640,000 107,573 8,889,872,220,000 8,835,854,260,000 54,017,960,000 25,691,436,000

4 Unlisted bonds and 
other securities 94,797,423 971,111 92,058,858,346,327 91,729,402,574,267 329,455,772,060 134,288,510,512

5 Futures contracts 46,794,459,239 24,073,596,000
6 Listed issued warrant 27,906,670 2,296 64,060,805,505 80,886,148,271 16,825,342,766 3,772,045,653

Total 272,832,541 102,414,135,669,774 101,904,189,693,441 590,391,121,104 250,986,214,708

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

30. GAIN/(LOSS) FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS 

30.1	 Gain	from	disposal	of	financial	assets	at	FVTPL	
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No Financial assets Quantity Selling price Proceeds
Weighted average 
cost at the end of 

transaction date

Loss from  
disposal in the 

current year

Loss from disposal 
in the previous year 

Unit VND/unit VND VND VND VND

I LOSS 

1 Listed shares and 
fund certificates 23,444,695 34,704 813,632,520,890 931,117,598,158 117,485,077,268 29,097,221,445

2 Unlisted shares 1,957,710 13,108 25,662,171,300 48,259,534,762 22,597,363,462 5,958,219,664
3 Listed bonds  33,750,000 108,024 3,645,815,610,000 3,653,464,570,000 7,648,960,000 8,215,520,000

4 Unlisted bonds and 
securities 35,483,057 270,939 9,613,742,472,014 9,766,288,263,441 152,545,791,427 41,899,863,962

5 Futures contracts 36,739,353,000 6,037,944,000
6 Listed issued warrants 26,428,530 5,901 155,962,308,401 136,116,407,249 19,845,901,152 5,790,107,928

Total 121,063,992 14,254,815,082,605 14,535,246,373,610 356,862,446,309 96,998,876,999

No. Financialassets Cost Fair value Revaluation differ-
ence at the end of 

the year

Revaluation 
difference at the 

beginning  
of the year

Net difference 
adjusted in the 

accounting 
document

Gain recorded Loss recorded

I FVTPL 1,108,061,981,608 1,053,698,209,421 (54,363,772,187) (262,902,047,245) 208,538,275,058 127,644,144,097 (80,894,130,961)

1
Listed shares 
and other 
securities

764,704,882,550 724,707,363,240 (39,997,519,310) (156,480,854,661) 116,483,335,351 96,477,961,268 (20,005,374,083)

2

Unlisted 
shares and 
other 
securities  

343,357,099,058 328,990,846,181 (14,366,252,877) (106,421,192,584) 92,054,939,707 31,166,182,829 (60,888,756,878)

Total 1,108,061,981,608 1,053,698,209,421 (54,363,772,187) (262,902,047,245) 208,538,275,058 127,644,144,097 (80,894,130,961)

30.1	 Gain	from	disposal	of	financial	assets	at	FVTPL	(continued) 30.2	 Gain/(loss)	from	revaluation	of	financial	assets	at	FVTPL
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Current year Previous year

From financial assets at FVTPL 61,600,930,163 26,812,728,962
From HTM financial assets 381,018,448,651 396,374,282,365
From loans and receivables 361,359,361,848 407,908,597,611
From AFS financial assets 54,996,572,396 19,771,944,431
Total 858,975,313,058 850,867,553,369

Current year Previous year

Provision expense for impairment of loans   19,851,044,505 29,687,545,696
Provision expense for impairment of AFS financial 
assets (1,774,314,137) 1,641,491,357

Provision expense for doubtful receivables 419,282,000 2,732,265,878
Total 18,496,012,368 34,061,302,931

Current year Previous year

Revenue from assets management 534,322,679 1,505,555,556
Revenue from investment portfolio management 1,518,749,991 -
Revenue from open fund management 1,773,346,478 1,303,462,537
Revenue from life insurance trading activities 500,788,845 -
Revenue from other financial services 5,176,471,510 2,512,209,856
Total 9,503,679,503 5,321,227,949

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

STT      Issued  
covered  
warrants

Cost Market value Revaluation 
difference at the 

end of the year

Revaluation 
difference at the 

beginning 
of the year

Net difference 
adjusted in the 

accounting 
book

Gain recorded Loss recorded

I Types of    
warrants

1 CFPT2010 2,041,309,170 2,591,733,100 550,423,930 - 550,423,930 (550,423,930) -
2 CHPG2020 12,975,051,000 18,761,730,000 5,786,679,000 - 5,786,679,000 (5,786,679,000) -
3 CMBB2008 3,514,930,860 3,965,390,200 450,459,340 - 450,459,340 (450,459,340) -
4 CMSN2010 1,055,217,080 1,171,173,500 115,956,420 - 115,956,420 (115,956,420) -
5 CMWG2013 558,092,800 594,342,400 36,249,600 - 36,249,600 (36,249,600) -
6 CSTB2011 5,233,588,504 5,391,416,344 157,827,840 - 157,827,840 (157,827,840) -
7 CTCB2009 8,658,351,150 15,099,414,900 6,441,063,750 - 6,441,063,750 (6,441,063,750) -
8 CVNM2012 5,497,945,020 5,699,943,000 201,997,980 - 201,997,980 (201,997,980) -
9 CVPB2010 715,424,200 746,460,400 31,036,200 - 31,036,200 (31,036,200) -

Total 40,249,909,784 54,021,603,844 13,771,694,060 - 13,771,694,060 (13,771,694,060) -

30.3	 (Losses)/gain	from	revaluation	of	outstanding	covered	warrants	payables		

30.4	 Dividend,	interest	income	from	financial	assets	at	FVTPL,	HTM	invest-
ments,	AFS	financial	assets,	loans	and	receivables	

31. PROVISION EXPENSE FOR DIMINUTION IN VALUE AND IMPAIRMENT 
OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS AND BORROWING 
COSTS OF LOANS 

32. REVENUE FROM OTHER OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 
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Current year Previous year

Expenses for securities brokerage services (payables 
to Stock Exchanges, payroll, employee expenses and 
others) 

194,472,630,819 145,825,332,212

Expenses for securities custodian activities 16,248,541,264 14,251,552,041
Other expenses for operating activities 24,345,941,481 14,152,050,920
Total 235,067,113,564 174,228,935,173

Current year Previous year
Expenses for securities brokerage activities  101,806,843,217 71,630,223,026
Expenses for custodian services 16,248,541,264 14,251,552,041
Expenses for brokerage commissions 89,201,450,082 70,392,532,723
Expenses for external services 13,723,791,306 11,593,041,225
Other expenses 14,086,487,695 6,361,586,158
Total 235,067,113,564 174,228,935,173

Current year Previous year
Interest income from demand deposits 2,535,350,159 4,836,938,048
Interest income from derivatives 16,112,325 15,324,083
Total 2,551,462,484 4,852,262,131

Current year Previous year
Loss from foreign exchange rate differences 2,990,681,598 3,152,293,051
Borrowing costs 368,827,899,540 436,245,477,652
Total 371,818,581,138 439,397,770,703

33. EXPENSES FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES 36. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
Currency: VND Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 

TOTAL EXPENSES FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES BY TYPES 
OF EXPENSES 

34. FINANCE INCOME 

37. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES 

35. FINANCE EXPENSES  

Current year Previous year

Payroll and other employees’ benefits 217,451,173,058 206,950,110,702
Office supplies 462,823,843 641,500,945
Tools 3,898,964,914 4,907,287,704
Depreciation expenses 20,636,946,936 20,716,375,564
Office rental expenses 56,659,380,795 26,602,291,726
Tax fees and charges 418,303,201 209,847,160
External service expenses 56,060,117,903 46,702,531,723
Other expenses 2,426,079,621 2,678,756,405
Total 358,013,790,271 309,408,701,929

Current year Previous year
Other incomes 70,295,442 26,832,041,932
Other expenses (1,449,581,550) (3,248,941,320)
- Penalty on tax obligations (7,997,487) (1,526,395,825)
- Other expenses (1,441,584,063) (1,722,545,495)
Total (1,379,286,108) 23,583,100,612

Currency: VND 
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The tax returns filed by the Company are subject to examination by the tax authorities. As the application of tax 
laws and regulations is susceptible to varying interpretations, the amounts reported in the financial statements 
could change later upon final determination by the tax authorities.

The current tax payable is based on taxable profit for the accounting current year. The taxable profit of the 
Company differs from the profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income 
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or 
deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted by the 
reporting date. The Company is required to fulfil its corporate income tax obligation with the current tax rate of 
20% on the total taxable profit according to Circular No. 78/2014/TT-BTC dated 02 August 2014.

The estimated current corporate income tax is represented in the table below:

Current year Previous year

Profit before tax 862,064,826,327 478,977,374,524

Adjustments to accounting profit (81,448,233,296) 25,470,873,337 

Increases: 37,551,934,812 53,428,829,134 

• Increase in revaluation of outstanding covered 
warrants payables 17,018,610,820 -   

• Provision per tax regulation for investment in secu-
rities in the year - 18,629,815,533

• Provision for impairment of loans 20,270,326,505 33,122,617,776 

• Non-deductible expenses 262,997,487 1,676,395,825 

Decreases (119,000,168,108) (27,957,955,797)

• Income from tax exempted activities – dividends (33,887,496,659) (26,812,728,962)

• Income from bonus shares (3,324,360,000) (4,791,750,000)

• Provision per tax regulation for investment in secu-
rities in the year (72,716,852,201) -   

• Decrease in revaluation of outstanding covered 
warrant payables -   (702,806,201)

• Reversal of provision for impairment of loans - (3,246,916,760)

• Non-taxable consolidated adjustments (9,071,459,248) 7,596,246,126 

Estimated current taxable income 780,616,593,031 504,448,247,861 

Taxable income of VNDIRECT 783,623,842,374 504,638,662,236

Taxable loss of subsidiary - IPAAM (2,803,601,760) (255,119,019)

Taxable (loss)/income of subsidiary - IVND (203,647,583) 64,704,644

Corporate income tax rate 20% 20%

Estimated current CIT payables 156,724,768,475 100,940,673,376 

Estimated current CIT payable of VNDIRECT 156,724,768,475 100,927,732,447

Estimated current CIT payable of IVND - 12,940,929

CIT payable at the beginning of the year 41,524,197,984 19,433,696,195 

Tax arrears in the year 138,858,641 437,758,123 

CIT paid in the year (138,835,667,283) (79,287,929,710)

CIT payable at the end of the year 59,552,157,817 41,524,197,984 

38.      CORPORATE INCOME TAX 

38.1	 Corporate	income	tax	(“CIT”)
Currency: VND 
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Current year Previous year

Deferred income tax assets

Opening balance 19,788,798,902 15,301,984,520

Deferred CIT arising from the increase in revaluation of 
financial assets at FVTPL (1,294,670,500) 4,486,814,382

Ending balance 18,494,128,402 19,788,798,902

Deferred income tax liabilities

Opening balance 1,875,430,419 4,952,004,173

Deferred CIT arising from the increase in revaluation of 
financial assets at FVTPL 14,543,370,460 (3,725,957,105)

Deferred CIT arising from the decrease in revaluation of 
the outstanding covered warrants payables (3,403,722,164) 649,383,351

Ending balance 13,015,078,715 1,875,430,419

Current year Previous year

Deferred CIT due to difference arising from the increase 
in revaluation of financial assets at FVTPL 15,838,040,960 (4,761,322,135)

Deferred CIT due to difference arising from the 
revaluation of outstanding covered warrants (3,403,722,164) 649,383,351

Deferred tax expense/ (income) 12,434,318,796 (4,111,938,784)

38.2 Deferred corporate income tax 

40.1	 Transactions	with	related	parties	

Movement of deferred CIT during the year is as follows: 

The Company recognized the deferred income tax expense in the consolidated income statement for the year 
ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 as follows:

Earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of the company by the weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares issue during the year. After tax 
profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company for the year end 31 December 2020 is calculated as 
the after-tax profit after deduction for setting up non-shareholders‘ reserves according to the actual appropri-
ation ratio of 2019. For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements, other comprehensive 
income have not yet been included in the net profit after tax to calculate the earnings per share indicator since 
there is no detailed guidance.

Parties are considered to be related parties of the Group if one party has the ability to control the other party 
or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions, or when the 
Group and other party are under common control or under common significant influence. Related parties can 
be enterprises or individuals, including close members of their families.

List of related parties and relationships with the Company is as follows:

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND 

39. EARNINGS PER SHARE

40. OTHER INFORMATION 

Current year Previous year

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (VND) 692,766,880,415 382,148,639,932

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for calcu-
lation of earnings per share 208,534,492 208,565,361

Earnings per share (VND) 3,322 1,832

List of related parties Relationship 
Members of Board of Directors, Board of  
Management, Board of Supervisors Members having significant influence

Vietnam National Apiculture Joint Stock Company Chief Financial Officer of the Company is also the 
Chairman of related party

I.P.A Investments Group JSC Member of the Board of Directors of the Company is 
also the Chairman of related party

I.P.A Finance Company Limited
Member of the Board of Directors of the Company is 
also the Chairman of the related party, major  
shareholder

Bac Ha Energy Joint Stock Company Member of the Board of Directors of the Company is 
also the Chairman of related party

Asia Pearl Joint Stock Company Member of the Board of Directors of the Company is 
also the Chairman of related party

ANVIE Real Estate Company Limited
Member of the Board of Directors of the Company is 
also the Chairman of the Member Board of the related 
party

HOMEFOOD Food Joint Stock Company Member of the Board of Directors of the Company is 
also the Chairman of related party

Ms. Pham Minh Huong Chairman of the Board cum General Director of the 
Company

Mr. Vu Hien Member of the Board of Directors of the Company

Currency: VND

(Currency: VND)
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 Significant balances and transactions with related parties as at 31 December 2020 and for the year then ended are as follows:

Related parties Transactions Ending balance Beginning balance Revenue/(expense)

I.P.A Financial Company Limited Capital contribution 561,883,540,000 561,883,540,000 - 
Fee income - - 26,258,933 

Interest expense for deposit - -  (1,273,935)
Dividend - - 28,094,177,000 

Securities trading account 135,311,552 42,861,053 - 
I.P.A Investments Group Joint Stock 
Company

Office rental expense -  -  (5,162,651,976) 

Securities trading account 1,466,195,705 1,059,847,794 -
Rental deposits 3,928,899,390 - -

Interest expense for deposit - -  (270,961,611)
Other fee incomes - - 14,462,597 

Post and Telecommunication Joint 
Stock Insurance Corporation

Share investment (par value) - 132,160,550,000 - 
Dividends - - - 

Fee income - -  (455,352,587)
Payable for securities transactions -  (321,159,752) - 

Interest expense for deposit - - (6,615,455)
Securities trading account 172,919,119 251,212,729  - 

Bac Ha Energy Joint Stock Com-
pany

Interest expense for deposit - -  (441,124,158)

Receivables from securities interests - 78,369,367 -

Securities trading account 7,610,091,909 457,225 -
Asia Pearl Joint Stock Company Interest expense for deposit - -  (29,280,272)  

Securities trading account 2,470,937 2,190,665  -

Related parties Transactions Ending balance Beginning balance Revenue/
(expense)

ANVIE Real Estate Company 
Limited

Interest expense for deposit - -  (216,376) 
Fee income - - 108,663 

Securities trading account 89,638,964 17,966,251 - 
Office rental/management fee - -  (884,400,000)

HOMEFOOD Food Joint Stock 
Company

Interest expense for deposit - -  (784)

Securities trading account 527,394 525,816 - 
Operation expenses - -  (7,998,210,000)

Printing Mechanical Joint Stock 
Company

Securities trading account 2,820,254 2,411,052,228 - 
Interest expense for deposit - -  (76,560,196)

Office rental/management fee - -  (360,000,000) 

40.1	 Transactions	with	related	parties	(continued) 40.1	 Transactions	with	related	parties	(continued)

Currency: VND Currency: VND Significant balances and transactions with related parties as at 31 December 2020 and for the year then ended are as follows:
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Related parties Transactions Ending balance Beginning balance Revenue/
(Expenses)

Ms. Pham Minh Huong Share ownership (par value) 64,144,590,000 64,144,590,000 - 
Securities trading account 358,486,328 22,111,211 - 

Remuneration of the Board of Directors - -  (84,000,000) 
Dividend - - 3,046,868,025 

Fee income - - 21,835,858 
Mr. Vu Hien Stock ownership (par value) 1,800,000 1,800,000 - 

Securities trading accounts 4,057,825,519 3,017,023,829 - 
Remuneration of the Board of Directors - -  (84,000,000) 

Deposit interest - -  (168,397,702)
Dividend - - 85,500 

Fee income - - 6,208,907 

40.1	 Transactions	with	related	parties	(continued)

40.2      Segment information 

Transactions	with	other	related	parties

SEGMENT INFORMATION BY BUSINESS LINES 

Total remuneration of members of Board of Directors and the Management  

Current year Previous year

Salary, remuneration, bonuses and ther benefits 9,656,792,489 6,442,937,376

Brokerage and 
customer services Proprietary trading Treasury Others Total

Financial year ended 31 December 2020

1. Net income from securities trading 
activities 551,261,480,746 831,385,850,999 754,432,952,486 70,295,443 2,137,150,579,674 

2. Direct expenses 210,721,172,083 289,858,456,089 390,314,593,506 26,177,741,398 917,071,963,076 
Allocated operating profit before taxes 340,540,308,663 541,527,394,910 364,118,358,980 (26,107,445,955) 1,220,078,616,598 

3. Depreciation and allocated 
expenses 7,014,723,081 3,531,166,444 335,376,802 347,132,523,944 358,013,790,271 

Profit before tax 333,525,585,582 537,996,228,466 363,782,982,178 (373,239,969,899) 862,064,826,327 
As at 31 December 2020

1. Allocated assets -   4,083,344,287,270 10,644,658,751,777 -   14,728,003,039,047 
2. Unallocated assets -   -   -   248,081,273,054 248,081,273,054 

Total assets -   4,083,344,287,270 10,644,658,751,777 248,081,273,054 14,976,084,312,101 

3. Segment liabilities -   413,365,510,220 10,743,474,244,371 -   11,156,839,754,591 
Total liabilities -   413,365,510,220 10,743,474,244,371 -   11,156,839,754,591 

Currency: VND

Currency: VND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

      Currency: VND
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SEGMENT INFORMATION BY BUSINESS LINES (CONTINUED)

MARKET RISK 

Brokerage and 
customer services Proprietary trading Treasury Others Total

Financial year ended 31 December 2019

1. Net income from securities trading 
activities 397,240,396,556 299,445,266,096 814,456,370,056 26,832,041,932 1,537,974,074,640 

2. Direct expenses 160,076,884,253 98,651,048,060 473,459,073,634 17,400,992,240 749,587,998,187 
Allocated operating profit before taxes 237,163,512,303 200,794,218,036 340,997,296,422 9,431,049,692 788,386,076,453 

3. Depreciation and unallocated 
expenses 121,745,058,799 28,551,404,674 3,818,758,577 155,293,479,879 309,408,701,929 

Profit before tax 115,418,453,504 172,242,813,362 337,178,537,845 (145,862,430,187) 478,977,374,524 
As at 31 December 2019

1. Allocated assets -   1,979,660,655,727 9,441,879,817,668 -   11,421,540,473,395 
2. Unallocated assets -   -   -   260,191,379,526 260,191,379,526 

Total assets -   1,979,660,655,727 9,441,879,817,668 260,191,379,526 11,681,731,852,921 

3. Segment liabilities - 513,386,234,368 7,920,344,260,479 - 8,433,730,494,847 
Total liabilities - 513,386,234,368 7,920,344,260,479 - 8,433,730,494,847 

Currency: VND

Currency: VND 

Ending balance Beginning balance

1 year or less 344,771,350 344,771,350

More than 1 - 5 years 77,714,589,030 92,312,007,165

Total 78,059,360,380 92,656,778,515

The Company leases office under operating lease arrangements. As at 31 December 2020, the committed 
future rental payments under the operating lease agreements are as follows: 

The Company signed margin lending contracts with investors to facilitate their securities trading activities.

The Company’s commitments to provide funds under margin lending contracts outstanding as at 31 Decem-
ber 2020 and 31 December 2019 were VND 5,000 billion and VND 1,233 billion, respectively.

The Company’s financial liabilities comprise mostly liabilities and borrowings, payables to suppliers and other 
payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s operations. The Company 
has loans, trade and other receivables, cash and short-term deposits that arise directly from its operations. The 
Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments.

The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Company. The Company has a system of controls 
in place to maintain an acceptable balance between the cost arisen from risks and the cost of managing the 
risks. Management continually monitors the Company’s risk management process to ensure that an appropri-
ate balance between risk and control is achieved. 

Management reviews and agrees policies for monitoring each of these risks which are summarized below.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. There are four types of market risk: interest rate risk, currency risk, commodity price 
risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans 
and borrowings, deposits, financial assets at FVTPL, covered warrants and available-for-sale investments. 

The Company manages market risk by analysing financial sensitivity of the Company as at 31 December 2020 
and 31 December 2019. When analysing sensitivity, Management assumes that sensitivity of Available-for-
sale debt instruments in the statement of financial position and other related items in the income statement is 
affected by changes in corresponding market risk. The analysis is based on financial assets and liabilities held 
by the Company as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

40.3 Operating lease commitments 

40.4 Commitments relating to margin lending service 

40.5	 Purposes	and	policies	of	financial	risk	management	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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40.2      Segment information 
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to market risk due to changes in interest rate 
relates primarily to cash and short-term deposits of the Company. Financial liabilities have fixed interest rate. 

The Company manages interest rate risk by looking at the competitive structure of the market to identify a 
proper interest rate policy which is favourable for purposes of the Company within its risk management limits.

No analysis on interest sensitivity is performed since the Company’s exposure to risk of changes in interest 
rate is insignificant.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign 
exchange rates relates primarily to the Company’s operating activities (in which revenue or expense is de-
nominated in a different currency from the Company’s accounting currency) and its investments in overseas 
subsidiaries.

The Company manages foreign exchange risk by hedging against transactions that are expected to take place 
in the future.

Equity price risk

Listed and unlisted securities which are held by the Company are affected by market risk arising from the un-
certainty of future value of invested securities. The Company manages equity price risk by establishing invest-
ment limits. The Company’s Investment Council considers and approves investments in securities.

As at the reporting date, the fair value of listed shares (FVTPL) was VND 724,707,263,240. The 10% increase 
(or decrease) in market index would possibly result in a corresponding increase (or decrease) in revenue from 
investment of the Company, depending on its magnitude and length as well as the Company’s ownership po-
sition of securities which have significant influence on market index.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty would not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primar-
ily for loans and receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks, foreign exchanges 
activities and other financial instruments.

Receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by the Company based on its established policies, procedures and control 
relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of customers is evaluated based on Management’s 
assessment.

Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. Customer credit quality’s impairment is analysed 
at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients. The Company closely monitors outstanding 
receivables and operates a credit control unit to mitigate credit risk. Since the Company’s receivables relate to 
a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

Bank deposits

The Company’s bank balances are mainly maintained with high credit rating banks in Vietnam. Credit risk from 
balances with banks is managed by the Company’s Capital and Financial Business Division in accordance with 
the Company’s policy. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement 
of financial position at each reporting date is the carrying value as presented in Note 5, Note 7.3 and Note 11. 
The Company evaluates the concentration of credit risk with respect to bank deposits as low.

Margin lending and advances to customers

The Company manages its credit risks via the use of internal control policies, processes and procedures 
relevant to margin lending and advance payments to customers. The Company only provides margin  
lending with securities eligible to perform margin trading under the Regulation on Margin Lending and is rated in 
accordance with VNDIRECT’s principle of share quality assessment. The credit limits are measured based on 
value of collateral assets, customer’s credit rating and other indicators.

 

The following loans are considered as overdue as at 31 December 2020 (excluding contracts that was  
extended or liquidated before the signing date of this report). Except for financial assets which are reserved for 
impairment as stated in Notes 8 and 9, according to the Management’s assessment, the remaining financial 
assets are neither overdue nor impaired as they are all liquid.
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BÁO CÁO TÀI CHÍNH HỢP NHẤT ĐÃ ĐƯỢC KIỂM TOÁNNOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED

Total Balance 
provisioned 

Neither past due 
nor impaired

Past due but not impaired

< 90 days 91–180 days 181-210 days >210 days

Balance as at 31 
December 2019 2,877,392,098,158 28,501,184,788 2,703,985,326,516 77,753,738,879 43,686,050,859 244,553,234 23,221,243,882

Balance as at 31 
December 2020 4,705,953,781,456 29,032,355,158 4,631,317,312,249 25,878,486,909 816,481,370 230,968,468 18,678,177,302

CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting financial obligations. The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises when the Company 
is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due, primarily due to mismatches in the maturity terms of financial assets and liabilities. The maturity terms of 
financial assets and liabilities reflect the remaining period of financial assets and liabilities from the reporting date to the date of settlement set out in the contracts or 
terms of issuance. For FVTPL and AFS financial assets, the maturity terms are determined based on the liquidity of the assets (the ability to sell and purchase the 
assets in short term) on the market.

The Company monitors its liquidity risk by maintaining a level of cash and cash equivalents, borrowings deemed adequate by the Management to finance the Com-
pany’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. 

The below table summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s assets and liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments: 

Overdue On demand Less than 1 year 1 – 5 years Over 5 years Total

31 December 2020
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents - 898,026,887,674 75,500,000,000 - - 973,526,887,674

Financial assets 45,604,114,049 4,419,019,958,322 7,524,665,585,863 1,530,000,000,000 12,991,011,200 13,532,280,669,434
FVTPL financial assets - 1,053,698,209,421 - - - 1,053,698,209,421
HTM investments - - 3,266,200,000,000 1,530,000,000,000 - 4,796,200,000,000
Loans (excluding provisions) 45,604,114,049 401,884,081,544 4,258,465,585,863 - - 4,705,953,781,456
Available-for-sale financial assets - 2,963,437,667,357 - - - 2,963,437,667,357
Long-term investments - - - - 12,991,011,200 12,991,011,200
Other assets 5,022,496,429 259,768,359,453 - 51,536,323,188 - 316,327,179,070
Deposits collaterals and pledges - 3,356,646,001 - - - 3,356,646,001
Other receivables (excluding provisions) 5,022,496,429 116,298,503,972 - - - 121,321,000,401
Other assets - 140,113,209,480 - - - 140,113,209,480
Fixed assets (including construction in progress) - - - 51,536,323,188 - 51,536,323,188
Total 50,626,610,478 5,576,815,205,449 7,600,165,585,863 1,581,536,323,188 12,991,011,200 14,822,134,736,178
LIABILITIES
Short-term borrowings - - 9,458,280,000,000 - - 9,458,280,000,000
Bond issued - - 600,000,000,000 103,641,000,000 - 703,641,000,000
Payables for securities trading activities - 413,365,510,220 - - - 413,365,510,220
Accrued expenses - - 46,410,143,983 - - 46,410,143,983
Statutory obligation - 94,316,827,771 - - - 94,316,827,771
Other liabilities - 416,427,649,227 - - - 416,427,649,227
Total - 924,109,987,218 10,104,690,143,983 103,641,000,000 - 11,132,441,131,201
Net liquidity difference 50,626,610,478 4,652,705,218,231 (2,504,524,558,120) 1,477,895,323,188 12,991,011,200 3,689,693,604,977

Currency: VND 

Currency: VND

40.5	 Purposes	and	policies	of	financial	risk	management	
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Extracted from Off-Consolidated Balance sheet as at 31 December 2019:

LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)
The Company assessed the concentration of risk with respect to its debt payments as low. The Company is 
able to access to different sources of funds and all the borrowings which are due within 12 months can be 
renewed with the current lenders.

Collaterals 

The Company used a part of its term deposits and certificates of deposits as collaterals for short-term borrowings 
from commercial banks. As at 31 December 2020, the total carrying value of term deposits and certificates of 
deposits used as collaterals for short-term borrowings of the Company were VND 5,740 billion.

Among listed shares of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, available-for-sale financial assets 
and investment in associates as at 31 December 2020, there were no shares used as collaterals for short-term 
borrowings of the Company.

Among unlisted bonds and other securities classified as financial assets as at 31 December 2020, there were 
VND 500 billion used as collaterals for short-term borrowings of the Company.

The Company held securities as pledged property for margin loans to customers as at 31 December 2020.

Other than that, the Company did not hold any other party’s collaterals at 31 December 2020 and 31 
December 2019.

For the purpose of correcting past year accounting errors, the Company has restated some figures as at 31 
December 2019 and for the year then ended as follows :

Extracted from Consolidated Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019:

41.  COMPARATIVE FIGURES

B.    ASSETS AND PAYABLES UNDER AGREEMENT WITH INVESTORS

Code Items
Ending balance 

Previously 
stated

Adjustment
Beginning 

balance 
Restated

 
111.1 Cash 611,548,205,346 105,207,430,358 716,755,635,704
112 Financial assets at fair value 

through profit and loss (FVTPL)
1,494,861,717,504 (269,032,282,585) 1,225,829,434,919

116 Provision for impairment of financial 
assets and mortgaged assets

(322,764,302,831) 269,032,282,585 (53,732,020,246)

117.4 Accruals for undue dividend and 
interest income

183,712,419,522 (573,602,055) 183,138,817,467

122 Other receivables 10,035,246,347 (50,539,728) 9,984,706,619
133 Short-term prepaid expenses 12,048,535,591 (11,023,125,201) 1,025,410,390
136 Tax and other receivables from the 

State
- 114,236,335 114,236,335

240 Construction in progress 500,000,000 2,352,943,020 2,852,943,020
252 Long-term prepaid expenses 10,526,417,793 8,670,182,181 19,196,599,974
329 Other short-term payables 1,334,572,791 105,207,430,358 106,542,003,149
417 Undistributed profit 932,243,501,028 (509,905,448) 931,733,595,580

Code Items
Ending balance 

Previously 
restated

Adjustment
Beginning 

balance 
Restated

026 Investors’ deposits 1,559,519,771,197 (105,207,430,358) 1,454,312,340,839
027 Investors’ deposits for securities 

trading activities managed by the 
Company 

1,179,115,822,058 (105,207,430,358) 1,073,908,391,700

031 Payables to investors - investors’ 
deposits for securities trading ac-
tivities managed by the Company

1,557,976,371,670
(105,207,430,358) 1,452,768,941,312

Currency: VND

Currency: VND
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Code Items
Current year

Previously 
restated

Adjustment
Previous year

Restated

02 Gain from held-to-maturity (HTM) 
investments

391,388,941,607 4,985,340,758 396,374,282,365

04 Gain from available-for-sale (AFS) 
financial assets 20,345,546,486 (573,602,055) 19,771,944,431

10 Revenue from financial consulting - 882,325,938 882,325,938
11 Revenue from other activities 6,203,553,887 (882,325,938) 5,321,227,949
27 Expenses for brokerage services 154,992,042,374 (9,166,710,162) 145,825,332,212
32 Other service fees - 14,152,050,920 14,152,050,920
100.1 Current CIT expense 101,004,369,983 (63,696,607) 100,940,673,376

Code Items

Current year
Previously 

restated Adjustment
Previous year

Restated

01 Profit before tax 479,550,976,579 (573,602,055) 478,977,374,524
36 Decrease/(increase) in receivables 

and accruals for undue dividend 
and interest income

(104,964,731,530) 573,602,055 (104,391,129,475)

50 Other increase/(decrease) in 
payables 9,010,225,326 105,207,430,358 114,217,655,684

103.1 Cash 611,548,205,346 105,207,430,358 716,755,635,704

Extracted from Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2019:

Extracted from Consolidated Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2019:

 CASH FLOWS FROM BROKERAGE AND TRUST ACTIVITIES OF CUSTOMERS

Code Items

Current year
Previously 

restated Adjustment
Previous year

Restated

07 Cash receipts for settlement of 
securities transactions of 
customers 

(433,950,799,878)
(105,207,430,358) (539,158,230,236)

42 Investors’ deposits managed 
by the Company for securities 
trading activities 

1,178,798,702,531
(105,207,430,358) 1,073,591,272,173

42. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

Ms. Nguyen Khanh Ly
Preparer

Mr. Nguyen Hoang Luong
Chief Accountant 

Ms. 
Chairwoman

Hanoi, Vietnam

5 March 2021

 Currency: VND 

 Currency: VND 

 Currency: VND 

There is no matter or circumstance that has arisen since the reporting date that requires adjustment or disclo-
sure in the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
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